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We use the terms Crawford the Company the Registrant we us and our to refer to the

business of Crawford Company and its subsidiaries

Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains and incorporates by reference forward-looking statements within the meaning of that

term in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Section 27A of the Securities Exchange Act of

1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Statements contained in this report that are not

statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions

thereof These statements also relate to our business strategy goals and expectations concerning our market

position future operations margins case volumes profitability contingencies and capital resources The

words anticipate believe could would should estimate expect intend may plan

goal strategy predict project will and similar terms and phrases identify forward-looking

statements in this report and in the documents incorporated by reference in this report These risks and

uncertainties include but are not limited to those described in Part Item 1A Risk Factors and elsewhere

in this report and those described from time to time in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission

Although we believe the assumptions upon which these forward-looking statements are based are

reasonable any of these assumptions could prove to be inaccurate and the forward-looking statements based

on these assumptions could be incorrect Our operations and the forward-looking statements related to our

operations involve risks and uncertainties many of which are outside our control and any one of which or

combination of which could materially affect our results of operations and whether the forward-looking

statements ultimately prove to be correct You should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking

statements Actual results and trends in the future may differ materially from those suggested or implied by

the forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made and we

undertake no obligation to publicly update any of these forward-looking statements in light of new information

or future events



PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Headquartered in Atlanta Georgia Crawford Company founded in 1941 is the worlds largest based

on annual revenues independent provider of claims management solutions to insurance companies and self-

insured entities with global network of more than 700 locations in 63 countries The Crawford System of

Claims Solutionsm offers comprehensive integrated claims services business process outsourcing and consult

ing services for major product lines including property and casualty claims management warranty inspection

workers compensation claims and medical management and legal settlement administration including class

action and bankruptcy administration as well as risk management information services

DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES

The Registrant has four operating segments U.S Property Casualty which serves the U.S property

and casualty insurance company and product warranty and inspection markets International Operations which

serves the property and casualty insurance company markets outside of the U.S Broadspire which serves the

U.S self-insurance marketplace and Legal Settlement Administration which serves the securities bankruptcy

and other legal settlements market

Revenues and expenses from the Companys subsidiaries outside of the U.S Canada and the Caribbean

are reported and consolidated on two-month delayed basis in accordance with the provisions of Accounting

Standards Codification 810 Consolidation in order to provide sufficient time for accumulation of their

results and accordingly the Registrants December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 consolidated financial statements

include the financial position of such subsidiaries as of October 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively and

the results of those subsidiaries operations and cash flows for the 12-month periods ended October 31 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively

In the normal course of the Registrants business it sometimes incurs certain out-of-pocket expenses that

are reimbursed by its clients Under U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP these

out-of-pocket expenses and associated reimbursements are required to be included when reporting revenues

and expenses in the Registrants consolidated statements of income However because the amounts of

reimbursed expenses and related revenues offset each other in the accompanying consolidated statements of

income with no impact to net income management does not necessarily believe it is informative or beneficial

to include these amounts in revenues or expenses respectively In addition unless otherwise indicated revenue

amounts for each of our operating segments described herein exclude reimbursements for out-of-pocket

expenses and expense amounts exclude reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses income taxes net corporate interest

expense amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets stock option expense certain other gains and

expenses and unallocated corporate and shared costs

The percentages of the Registrants total revenues before reimbursements derived from each operating

segment is shown in the following schedule

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

U.S Property Casualty 21.3% 20.7% 19.8%

International Operations 40.4% 42.4% 38.6%

Broadspire 29.8% 29.8% 33.0%

Legal Settlement Administration 8.5% 7.1% 8.6%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

U.S PROPERTY CASUALTY The Registrants U.S Property Casualty segment provides claims

management services in the U.S mainly to insurance companies which customarily manage their own claims

administration function but often rely upon third party service providers for the various services which the



Registrant provides primarily with respect to the field investigation and evaluation of property and casualty

insurance claims

Since its inception quality has been cornerstone of the Company and the Registrants current quality

program is integral to its operations The Registrant approaches each claim with significant importance and

strives to differentiate itself by focusing on service quality and quick and fair claims resolution on all claims

To achieve its quality goals the Registrant has

invested substantial resources in its Crawford Educational Services CES continuing education

program developing new courses and expanding its team of experienced highly-qualified instructors

Field employees attend CES training and continuing education is mandatory for all Company claims

professionals

invested significantly and on an on-going basis in information technology I.T systems that allow

tracking of quality down to the case level in real time The Registrants proprietary claims management

system utilized by the U.S Property Casualty segment is branded as CMS2 and

designed business processes to maximize the return from I.T investments These processes allow for

information tracking and the resulting data is reported to unit that monitors results and quickly

provides corrective action if necessary

U.S Property Casualty services are provided through four major service lines Claims Field Operations

Catastrophe Services Technical Services and Contractor Connection

Claims Field Operations

Claims Field Operations is the largest service line of our U.S Property Casualty segment Services

provided by Claims Field Operations include property claims management casualty claims management

vehicle services and strategic warranty services

Property Claims Management Services Property claims management services are designed to service

all types of losses Upon assignment the Registrant assembles team of claims professionals consultants and

project management specialists as needed to evaluate and if appropriate settle claim and prevent further

loss The Registrant maintains an extensive network of property and general adjusters in order to service

assignments efficiently regardless of location No matter which service is contracted the Registrant has

designed its strict service standards to deliver quality service on every assignment Property claims

management services include

Appraisal Plus designed to cost efficiently streamline the handling of small routine losses which

includes

an appraisal

coverage application

verification of insured values

salvage and subrogation and

recommended adjustment in an easy-to-read report

Full Adjustment full adjustment services include those items described above as well as narrative

report statement of loss proof of loss and disposition of claim as needed

Casualty Claims Management Services The Registrant has designed its casualty claims management

services to resolve claims quickly regardless of the adjusting services required The Registrant provides

comprehensive menu of services ranging from task assignment to investigation and claims resolution Casualty

claims management services include

Claims Alert the Registrants 24-hour toll-free claims intake center



continuous adjudication of any claim from the initial investigation through settlement

prompt on-scene accident investigation available 24-hours day days week

expert testimony and deposition support

medical and vocational consulting for litigation support

provider/hospital bill auditing

subrogation and recovery services and

transportation services

Vehicle Services Our vehicle services are comprehensive suite of services which can accommodate

appraisal needs ranging from private automobiles to tanker trucks or other specialty equipment These services

include

vehicle damage appraisal

heavy equipment appraisal and

vehicle condition inspection

Strategic Warranty Services The Registrants Strategic Warranty Services division provides services to

manufacturers seeking to outsource all or portion of their warranty administration and inspection work On

January 2008 the Registrant transferred this division to its U.S Property Casualty segment from the

Legal Settlement Administration segment While still performing inspections for number of building product

class action settlements the divisions product offerings have been expanded to include warranty services for

manufacturers of other products including composite decking doors windows vinyl siding and trim

Inspections include determination of the extent and compensability of damage incurred primarily related to

product liability class action settlements

Catastrophe Services

catastrophe as defined by the insurance industry is disaster that causes certain dollar amount of

damage generally set at $25 million in insured damage Individual insurance companies may have their own

definitions and may declare catastrophe based on the anticipated loss to their policyholders in the

impacted area Our Catastrophe Services line is an independent adjusting resource for insurance claim

management in
response to natural or man-made disasters We have one of the largest trained and credentialed

field forces in the industry Catastrophe Services utilizes proprietary response mechanism to ensure quick

effective management of each and every event for our clients In most cases of catastrophe an insurance

company may want to set up special claims processing centers establish 24-hour emergency hotlines and send

additional specially trained claims adjusters to the catastrophe scene These catastrophe teams generally

arrive as soon as possible and stay as long as they are needed In the aftermath of any catastrophic event

policyholders and claimants expect fast responsive service Catastrophe Services is uniquely equipped to

handle the increases in volume complexity and the additional stress and strain on the system of carrier

infrastructure

Technical Services

Our Technical Services line is devoted to large complex claims Our team of strategic loss managers and

technical adjusters are experts with specific experience and industry focus required to evaluate and assess

damages under extreme conditions Our technical adjusting staff function as strategic loss managers offering

the security and confidence that every aspect of loss management will be planned organized and executed at

required levels of industry technical and regulatory standards



Contractor Connection

Crawford Contractor Connectionsrn is the largest independently managed contractor network in the

industry with more than 3000 residential and commercial contractors in the U.S and Canada Contractor

Connection offers cost-effective and worry-free solution for the insurance and consumer industries This

innovative service solution for high-frequency low severity claims optimizes the time and work process

needed to resolve property claims while giving the policyholder peace of mind Contractor Connection

supports our broad business process outsourcing strategy by providing outsourced contractor management to

national and regional insurance carriers Contractor Connection is quality focused and performance driven All

network contractors provide workmanship warranty for their work The Contractor Connection five point

Quality Assurance Program uses performance management tools to track timeline efficiency and customer

satisfaction to help deliver consistent high level of customer satisfaction aligned with the insurance carrier

focus on policy holder retention

Insured Risk Categories

The claims administration services offered by the U.S Property Casualty segment are provided to

clients pursuant to variety of different referral assignments which generally are classified by the underlying

insured risk categories or major types of loss used by insurance companies These major risk categories are

Automobile relates to all types of losses involving use of an automobile including bodily injury

physical damage medical payments collision fire theft and comprehensive liability

Property relates to losses caused by physical damage to commercial or residential real property and

certain types of personal property Such losses include those arising from fire windstorm or hail

damage to commercial and residential property burglary robbery or theft of personal property and

damage to property under inland marine coverage

Workers Compensation relates to claims arising under state and federal workers compensation

laws

Public Liability relates to wide range of non-automobile liability claims such as product liability

owners landlords and tenants liabilities and comprehensive general liability

Catastrophe covers all types of natural disasters such as hurricanes earthquakes and floods and

man-made disasters such as oil spills chemical releases and explosions where the Registrant provides

specially trained catastrophe teams to handle claims as well as to manage recovery efforts

BROADSPIRE Broadspire Services Inc Broadspire wholly owned subsidiary of the Registrant

is leading third-party administrator to employers and insurance companies offering comprehensive

integrated platform of workers compensation and liability claims management and medical management

services Through this segment the Registrant serves clients in the self-insured or commercially insured

market by providing them with complete range of claims and risk management services In addition to field

investigation and claims evaluation Broadspire also offers initial loss reporting services loss mitigation

services such as medical bill review medical case management and vocational rehabilitation administration of

trust funds established to pay claims and risk management information services Broadspires services are

provided through three major service lines Claims Management Services Medical Management Services and

Risk Management Information Services

Claims Management Services

Workers Compensation and Liability Claim Management Broadspire offers comprehensive inte

grated approach to workers compensation and liability claims management Its service model applies

standardized streamlined and strategic process designed to shorten claim duration and reduce overall claim

costs while at the same time helping to ensure that covered employees receive any medical or related care

they need to enable healthy and prompt return to work By combining web-based advanced software with



strategic plans of action Broadspire can quickly identify and counteract issues that may otherwise delay claim

closure Claims management includes

coordination of national account claim handling activities to help promote consistent performance

fair prompt and courteous service through adherence to published service standards

preparation of detailed plans to control the disposition of claims

maximization of claim recoveries from subrogation salvage and second-injury funds and

consultation with clients at defined points in the decision-making process

In August 2009 Broadspire completed the first phase of the implementation of RiskTech proprietary

claims-management system embedded with client instructions jurisdictional rules and regulations and

Broadspires service standards RiskTech is rules-based system designed specifically to control claims quality

and consistency Additional phases of RiskTech are planned for implementation in 2010 and 2011 Broadspire

also provides eTriage proprietary web-based application that addresses core problems such as inconsis

tency in claim practices and failure to identify complex files early in the life of claim By using multi-

tiered interview process backed by database of research e-Triage functions as decision support system that

helps claims and medical professionals identify potential complications and recommends actions for manage

ment of each individual claim

Medical Management Services

Medical Field Case Management Broadspires case managers proactively manage medical treatment

while facilitating understanding of and participation in the rehabilitation process These programs aim to help

employees recover as quickly as possible in the most cost-effective method Medical management offerings

include

field nurses and vocational experts as well as telephonic nurses

professional team with extensive experience and credentials

proprietary cost containment programs aimed at controlling medical costs

access to current information about treatment healthcare and rehabilitative techniques

proactive management that focuses on abilities and results

system integration with claims adjusters

on-site physician advisors and on-line medical resources and

AAHCC/URAC accreditation

Disability Through its partnerships with leading providers of disability administration absence man

agement and integrated benefits delivery Broadspire offers leave of absence FMLA/state leaves short-term

disability and long-term disability administration programs

Risk and Safety Consulting Through its relationship with large comprehensive loss control firm

Broadspire also offers risk and safety services

Risk Management Information Services

The Registrants wholly owned subsidiary Risk Sciences Group Inc RSG which reports through the

Broadspire segment is leading risk management information systems RMIS software and services

company with history of providing customized risk management solutions to Fortune 1000 companies

RSGs software is designed for corporate risk managers to consolidate disparate property and casualty claims

data to allow them to more accurately analyze and manage their losses and their risk to exposures RSGs

flagship product Sigma Encore is suite of software applications launched through the RSG portal and is

web accessible by users worldwide Application components include claims administration exposures first



notice of loss policy and property management Data consolidation and validation services are core to every

solution RSG consolidates data from multiple sources into single repository and applies proprietary data

validation routines RSG markets these products and services nationally through its sales force directly to

corporations and indirectly through its broker channel partners

Insured Risk Categories

The claims administration services offered by the Broadspire segment are provided to clients pursuant to

similar underlying insured risk categories as our U.S Property Casualty segment Major risk categories for

the Broadspire segment are

Automobile relates to all types
of losses involving use of an automobile including bodily injury

physical damage medical payments collision fire theft and comprehensive liability

Workers Compensation relates to claims arising under state and federal workers compensation

laws

Public Liability relates to wide range of non-automobile liability claims such as product liability

owners landlords and tenants liabilities and comprehensive general liability

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS Substantially all of the Registrants international revenues are

derived from the insurance company market in which it provides field investigation and evaluation of property

and casualty insurance claims The major elements of international claims management services are substan

tially the same as those provided to U.S property and casualty insurance company clients by the U.S Prop

erty Casualty segment These services are generally classified by the underlying risk categories or major

types of loss used by insurance companies The major risk categories and primary related services offered by

the Registrant are described below

Property and Casualty services include loss adjusting services for property volume and major

incident as described above general liability employers liability professional indemnity for directors

and officers and product liability services

Household and Commercial services include claims handling services including management of

suppliers

Oil Energy Engineering services include loss adjusting services for oil gas petrochemicals and

other energy risks utilities and mining industries risks and marine and off-shore risks

Environmental Pollution services include cost-containment and claims management services with

respect to environmental related losses

Construction services include loss adjusting services under contractors all risk engineering all risk

and contractors liability coverages Additionally the Registrant evaluates machinery breakdown claims

and provides peripheral services including plant valuation and loss prevention surveys

Catastrophe organizing major loss teams to provide claims management and cost containment

services

Class Action services include handling all administrative functions related to product liability

securities bankruptcy and other legal settlements including notice to and qualifying of class members

determining and dispersing payments and administering settlement funds

Marine services include loss adjusting services for freight carriers liability loss investigations

recoveries salvage disposal yacht and small craft cargo container discharge draft general average

load trailer and on/off live surveys ship repairer liability and port stevedore liability

Specie and Fine Art services include loss adjusting services under fine art dealers jewelers and

furriers block policies



Banking Financial and Political Risks services include loss adjusting functions under bankers

blanket bond political risk and financial contingency policies

Livestock services include loss adjusting services on bloodstock and liability/equestrian activity

Reinsurance services include external audits portfolio analyses and management and marketing

research as well as claims adjustment services

Medical and Vocational Case Management services include specialized return to work and expert

testimony services in the employer liability and auto liability markets

For discussion of certain risks attendant to foreign operations See Item 1A Risk Factors

significant portion of our operations are international These international operations face political legal

operational exchange rate and other risks not generally present in U.S operations and which could negatively

affect those operations or our business as whole

LEGAL SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATION The Registrant provides legal settlement administration

services related to settlements of securities cases product liability cases bankruptcy noticing and distribution

and other legal settlements by identifying and qualifying class members determining and dispensing

settlement payments and administering the settlement funds Such services are generally referred to by the

Registrant as class action services and are performed by The Garden City Group Inc GCG wholly

owned subsidiary of the Registrant As of December 31 2009 GCG had more than 350 employees including

attorneys on staff in 11 offices throughout the U.S This diversity of employee base is designed to allow GCG
to target or broaden its efforts as needed to suit any applicable situation An executive team including

attorneys with class action bankruptcy and mass tort litigation experience guides each project initiative Since

1984 GCG has been focusing on diligently helping its clients bring their toughest cases to timely positive

conclusions GCG reinforces its reputation with field-experienced multi-disciplined and technology-driven

teams to support each case with appropriate administrative services and resources GCG offers

litigation support services that deliver results

flexible technologies and analytical tools

customized plans which are cost-effectively executed

expert assessment on all administration options

strategic guidance with accountable measures and

global resources

Information Technologies The cornerstone of GCGs success lies in its case-customizable proprietary

software Engineered and maintained by GCGs dedicated IT team GCGs information management and

claims settlement processing technologies are designed to sustain the highest level of data integrity in legal

administration and claim management GCG deploys quality assurance tools and techniques to check and

balance its output and its claims processing systems allow for immediate access to case details at any level

Additional financial information regarding each of the Registrants segments and geographic areas

including the information required by Item 101b of Regulation S-K is included in Note 10 Segment and

Geographic Information to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere herein

MATERIAL CUSTOMERS

For the year ended December 31 2009 the Registrant did not have consolidated sales to any single

customer that exceeded ten percent of total revenue before reimbursement However the Registrants

International Operations segment did derive in excess of ten but less than fifteen percent of its revenue from

single customer The loss of this customer could have material adverse effect on the results of the

International Operations segment During 2009 we were notified by major client of our Broadspire segment

that the client did not intend to renew its then existing contract with us upon the scheduled expiration of that

10



contract in December 2009 For the year
ended December 31 2009 revenue related to that client totaled

approximately 7.3% of total segment revenues

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND TRADEMARKS

While the Registrants intellectual property portfolio is an important asset which it expands and protects

globally through combination of trademarks copyrights and trade secrets the Registrant does not believe its

business as whole or any particular segment is materially dependent upon any one particular trademark

copyright or trade secret The Registrant owns number of active trademark applications and registrations

which expire at various times As the laws of many countries do not protect intellectual property to the same

extent as the laws of the United States the Registrant cannot ensure that it will be able to adequately protect

its intellectual property assets outside of the United States

SERVICE DELIVERY

The Registrants claims management services are offered primarily through its more than 350 locations

throughout the U.S and approximately 350 locations in 62 other countries throughout the rest of the world

COMPETITION

The claims services markets both in the U.S and internationally are highly competitive and are

comprised of large number of companies of varying size and offering varying scope of services Within

these service markets the Registrant competes primarily based on quality and scope of service offerings price

and geographic location Competitors include large insurance companies and insurance brokerage firms which

in addition to their primary services of insurance underwriting or insurance brokerage also often provide

services such as claims administration healthcare and disability management and risk management informa

tion systems Many of these companies are larger than the Registrant in terms of annual revenues and total

assets and may at any time be able to significantly expand their resource allocation in order to more

effectively compete with the Company however based on experience in the market the Registrant believes

that few if any of such organizations derive revenues from independent claims administration activities which

equal the Registrants

In addition to large insurance companies and insurance brokerage firms the Registrant competes with

great number of smaller local and regional claims management services firms located throughout the U.S and

internationally Many of these smaller firms have rate structures that are lower than the Registrants or may in

certain markets have local knowledge which provides them competitive advantage but the Registrant does

not believe that they offer the broad spectrum
of claims management services in the range of locations the

Registrant provides and although such firms may secure business which has local or regional source the

Registrant believes its quality product offerings broader scope of services and large number of geographically

dispersed offices provide the Registrant with an overall competitive advantage in securing business from both

U.S and international clients There are also national independent companies that provide similar broad

spectrum of claims management services and who directly compete with the Registrant

The legal settlement administration market is also highly competitive but comprised of smaller number

of specialized entities The demand for these services is largely dependent on the volume of securities and

product liability class action settlements the volume of Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings and the resulting

settlements and general economic conditions Unfavorable macro-economic events have slowed the pace of

overall activity in the class action services market

EMPLOYEES

At December 31 2009 the total number of full-time equivalent employees was 8852 The Registrant

generally considers its relations with its employees to be good In addition the Registrant has available

significant number of on-call employees as and when the demand for services requires primarily as result

of catastrophic events The Registrant through Crawford Educational Services provides many of its employees

with formal classroom training in basic and advanced skills relating to claims administration and healthcare
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management services Such training is generally provided at the Registrants education facility in Atlanta

Georgia although much of the material is also available through correspondence courses and the Internet In

many cases employees are required to complete these or other professional courses in order to qualify for

promotion from their existing positions

In addition to technical training through Crawford Educational Services the Registrant also provides

ongoing professional education for certain of its management personnel on general management marketing

and sales topics These programs involve both in-house and external resources

BACKLOG

At December 31 2009 and 2008 our Legal Settlement Administration segment had backlog of projects

awarded totaling $55.0 and $41.9 million respectively Additional information regarding this backlog is

contained in the Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of

this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption Legal Settlement Administration

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q Current Reports on

Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Section 13a and 15d of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 are available free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports are electronically

filed or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission on our website www.crawfordandcompany.com

via link to third party website with SEC filings The information contained on or hyperlinked from our

website is not part of nor is it incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K Copies of

the Companys annual report will also be made available free of charge upon written request to Corporate

Secretary Legal Department Crawford Company 1001 Summit Boulevard Atlanta Georgia 30319

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks described below together with the other information contained in

this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other filings with the SEC from time to time when evaluating our

business and prospects Any of the events discussed in the risk factors below may occui If they do our

business results of operations or financial condition could be materially adversely qffected Additional risks

and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our

financial condition or results of operations

We have experienced declines in the volume of cases referred to us for many of our service lines and are

unable to determine future trends in case volumes We depend on case volumes for our revenues and

continued decline will result in reduction of revenue

We have experienced declines in the volume of cases referred to us for many of our service lines

associated with the property and casualty and self-insurance insurance industry Because we depend on case

volume for revenue streams future reductions may adversely impact our results of operation and financial

condition We are unable to predict the future of this trend for number of reasons including the following

changes in the degree to which property and casualty insurance carriers outsource or intend to

outsource their claims handling functions are generally not disclosed in advance

the occurrence and length of hard insurance cycle described below

changes in the overall employment levels and associated workplace injury rates in the U.S could

impact the number of total claims

the growth of alternative risk programs and changes in the level of use of independent third party

administrators such as us as opposed to in-house programs or administrators affiliated with brokers or

insurance carriers
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the frequency and severity of weather-related natural and man-made disasters which are significant

source of claims for us are generally not subject to accurate forecasting

major insurance carriers underwriters and brokers could elect to expand their activities as administra

tors and adjusters which would directly compete with our business and

we may not desire to or be able to renew existing major contracts with clients for any reason

If our case volume referrals further decline for any of the foregoing or any other reason our revenues

would decline which could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations

Our U.S and United Kingdom U.K defined benefit pension plans are signcantly underfunded

Future funding requirements including those imposed by recent and potential regulatory changes could

restrict cash available for our operating financing and investing requirements

At the end of the most recent measurement periods for our defined benefit pension plans our projected

benefit obligations were underfunded by $216.3 million The Pension Protection Act of 2006 the Act as

amended by the Worker Retiree and Employer Recovery Act of 2008 will require us to make substantial

contributions to our frozen U.S defined benefit pension plan over the next eight years in order for us to meet

the Funding Target Liability as defined in the Act In addition regulatory requirements in the U.K require

us to make additional contributions to our underfunded U.K defined benefit pension plans Continued

volatility in the capital markets may also have further negative impact on our U.S and U.K pension funds

which may further increase the underfunded portion of our pension plans and our attendant funding

obligations The required contributions to our underfunded defined benefit pension plans will reduce our

liquidity restrict available cash for our operating financing and investing needs and may materially adversely

effect our financial condition

While we intend to comply with our funding requirements through the use of cash from operations there

can be no assurance that we will generate enough cash to do so Our inability to fund these obligations

through cash from operations could require us to seek funding from other sources including through

borrowings under our Credit Agreement if available or proceeds from any debt or equity offerings There can

be no assurance that we would be able to obtain any such external funding in amounts at times and on terms

that we deem commercially reasonable in order for us to meet these obligations Furthermore any of the

foregoing could materially increase our outstanding debt or debt service requirements or dilute the value of

the holdings of our current shareholders as the case may be Our inability to comply with any funding

obligations in timely manner could materially adversely affect our financial condition

Continued effects from the recent global financial crisis including economic uncertainty could further

negatively affect our business results of operations and financial condition

The recent global financial crisis has affected among other things the banking system financial markets

general economic development employment levels and to lesser extent some of our insurance company

clients The effects of this crisis have significantly impacted our business including resulting in reduced

claims volumes and revenues There could be number of other follow-on effects from the financial crisis on

our business including insolvency of key clients the inability of our clients to obtain credit to pay us for the

services that we render counterparty failures negatively impacting our and our clients treasury operations

increased expense or inability to obtain financing for our operations and requirements for us to further

materially increase the periodic expense and the funding obligations under our various defined benefit pension

plans We cannot predict the further extent to which any of the foregoing may impact our business results of

operations or financial condition although it may be material
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We have debt covenants in our Credit Agreement that require us to maintain compliance with certain

financial ratios and other requirements If we are not able to maintain compliance with these require

ments all of our outstanding debt could become immediately due and payable

We are party to Credit Agreement along with Crawford Company International Inc the lenders

party thereto and SunTrust Bank as Issuing Bank and Administrative Agent for the Lenders the Credit

Agreement The Credit Agreement contains customary representations warranties and covenants including

covenants limiting liens indebtedness guaranties mergers and consolidations substantial asset sales invest

ments and loans sale and leasebacks restrictions on dividends and distributions and other fundamental

changes Additionally the Credit Agreement contains covenants requiring us to remain in compliance with

maximum leverage ratio minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and minimum consolidated net worth The

covenants become more restrictive in the future and if we do not maintain compliance with the covenant

requirements we will be in default under the Credit Agreement In such an event the lenders under the Credit

Agreement would generally have the right to declare all then-outstanding amounts thereunder immediately due

and payable If we could not obtain required waiver on satisfactory terms we could be required to

renegotiate the terms of the Credit Agreement or immediately repay this indebtedness Any such renegotiation

could result in less favorable terms including additional fees higher interest rates and accelerated payments

and would necessitate significant time and attention of management which could divert their focus from

business operations While we do not presently expect to be in violation of any of these requirements no

assurances can be given that we will be able to continue to comply with the increasingly restrictive nature

thereof There can be no assurance that our actual financial results will match our projected results or that we

will not violate such covenants Any failure to continue to comply with such requirements could materially

adversely affect our borrowing ability and access to liquidity and thus our overall financial condition

We are subject to potential challenges relating to overtime pay and other regulations that could affect our

relationship with our employees and which could adversely affect our business financial conditions and

results of operations

We are subject to numerous federal state and foreign employment laws and from time to time we face

and expect to continue to face claims by our employees and former employees under such laws In addition

we have become aware that number of employers are becoming subject to an increasing number of claims

involving alleged violations of wage and hour laws The outcome of these allegations is expected to be highly

fact specific and there has been substantial amount of recent legislative and judicial activity pertaining to

employment-related issues We do not know which or how many of these allegations will result in litigation

and we cannot predict the outcome of any such litigation Such claims or litigation involving us and any of

our current or former employees could divert our managements time and attention from our business

operations and could potentially result in substantial costs of defense settlement or other disposition which

could have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial position and cash flows

The Broadspire segment currently operates on multiple claims platforms We have begun to consolidate

the multiple claims platforms into RiskTech our proprietary claims platform While we expect to benefit

from certain cost savings and other synergies from migrating to this proprietary platform no assurances

can be provided we will achieve any such benefits

Our Broadspire segment currently utilizes multiple claims adjudication platforms for collection of client

data Broadspire began the process of consolidating these platforms into the RiskTech platform in November

2008 The achievement of operational efficiencies including reduced costs of maintaining multiple claims

platforms depends upon the successful integration of all claims platforms into RiskTech The first phase of

the consolidation was completed in August 2009 Consolidation of the claims platforms is anticipated to

continue through 2011 however the Registrant cannot guarantee that it will complete the scheduled

integration on time or that once completed the integrated platform will provide the expected benefits Failure

to achieve targeted integration goals or the scheduled timeline may adversely affect our results of operations
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We may not be able to identify new revenue sources not directly tied to the insurance underwriting cycle

and therefore may be subject to underwriting cycle market risk

The insurance industry has in the past and may in the future go through hard market cycle Indicators

of hard insurance underwriting cycle generally include higher premiums higher deductibles lower liability

limits excluded coverages reservation of rights letters and unpaid claims During hard insurance underwrit

ing market insurance companies typically become very selective in the risks they underwrite and insurance

premiums and policy deductibles increase This often results in reduction in industry-wide claims volumes

which reduces claim referrals to us unless we can offset the decline in claim referrals with growth in our

market share In softer insurance markets when insurance premium and deductible levels are generally in

decline industry-wide claim volumes generally increase which should increase claim referrals to us provided

property and casualty insurance carriers do not reduce the number of claims they outsource to independent

firms such as ours

We are subject to this insurance underwriting market risk and try to mitigate this risk through the

development and marketing of services that are not affected by the insurance underwriting cycle such as those

related to class action and warranty services However there can be no assurance that our mitigating efforts

will be effective with respect to eliminating or reducing underwriting market risk To the extent we cannot

effectively minimize the risk through diversification our financial condition and results of operations could be

materially adversely impacted in future hard market cycles

We may not be able to develop or acquire necessary resources to support and grow our business Our

failure to do this could materially adversely affect our business results of operations and financial

condition

We have made substantial investments in software and related technologies that are critical to the core

operations of our business These IT resources will require future maintenance and enhancements potentially

at substantial costs Additionally these I.T resources may become obsolete in the future and require

replacement potentially at substantial costs We may not be able to develop or acquire replacement resources

or to identify and acquire new technology resources necessary to support and grow our business Any failure

to do so or to do so in timely manner or at cost considered reasonable by us could materially adversely

affect our business results of operations and financial condition

significant portion of our businesses are international These international operations face political

legal operational exchange rate and other risks not generally present in U.S operations and which

could negatively affect those operations or our business as whole

Our international operations face political legal operational exchange rate and other risks that we do not

face in our domestic operations We face the risk of discriminatory regulation nationalization or expropriation

of assets changes in both domestic and foreign laws regarding trade and investment abroad potential loss of

proprietary information due to piracy misappropriation or laws that may be less protective of our intellectual

property rights price controls and exchange controls or other restrictions that prevent us from transferring

funds from these operations out of the countries in which they operate or converting local currencies we hold

into U.S dollars or other currencies

Foreign operations also subject us to numerous additional laws and regulations affecting our business

such as those related to labor employment worker health and safety antitrust and competition environmental

protection consumer protection importlexport and anticorruption including but not limited to the Foreign

Corrupt Practices Act The FCPA prohibits giving anything of value intended to influence government

officials Although we have put into place policies and procedures aimed at ensuring legal and regulatory

compliance our employees subcontractors and agents could take actions that violate any of these require

ments Violations of these regulations could subject us to criminal or civil enforcement actions any of which

could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of operations
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We operate in highly competitive markets and face intense competition from both established entities and

new entrants into those markets Our failure to compete effectively may adversely affect us

The claims services markets both in the U.S and internationally are highly competitive and are

comprised of large number of companies of varying size and offering varying scope of services These

include large insurance companies and insurance brokerage firms which in addition to their primary services

of insurance underwriting or insurance brokerage also provide services such as claims administration

healthcare and disability management and risk management information systems Many of these companies

are larger than us in terms of annual revenues and total assets and may be more able to devote significant

resources to advertising marketing and price competition In addition we also compete with great number

of smaller local and regional claims management services firms located throughout the U.S and internation

ally Many of these smaller firms have rate structures that are generally lower than ours or may in certain

markets have local knowledge that provides them with competitive advantage There are also national

independent companies that provide similar broad spectrum of claims management services and who directly

compete with us In addition we have recently encountered increased pricing pressures from both our clients

and competitors and we expect this trend to continue In the event we are not able to successfully compete in

the markets in which we operate we could experience an adverse effect on our results of operations cash

flows or financial position

We may not be able to recruit train and retain qualified personnel including retaining sufficient num
ber of on-call claims adjusters to respond to catastrophic events that may singularly or in combination

significantly increase our clients needs for adjusters

Our catastrophe revenues can fluctuate dramatically based on the frequency and severity of natural and

man-made disasters When such events happen our clients usually require sudden and substantial increase in

the need for catastrophic claims services which can place strains on the capacity of our catastrophe adjusters

Our internal resources are sometimes not sufficient to meet these sudden and substantial increases in demand

When these situations occur we must retain outside adjusters temporary employees and contractors to

increase our capacity There can be no assurance that we will be able to retain such outside adjusters with the

requisite qualifications at the times needed or on terms that we believe are economically reasonable Insurance

companies and other loss adjusting firms also aggressively compete for these independent adjusters who often

command high prices for their services at such times of peak demand Such competition could reduce

availability increase our costs and reduce our revenues Our failure to timely efficiently and competently

provide these services to our clients could result in reduced revenues loss of customer goodwill and negative

impact on our results of operations

Legal Settlement Administration service revenues are project-based and can fluctuate significantly from

period to period for any number of reasons any of which can materially impact our financial condition

and results of operations

Our Legal Settlement Administration service revenues are project-based and can fluctuate significantly

from period to period Revenues from this segment are in part dependent on product liability bankruptcy and

securities class action cases and settlements Legislation or change in market conditions could curtail slow

or limit growth of this part of our business Tort reforms in the U.S both at the national and state levels

could limit the number and size of future class action cases and settlements Any slowdown in the referral of

projects to the Legal Settlement Administration segment or the commencement of services under the projects

in
any period could materially adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations

We face restrictions and limitations on our ability to and have not recently paid cash dividends to our

shareholders which could materially impact the market foi and price of our common stock

In considering the purchase of common stock many investors consider the dividend-paying nature of the

issuer thereof We have not since August 2006 paid dividends on either class of our common stock The

covenants in our Credit Agreement significantly limit our ability to make any dividend payments to

shareholders and permit dividends only if certain ratios are met In addition if permitted our Board of
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Directors makes dividend decisions based in part on an assessment of current and projected earnings and cash

flows The decision and ability to pay dividends is also impacted by many other factors including the

expected funding requirements for our defined benefit pension plans future repayments of outstanding

borrowings and future levels of cash generated by our operating activities The significant contractual

restrictions and other matters which have resulted in the Company not having paid dividends on its

outstanding common stock in recent history could reduce the overall market demand for such stock leading to

reduced price thereof

If we do not protect our proprietary information and technology resources and prevent third parties from

making unauthorized use of our products and technology our financial results could be harmed

We rely on combination of procedures and patent trademark and trade secret laws to protect our

proprietary information However all of these measures afford only limited protection and may be challenged

invalidated or circumvented by third parties Third parties may copy aspects of our processes products or

materials or otherwise obtain and use our proprietary information without authorization Third parties may

also develop similar or superior technology independently including by designing around any of our

proprietary technology Furthermore the laws of some foreign countries do not offer the same level of

protection of our proprietary rights as the laws of the U.S and we may be subject to unauthorized use of our

products in those countries Any legal action that we may bring to protect proprietary information could be

expensive and may distract management from day-to-day operations Unauthorized copying or use of our

products or proprietary information could materially adversely affect us

We are party to lawsuits that could adversely impact our business

In the normal course of the claims administration services business we are named as defendant in suits

by insureds or claimants contesting decisions by us or our clients with respect to the settlement of claims

Additionally our clients have periodically brought actions for indemnification on the basis of alleged

negligence on our part or on the part of our agents or our employees in rendering service to clients There can

be no assurance that additional lawsuits will not be filed against us There also can be no assurance that any

such lawsuits will not have disruptive impact upon the operation of our business that the defense of the

lawsuits will not consume the time and attention of our senior management and financial resources or that the

resolution of any such litigation will not have material adverse effect on our business financial condition

and results of operations

The Registrants International Operations segment derives significant portion of its revenue from sin

gle customer The loss of this customer could have material adverse effect on the results of the Interna

tional Operations segment

For the year ended December 31 2009 our International Operations segment derived in excess of ten

but less than fifteen percent of its revenue from single customer The services provided to this customer

vary on country-by-country basis and are covered by the terms of various contractual arrangements Should

this customer elect to cease its business relationship with us entirely such event could have material adverse

effect on the results of the International Operations segment

The risks described above are not the only ones facing the Company but are the ones currently deemed

the most material by us based on available information New risks may emerge from time to time and it is not

possible for management to predict all such risks nor can we assess the impact of known risks on our business

or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual results to differ materially from

those contained in any forward-looking statement

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following are the names positions held and ages of each of the executive officers of the Registrant

Name Office Age

Bowman President and Chief Executive 56

Officer

Swain Executive Vice President Chief 46

Financial Officer

Nelson Executive Vice President General 45

Counsel Corporate Secretary and

Chief Administrative Officer

Frawley Executive Vice President Chief 58

Executive Officer Americas

Isaac Executive Vice President Chief 45

Executive Officer The Garden City

Group Inc

Martino Executive Vice President Chief 51

Executive Officer President

Broadspire Services Inc

Muress Executive Vice President Chief 52

Executive Officer EMEAIA-P

Gibson Executive Vice President Global 57

Strategy Projects and Development

Reeves Executive Vice President Global 57

Markets

Porter Senior Vice President 59

Flynn Senior Vice President 50

Austin Senior Vice President 50

Cormican Senior Vice President 62

Mr Bowman was appointed to his present position with the Registrant on January 2008 From

January 2006 to December 31 2007 he was Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer Global

Property and Casualty of the Registrant and was in charge of the Registrants U.S Property Casualty and

International Operations segments From April 2001 to December 31 2005 he was President of Crawford

Company International Inc managing the Registrants international operations

Mr Swain was appointed to his present position with the Registrant on October 2006 and from May
2006 acted as interim Chief Financial Officer Prior to that and from January 2000 he was Senior Vice

President and Controller of the Registrant

Mr Nelson was appointed to his present position with the Registrant on January 2008 From

October 17 2005 through January 2008 he was Executive Vice President General Counsel and Corporate

Secretary of the Registrant Prior to that and from October 1997 he served in various positions with BellSouth

Corporation telecommunications company most recently as Chief Compliance Counsel In that capacity he

was in charge of all legal compliance issues facing BellSouth domestically and internationally

Mr Frawley was appointed to his present position as CEO Americas in charge of the Registrants

U.S Property Casualty segment and certain international operations in all the Americas effective January

2008 Prior to that and from February 23 2005 when he joined the Registrant he was responsible for the

Legal Settlement Administration segment of the Registrants business Prior to joining the Registrant and since

1996 he was Chief Compliance Officer Insurance Division for Prudential Financial Inc which through its

subsidiaries provides various financial products and services
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Mr Isaac was appointed to his current position with GCG wholly owned subsidiary of the Registrant in

October 2006 Prior to that and from February 2000 he was President of GCG

Mr Martino was appointed to his present position as CEO President Broadspire Services Inc effective

December 29 2008 Prior to that and from November 27 2007 when he joined the Registrant he was

President of Broadspire Services Inc responsible for operations Prior to joining the Registrant and since

February 1999 he was employed by Specialty Risk Services claims administration and risk management

services provider where he served as Senior Vice President chief financial officer and Senior Vice

President account management

Mr Muress was appointed to his present position as CEO EMEA/Asia-Pacific in charge of the

Registrants European Middle Eastern African and Asia-Pacific operations effective January 2008 Prior to

that and from January 2006 he was CEO-EMEA and from August 2002 when he joined the Registrants U.K

subsidiary until January 2006 he was CEO UK Ireland in charge of the Registrants operations in the

United Kingdom and Ireland

Mr Gibson was appointed to his present position in charge of Global Strategy Projects and Development

effective January 2008 Prior to that and from January 2006 he was Chief Executive Officer The

Americas in charge of the international operations for the Registrant in the Americas outside of the United

States From January 2000 to January 2006 he was Chief Executive Officer Canada in charge of the

Registrants Canadian operations

Mr Reeves was appointed to his present position in charge of Global Markets effective January 2008

Prior to that and from November 2004 he was Senior Vice President Corporate Multinational Risks

responsible for the strategy sales and account management of the Registrants relationship with the Fortune

1000 market From November 2002 to November 2004 he was Senior Vice President Technical

Services UK responsible for the Registrants Technical Services business unit in the United Kingdom

Mr Porter was appointed to his current position January 19 2005 and was interim Senior Vice

President Claims Management from December 15 2004 Prior to that and from May 2001 he was Senior

Vice President in charge of business development for Claims Management Services

Mr Flynn was appointed to his present position in charge of the Registrants global information

technology operation effective December 10 2007 Prior to joining the Registrant and since May 2001 he was

Senior Vice President-Technology of BCD Travel USA LLC travel management company

Ms Austin was appointed to her present position with the Registrant on April 24 2006 Prior to joining

the Registrant and since October 1998 she was Vice President-Human Resources of Waters of America

LP bottled water distributor

Mr Cormican was appointed to his present position February 15 2005 Prior to joining the Registrant

from August 2002 until February 2005 he was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Assurance

America Corporation an insurance holding company

Officers of the Registrant are appointed by the Board of Directors

The Registrant has adopted Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for its CEO CFO principal

accounting officer and all other officers directors and employees of the Registrant The Code of Business

Conduct and Ethics as well as the Registrants Corporate Governance Guidelines and Committee Charters are

available at www.crawfordandcompany.com Any amendment or waiver of the Code of Business Conduct and

Ethics will be posted on this website within four business days after the effectiveness thereof The Code of

Business Conduct and Ethics may also be obtained without charge by writing to Corporate Secretary Legal

Department Crawford Company 1001 Summit Boulevard N.E Atlanta Georgia 30319

ITEM PROPERTIES

As of December 31 2009 the Registrant owned building in Tucker Georgia where part of its

information technology facility is located It also owned an office in Kitchener Ontario and an additional
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office location in Stockport England both of which are utilized by the Registrants International Operations

segment As of December 31 2009 the Registrant leased approximately 526 other office locations under

various leases with varying terms The remainder of its office locations are occupied under various short-term

rental arrangements The Registrant generally believes that its office locations are sufficient for its operations

and that in the event it was required to obtain different or additional office locations such locations would be

available at times and on commercially reasonable terms as would be necessary for the conduct of its

business No assurances can be given however that the Registrant would be able to obtain such office

locations as and when needed or on terms it considered to be reasonable if at all

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the normal course of the claims administration services business the Registrant is named as

defendant in suits by insureds or claimants contesting decisions by the Registrant or its clients with respect to

the settlement of claims Additionally clients of the Registrant have in the past brought actions for

indemnification on the basis of alleged negligence on the part of the Registrant its agents or its employees in

rendering service to clients The majority of these claims are of the type covered by insurance maintained by

the Registrant however the Registrant is responsible for the deductibles and self-insured retentions under its

various insurance coverages In the opinion of the Registrant adequate reserves have been provided for such

risks No assurances can be provided however that the result of any such action claim or proceeding now

known or occurring in the future will not result in material adverse effect on our business financial

condition or results of operations

PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED SHAREHOLDER MAT
TERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Class common stock and Class common stock are traded on the New York Stock Exchange

NYSE under the symbol CRDA and CRDB respectively The following table sets forth for the quarterly

periods indicated the high and low sales prices per share for the Companys Class common stock and

Class common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange

2009 First Second Third Fourth

Class AHigh $10.17 $4.74 $4.02 $4.60

Class ALow 3.39 $3.15 $3.08 $2.48

Class BHigh $15.75 $7.46 $5.16 $6.00

Class BLow 5.85 $3.95 $4.15 $3.50

200$ First Second Third Fourth

Class AHigh $4.64 $7.00 $12.80 $10.14

Class ALow $3.40 $3.91 5.87 3.94

Class BHigh $6.00 $8.65 $18.38 $16.59

Class Low $3.65 $4.60 7.58 8.29

We have not paid or declared cash dividends to our shareholders since 2006 The declaration of dividends

is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors in light of all relevant factors including any funding

requirements for our defined benefit pension plans required or other considered repayments of outstanding

borrowings under our Credit Agreement future levels of cash generated by our operating activities general

business conditions and restrictions related to the covenants contained in our Credit Agreement The covenants

in our Credit Agreement currently limit dividend payments See Note Short-Term and Long-Term Debt to

the audited consolidated financial statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

During 2009 and 2008 we did not repurchase any shares of our Class or Class Common Stock under

our discretionary 1999 share repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors As of December 31
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2009 we have the availability to purchase up to 705863 additional shares under the program We believe it is

unlikely that we will repurchase shares under this program in the foreseeable future due to among other

things the underfunded status of our defined benefit pension plans and the covenants and related restrictions

contained in our Credit Agreement

The approximate number of record holders of the Companys stock as of December 31 2009 Class

2745 and Class 589

There were no purchases of common stock of the Company made during the three months ended

December 31 2009 by the Company or any affiliated purchaser of the Company as defined in

Rule lOb-18a3 under the Exchange Act
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial

statements and notes thereto contained in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this

report

For the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007 20062 2005

In thousands except per share amounts

Revenues before Reimbursements 969868 $1048582 975143 819522 $771983

Reimbursements 78334 87334 76135 80858 82784

Total Revenues 1048202 1135916 1051278 900380 854767

Total Cost of Services 792325 854427 809375 719313 690773

U.S Property Casualty Operating Earningsl 18892 22614 7621 18176 2l71
International Operating Earningsl 33307 38893 24660 14451 11854

Broadspire Operating Loss Earnings1 1602 3526 3141 21603 17521
Legal Settlement Administration Operating Earnings1 13130 10814 10727 21055 12979

Unallocated Corporate and Shared Costs 10714 6728 8919 116 3937
Net Corporate Interest Expense 14166 17622 17326 5753 5145
Stock Option Expense 914 861 1191 1.220

Amortization of Customer-Relationship Intangible

Assets 5994 6025 6025 1124
Other Expenses Gains 4059 788 8824 27
Goodwill and Intangible Asset Impairment Charges 140945
Income Taxes 2618 11564 5396 9.060 7059

Net Loss Income attributable to Crawford Company 115683 32259 16116 15.011 12881

Earnings Loss Per Share

Basic 2.23 0.63 0.32 0.30 0.26

Diluted 2.23 0.62 0.32 0.30 0.26

Current Assets 325715 348357 382752 382.143 339218

Total Assets 742905 895248 902782 892988 574071

Current Liabilities 258998 288996 309484 282833 209020

Long-Term Debt Less Current Installments 173061 181206 183449 199044 45810
Total Debt 181282 196856 215313 229460 81139
Shareholders Investment Attributable to Crawford

Company Shareholders 56682 175551 254215 211151 179031

Total Capital 237964 372407 469528 440611 260170
Current Ratio 1.31 1.21 1.21 1.41 1.61

Total Debt-to-Total Capital 76.2% 52.9% 45.9% 52.1% 31.2%

Return on Average Shareholders Investment 99.6% 15.0% 6.9% 7.7% 6.9%

Cash Provided by Operating Activities 51664 71585 23428 52717 40761

Cash Used in Investing Activities 31169 28036 19087 174606 12614
Cash Used In Provided By Financing Activities 26555 12830 17333 135786 19450
Shareholders Equity Per Share 1.09 3.43 5.02 4.19 3.65

Cash Dividends Per Share

Class and Class Common Stock 0.18 0.24

Weighted-Average Shares and Share-Equivalents

Basic 51830 50958 50532 49483 48930
Diluted 51830 52342 50659 49636 49347

This is segment financial measure representing earnings loss before net corporate interest expense
stock option expense amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets other gains and expense and

income taxes

On October 31 2006 the Company acquired Broadspire Management Services Inc
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

MDA is intended to help the reader understand Crawford Company our operations and our business

environment This MDA is provided as supplement to and should be read in conjunction with our

consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto contained in Item Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data of this report As described in Note Major Accounting and Reporting

Policies of those accompanying audited consolidated financial statements the financial statements of our

subsidiaries comprising our International Operations segment other than subsidiaries in Canada and the

Caribbean are included in our consolidated financial statements on two-month delayed basis fiscal year end

of October 31 as permitted by U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP in order to provide

sufficient time for accumulation of their results

Business Overview

Based in Atlanta Georgia Crawford Company www.crawfordandcompany.com is the worlds largest

independent provider of claims management solutions to the risk management and insurance industry as well

as self-insured entities with global network of more than 700 locations in 63 countries The Crawford

System of Claims SolutionssMoffers comprehensive integrated claims services business process outsourcing

and consulting services for major product lines including property and casualty claims management workers

compensation claims and medical management warranty inspections legal settlement administration including

class action and bankruptcy administration and risk management information services Shares of the

Companys two classes of common stock are traded on the NYSE under the symbols CRDA and CRDB

respectively

As discussed in more detail in subsequent sections of this MDA we have four operating segments

U.S Property Casualty International Operations Broadspire and Legal Settlement Administration Our four

operating segments represent components of our Company for which separate financial information is available

that is evaluated regularly by our chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in

assessing operating performance U.S Property Casualty serves the U.S property and casualty insurance

company market including the product warranties and inspections marketplace International Operations serves

the property and casualty insurance company markets outside of the U.S Broadspire serves the self-insurance

marketplace primarily in the U.S Legal Settlement Administration serves the securities bankruptcy and other

legal settlements markets primarily in the U.S

Insurance companies which represent the major source of our global revenues customarily manage their

own claims administration function but often rely on third parties for certain services which we provide

primarily field investigation and the evaluation of property
and casualty insurance claims We also conduct

inspections of building component products related to warranty and product performance claims

Self-insured entities typically rely on us for broader range of services In addition to field investigation

and evaluation of their claims we may also provide initial loss reporting services for their claimants loss

mitigation services such as medical case management and vocational rehabilitation risk management informa

tion services and administration of trust funds established to pay their claims

We also perform legal settlement administration services related to securities product liability and other

class action settlements and bankruptcies including identifying and qualifying class members determining and

dispensing settlement payments and administering settlement funds Such services are generally referred to by

us as class action services

The claims management services market both in the U.S and internationally is highly competitive and

comprised of large number of companies of varying size and offering varied scope of services The

demand from insurance companies and self-insured entities for services provided by independent claims

service firms like us is largely dependent on industry-wide claims volumes which are affected by among

other things the insurance underwriting cycle weather-related events general economic activity overall
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employment levels and associated workplace injury rates Accordingly we are limited in our ability to predict

case volumes that may be referred to us in the future In addition our ability to retain clients and maintain and

increase case referrals is also dependent in part on our ability to continue to provide high-quality

competitively priced services

We generally earn our revenues on an individual fee-per-claim basis for claims management services we

provide to property and casualty insurance companies and self-insured entities Accordingly the volume of

claim referrals to us is key driver of our revenues Generally fees are earned on claims in the period the

claim is assigned to us although sometimes portion or substantially all of the revenue will be earned in

subsequent periods Industry-wide claims volume in general will vary depending upon the insurance underwrit

ing cycle

In the insurance industry the underwriting cycle is often said to be in either soft or hard market

soft market generally results when insurance companies focus more on increasing their premium income and

focus less on controlling underwriting risks soft market often occurs in conjunction with strong financial

markets or in period with lack of catastrophe losses Insurance companies often attempt to derive

significant portion of their earnings from their investment portfolios and their focus may turn to collecting

more premium income to invest under the assumption that increased investment income and gains will offset

higher claim costs that usually result from relaxed underwriting standards Due to competition in the industry

during soft market insurance companies usually concentrate on growing their premium base by increasing

the number of policies in-force instead of raising individual policy premiums When the insurance underwrit

ing market is soft insurance companies are generally more aggressive in the risks they underwrite and

insurance premiums and policy deductibles typically decline This usually results in an increase in industry-

wide claim referrals which generally will increase claim referrals to us provided that we are able to maintain

our existing market share However if soft market coincides with period of low catastrophic claims

activity industry-wide claim volumes may not increase

transition from soft to hard market is usually caused by one or two key factors or sometimes

combination of both weak financial markets or unacceptable losses from policy holders When investments

held by insurance companies begin to perform poorly insurance companies typically turn their focus to

attempting to better control underwriting risks and claim costs However even if financial markets perform

well the relaxed underwriting standards in soft market can lead to unacceptable increases in the frequency

and cost of claims especially in geographic areas that are prone to frequent weather-related catastrophes

Either of these factors will usually lead the insurance industry to transition to hard market During hard

insurance underwriting market insurance companies generally become more selective in the risks they

underwrite and insurance premiums and policy deductibles typically increase sometimes quite dramatically

This usually results in reduction in industry-wide claim volumes which generally reduces claim referrals to

us unless we are able to offset the decline in claim referrals with growth in our market share During 2009 the

insurance industry underwriting cycle could be characterized as soft market Because the underwriting

cycle can change suddenly due to unforeseen events in the financial markets and catastrophic claims activity

we cannot predict what impact the current soft market may have on us in the future

We are also impacted by decisions insurance companies and other clients may make to change the level

of claims outsourced to independent claim service firms as opposed to those handled by their own in-house

claims adjusters or contracted to other third party administrators whether or not associated with insurance

companies Our ability to grow our market share in highly fragmented and competitive market is primarily

dependent on the delivery of superior quality service and effective sales efforts

The legal settlement administration market is also highly competitive but comprised of smaller number

of specialized entities The demand for legal settlement administration services is generally not directly tied to

or affected by the insurance underwriting cycle The demand for these services is largely dependent on the

volume of securities and product liability class action settlements the volume of Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings

and the resulting settlements and general economic conditions Our revenues for legal settlement administra

tion services are generally project-based and we earn these revenues as we perform individual tasks and

deliver the outputs as outlined in each project
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Results of Operations

Executive Summary

Net loss attributable to Crawford Company was $115.7 million in 2009 compared to net income of

$32.3 million in 2008 and $16.1 million in 2007 The net loss in 2009 included non-cash goodwill and

intangible asset impairment charges of $140.9 million of which $140.3 million is not deductible for income

tax purposes Also included in our 2009 results was loss on the partial sublease of Broadspire facility in

Plantation Florida and other restructuring costs totaling $4.1 million or approximately $2.6 million after

income tax The 2009 net loss was reduced by certain foreign tax benefits totaling $5.7 million as result of

an internal restructuring of certain of the Companys international operations Net corporate interest expense

declined $3.5 million in 2009 compared to 2008 due to lower interest rates and reduced short-term borrowings

Operating earnings measure of segment operating performance used by our management that is defined and

discussed in more detail below and the related operating margin increased for Legal Settlement Administra

tion in 2009 compared to 2008 but both measures declined for our other three operating segments

For 2008 net income attributable to Crawford Company was impacted by non-taxable gain of

$2.5 million related to the sale of lower-tier subsidiary in the Netherlands the Netherlands subsidiary

Our net income in 2008 also included charge of $3.3 million or approximately $2.4 million after income

tax from certain internal restructuring activities in our U.S Property Casualty and International Operations

segments

Net income attributable to Crawford Company in 2007 included gain of $4.8 million or

approximately $3.1 million net of related income taxes from the 2006 sale of our former corporate

headquarters This gain was initially deferred pending the expiration of leaseback arrangement related to that

facility which expired during the second quarter of 2007 Our net income for 2007 also included gain of

$4.0 million or approximately $2.5 million net of related income taxes from the sale of our former

U.S subrogation services business in February 2007 and the recognition of previously unrecognized tax

benefit of $2.0 million

Compared to 2008 our consolidated revenues before reimbursements revenues were lower in 2009

due to several key factors International Operations segment revenues in 2009 were negatively impacted by

$62.5 million in exchange rate fluctuations due to stronger U.S dollar during most of 2009 U.S Property

Casualty segment revenues were lower in 2009 due primarily to an overall industry-wide softness in property

and casualty claims Broadspire segment revenues decreased in 2009 primarily due to the reduced number of

workers compensation claims resulting primarily from lower U.S employment levels However Legal

Settlement Administration segment revenues increased in 2009 reflecting the positive impact of several major

bankruptcy and securities class action administration projects awarded to this operating segment during 2008

and 2009

Operating Earnings Loss of our Operating Segments

We believe that discussion and analysis of the operating earnings of our four operating segments is

helpful in understanding the results of our operations Operating earnings is our segment measure of

profitability as discussed in Note 12 Segment and Geographic Information to the accompanying audited

consolidated financial statements under Item in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Operating earnings is the

primary financial performance measure used by our senior management and chief operating decision maker

CODM to evaluate the financial performance of our operating segments and make resource allocation

decisions Unlike net income our operating earnings measure is not standard performance measure found in

GAAP However since it is our segment measure of profitability presented in conformity with the Financial

Accounting Standards Boards FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 280 Segment

Reporting it is not considered non-GAAP measure requiring reconciliation pursuant to Securities and

Exchange Commission SEC guidance contained in Regulation and Item 10e of Regulation S-K We

believe this measure is useful to others in that it allows them to evaluate segment operating performance using

the same criteria our management and CODM use Operating earnings represent segment earnings excluding
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income tax expense net corporate interest expense amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets

stock option expense certain other gains and expenses and certain unallocated corporate and shared costs Net

income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests has been removed from operating earnings

Income tax expense net corporate interest expense amortization of customer-relationship intangible

assets and stock option expense are recurring components of our net income or loss but they are not

considered part of our segment operating earnings because they are managed on corporate-wide basis

Income tax expense is based on statutory rates in effect in each of the jurisdictions where we provide services

and vary throughout the world Net corporate interest expense results from company-level capital structure

decisions made by management Amortization expense relates to non-cash amortization expense of customer-

relationship intangible assets resulting from business combinations Stock option expense represents the non-

cash costs generally related to stock options and employee stock purchase plan expenses which are not

allocated to our operating segments None of these costs relate directly to the performance of our services or

operating activities and therefore are excluded from segment operating earnings in order to better assess the

results of each segments operating activities on consistent basis

Certain other gains and expenses may arise from events such as gains on sales of businesses and real

estate expenses related to restructurings and goodwill impairment charges that are not allocated to any

particular segment since they historically have not regularly impacted our performance and are not expected to

impact our future performance on regular basis

Unallocated corporate and shared costs represent expenses and credits related to our CEO and Board of

Directors certain provisions for bad debt allowances or subsequent recoveries such as those related to bankrupt

clients defined benefit pension costs or credits for our frozen U.S pension plan certain software and certain

self-insurance costs and recoveries that are not allocated to our individual operating segments

Additional discussion and analysis of our income taxes net corporate interest expense amortization of

customer-relationship intangible assets stock option expense unallocated corporate and shared costs and other

gains and expenses follows the discussion and analysis of the results of operations of our four operating

segments

Segment Revenues

In the normal course of business our operating segments incur certain out-of-pocket expenses that are

thereafter reimbursed by our clients Under GAAP these out-of-pocket expenses and associated reimburse

ments are reported as revenues and
expenses

in our consolidated results of operations In some of the segment

discussion and analysis that follows we do not believe it is informative to include the GAAP-required gross

up of our segment revenues and expenses for these pass-through reimbursed expenses The amounts of

reimbursed expenses and related revenues offset each other in our results of operations with no impact to our

net income or loss Unless noted in the following discussion and analysis revenue amounts exclude

reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses

Segment Expenses

Our discussion and analysis of segment operating expenses is comprised of two components Direct

Compensation and Fringe Benefits includes all compensation payroll taxes and benefits provided to our

employees which as service company represents our most significant and variable operating expense

Expenses Other Than Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits includes outsourced services office rent and

occupancy costs office operating expenses cost of risk amortization and depreciation expense other than

amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets and allocated corporate and shared costs These costs

are more fixed in nature as compared to direct compensation and fringe benefits

Allocated corporate and shared costs are allocated to our four operating segments based primarily on

usage These allocated costs are included in the determination of segment operating earnings If we change our

allocation methods or change the types of costs that are allocated to our four operating segments prior periods

are adjusted to reflect the current allocation process

26



Operating results for our U.S Property Casualty International Operations Broadspire and Legal

Settlement Administration segments reconciled to pretax loss income attributable to Crawford Company

and net loss income attributable to Crawford Company were as follows

Change

From Prior

Year

Year Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008

In thousands

Revenues Before Reimbursements

U.S Property Casualty 206598 216753 192966 4.7% 12.3%

International Operations
392601 445056 376639 11.8% 18.2%

Broadspire 288650 311841 321331 7.4% 3.0%

Legal Settlement Administration 82019 74932 84207 9.5% II

Total before reimbursements 969868 1048582 975143 7.5% 7.5%

Reimbursements 78334 87334 76135 10.3% 14.7%

Total Revenues $1048202 $1135916 $1051278 7.7% 8.1%

Direct Compensation Fringe Benefits

U.S Property Casualty 125939 133933 126146 6.0% 6.2%

of related revenues before reimbursements 61.0% 61.8% 65.4%

International Operations 270637 303197 260041 10.7% 16.6%

of related revenues before reimbursements 68.9% 68.1% 69.1%

Broadspire
161786 175412 183481 7.8% 4.4%

of
related revenues before reimbursements 56.0% 56.3% 57.1%

Legal Settlement Administration 35859 35359 39500 1.4% lO.5%

of related revenues before
reimbursements 43.7% 47.2% 46.9%

Total 594221 647901 609168 8.3% 6.4%

of Revenues before reimbursements 61.3% 61.8% 62.5%

Expenses Other than Direct Compensation Fringe

Benefits

U.S Property Casualty 61767 60206 59199 2.6% .7%

of related revenues before reimbursements 29.9% 7.8% 30.7%

International Operations 88657 102966 91938 13.9% 12.0%

of related revenues before reimbursements 22.6% 23.2% 24.4%

Broadspire
128466 132903 134709 3.3%

of related revenues before reimbursements 44.6% 42.6% 41.9%

Legal Settlement Administration 33030 28759 33980 14.9% l5.4%

of related revenues before reimbursements 40.3% 38.4% 40.4%

Total before reimbursements 311920 324834 319826 4.0% 1.6%

of Revenues before reimbursements 32.2% 31.0% 32.8%

Reimbursements 78334 87334 76135 10.3% 14.7%

Total 390254 412168 395961 5.3% 4.1%

of
Revenues 37.2% 36.3% 37.7%

Segment Operating Earnings Loss

U.S Property Casualty
18892 22614 7621 16.5% 196.7%

of related revenues before reimbursements 9.1% 10.4% 3.9%

International Operations
33307 38893 24660 14.4% 57.7%

of related revenues before reimbursements 8.5% 8.7% 6.5%

Broadspire 1602 3526 3141 145.4% 12.3%

of related revenues before reimbursements 0.6% 1.1% 1.0%

Legal Settlement Administration 13130 10814 10727 21.4% 0.8%

of related revenues before reimbursements 16.0% 14.4% 12.7%

Add/deduct

Unallocated corporate and shared costs 10714 6728 8919 59.2% 24.6%

Goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges 140945 nm

Net corporate interest expense 14166 17622 17326 19.6% 1.7%

Stock option expense 914 861 1191 6.2% 27.7%

Amortization of customer-relationship intangibles 5994 6025 6025 0.5%

Other gains and expenses net 4059 788 8824 415.1% 108.9%

Loss Income Before Income Taxes Attributable to Crawford Company 113065 43823 21512 358.0% 103.7%

Income taxes 2618 11564 5396 77.4% 114.3%

Net Loss Income Attributable to Crawford Company $115683 32259 16116 458.6% 100.2%

nm not meaningful
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Year Ended December 31 2009 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2008

U.S PROPERTY CASUALTY SEGMENT

Operating Earnings

Operating earnings for our U.S Property Casualty segment decreased from $22.6 million in 2008 to

$18.9 million in 2009 representing an operating margin of 9.1% in 2009 compared to 10.4% in 2008 The

decrease in 2009 was primarily due to decrease in revenues as discussed below

Revenues before Reimbursements

U.S Property Casualty revenues are primarily generated from the property and casualty insurance

company markets with additional revenues generated from the warranties and inspections marketplace

U.S Property Casualty revenues before reimbursements by major service line were as follows

2009 2008 Variance

In thousands

Claims Field Operations $138797 $153577 9.6%

Catastrophe Services 22107 22924 3.6%

Technical Services 29365 28453 3.2%

Contractor Connection 16329 11799 38.4%

Total U.S Property Casualty Revenues before

Reimbursements $206598 $216753 4.7%

U.S Property Casualty revenues before reimbursements decreased 4.7% to $206.6 million in 2009

compared to $216.8 million in 2008 This 2009 decrease was due primarily to decrease in claims field

operations driven by reduced property vehicle and warranty services claims partially offset by increases in

revenues in our technical services unit which primarily handles major commercial losses and in our direct

repair network Contractor Connection

U.S Property Casualtys 4.7% revenue decline from 2008 to 2009 was due to 2.3% decrease from

changes in the mix of services provided and in the rates charged for those services and 2.4% decrease in

segment unit volume measured principally by cases received

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total revenues for our U.S Property Casualty

operations were $10.0 million in 2009 decreasing from $11.2 million in 2008 The decrease in 2009 was due

primarily to decline in claims field operations cases received

Case Volume Analysis

U.S Property Casualty unit volumes by underlying case category as measured by cases received for

2009 and 2008 were as follows

2009 2008 Variance

Property 116642 121332 3.9%

Casualty 65570 67157 2.4%
Vehicle 55436 76668 27.7%
Warranty Services 32392 57687 43.8%
Workers Compensation and Other 16907 17214 l.8%

Total Claims Field Operations 286947 340058 l5.6%
Contractor Connection 125839 86157 46.1

Catastrophe Services 26339 24499 7.5%

Technical Services 8856 8101 9.3%

Total U.S Property Casualty Cases Received 447981 458815 2.4%
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The 2009 decrease in property and casualty claims was due primarily to lower industry-wide claims

volumes which have resulted in fewer claims referred to us from our clients The 2009 decline in vehicle

claims was due primarily to general economic conditions which we believe have resulted in fewer miles driven

and thus fewer claims and also due to decisions by certain insurance companies to reduce adjuster

involvement in handling vehicle-related claims We expect the trend of reduced adjuster involvement in vehicle

claims to continue The 2009 decrease in warranty services claims resulted from the expiration of several

long-running class action contracts This trend is expected to continue as we are not aware of any large new

class action warranty claims that will replace the expiring contracts The 2009 decrease in workers

compensation claims was due primarily to decreased referrals for outside investigations from insurance carriers

and internal referrals from our Broadspire segment The 2009 increase in Contractor Connection cases was due

to the ongoing expansion of our contractor network and due to the trend of insurance carriers moving high-

frequency low-severity property claims directly to repair networks which we expect to continue The 2009

increase in catastrophe services claims was due primarily to severe weather earlier in the year The 2009

increase in technical services claims was due primarily to our continued expansion in this market by increasing

the number of executive general adjusters that we employ and due to the resulting increase in market share

As discussed in more detail elsewhere herein we cannot predict the future trend of case volumes for number

of reasons including the frequency and severity of weather-related claims and the occurrence of natural and

man-made disasters which are significant source of claims for us and are generally not subject to accurate

forecasting

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

U.S Property Casualty direct compensation and fringe benefits expense as percent of segment

revenues before reimbursements decreased to 61.0% in 2009 compared to 61.8% in 2008 This decrease in

2009 was due primarily to reduction in full-time equivalent employees FTEs and lower incentive

compensation expense There was an average
of 1607 FTEs including 90 catastrophe adjusters in 2009

compared to an average of 1676 including 132 catastrophe adjusters in 2008 During the 2008 fourth

quarter we deployed over 300 catastrophe adjusters to the Gulf Coast region of the U.S in response to

hurricanes Dolly Gustav and Ike

U.S Property Casualty salaries and wages decreased 4.8% to $106.2 million in 2009 from

$111.6 million in 2008 The decrease in 2009 compared to 2008 was due primarily to the reduction in FTEs

Payroll taxes and fringe benefits for U.S Property Casualty totaled $19.8 million in 2009 decreasing 11.6%

from 2008 expenses
of $22.4 million The decrease in 2009 compared to 2008 was due primarily to the

reduction in ETEs lower incentive compensation expense and temporary reductions in planned contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans Incentive compensation is variable and is primarily tied to growth in

revenues and operating earnings and to reductions in days-sales-outstanding measure for accounts receivable

Expenses Other than Reimbursements Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

U.S Property Casualty expenses other than reimbursements direct compensation and related payroll

taxes and fringe benefits increased as percent of U.S Property Casualty revenues before reimbursements

to 29.9% in 2009 from 27.8% in 2008 The increase in 2009 was primarily due to lower revenues in 2009

since these expenses
tend to be more fixed in nature In addition the segments bad debt expense was

$1.8 million lower in 2008 compared to 2009 In 2008 the segment collected previously charged-off account

receivable and also introduced an incentive compensation plan that includes focus on reducing outstanding

accounts receivable balances

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS SEGMENT

Operating Earnings

International Operations operating earnings decreased to $33.3 million in 2009 decrease of 14.4%

from 2008 operating earnings of $38.9 million for the reasons described below This decline resulted in

slight decline in the operating margin from 8.7% in 2008 to 8.5% in 2009
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Revenues before Reimbursements

Substantially all International Operations segment revenues are earned from the property and casualty

insurance company market outside of the U.S International Operations revenues before reimbursements by

major region were as follows

2009 2008 Variance

In thousands

United Kingdom U.K $125921 $165167 23.8%

Canada 121370 119405 1.6%

Continental Europe Middle East Africa CEMEA 81535 93610 l2.9%

Asia/Pacific 51362 52339 l.9%

Americas 12413 14535 14.6%

Total International Operations Revenues before

Reimbursements $392601 $445056 11 .8%

Revenues before reimbursements from our International Operations segment totaled $392.6 million in

2009 an 11.8% decrease from the $445.1 million in 2008 This 2009 revenue decrease was due to the net

negative impact of changes in currency exchange rates case volumes and changes in the mix of services

provided and in the rates charged for those services Compared to 2008 the U.S dollar was stronger in 2009

against most major foreign currencies resulting in negative impact from exchange rate movements of

$62.5 million on this segments revenues from 2008 to 2009 Excluding the negative impact of exchange rate

fluctuations International Operations revenues would have been $455.1 million in 2009 reflecting growth in

revenues on constant dollar basis of 2.3%

Excluding the disposition of the Netherlands subsidiary in 2008 International Operations unit volume

measured by cases received declined 5.5% in 2009 compared to 2008 This decline primarily reflected

decreased case referrals during 2009 in the U.K and Canada partially offset by increases in case referrals in

other major regions of our International Operations segment as discussed below Average revenue per claim

increased 9.2% from changes in the mix of services provided and in the rates charged for those services Net

decreases in 2009 of high-frequency low-severity claims primarily in Canada raised the average revenue per

claim in 2009 as discussed below The disposition of the Netherlands subsidiary in 2008 decreased revenues

by $6.6 million or 1.5% in 2009 compared to 2008

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total revenues for our International Operations

segment decreased to $31.0 million in 2009 from $42.1 million in 2008 This decrease in 2009 was due

primarily to reduced out-of-pocket reimbursable expenses related to major Canadian service agreement and

also due to stronger U.S dollar in 2009

Case Volume Analysis

Excluding the impact of the 2008 disposition of the Netherlands subsidiary International Operations unit

volumes by region for 2009 and 2008 were as follows

2009 2008 Variance

United Kingdom 139933 162380 13.8%

Canada 137719 165613 16.8%

CEMEA 120620 117493 2.7%

Asia/Pacific 101029 95490 5.8%

Americas 70299 62042 13.3%

Total International Operations Cases Received 569600 603018 5.5%
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The 2009 decrease in the U.K was due primarily to reduction of storm-related claims in the current

year
The 2009 decrease in Canada was due primarily to reduction in weather-related activity The 2009

increase in CEMEA was due primarily to an increase in high-frequency low severity claims in Scandinavia

and Belgium The changes in Asia-Pacific volumes were primarily due to high frequency low severity claims

activity in China and an increase in weather-related activity in Australia The increase in the Americas was

due primarily to an increase in high frequency low severity claims in Brazil As discussed in more detail

elsewhere herein we cannot predict the future trend of case volumes for number of reasons including the

frequency and severity of weather-related claims and the occurrence of natural and man-made disasters which

are significant source of claims for us and are generally not subject to accurate forecasting

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

As percent of segment revenues before reimbursements direct compensation expense including related

payroll taxes and fringe benefits increased slightly to 68.9% in 2009 from 68.1% in 2008 This percentage

increase in 2009 was primarily due to higher costs related to our U.K defined benefit retirement plans in

2009 The dollar amount of these expenses decreased in 2009 by $32.6 million due primarily to stronger

U.S dollar in 2009 offset partially by the higher costs in the U.K for defined benefit retirement plans There

was an average of 4279 International Operations FTEs in 2009 up slightly from 4229 in 2008

Salaries and wages of International Operations segment personnel decreased 12.5% to $227.1 million in

2009 compared to $259.5 million in 2008 decreasing as percent of revenues before reimbursements from

58.3% in 2008 to 57.9% in 2009 The decrease in these expenses in 2009 was primarily related to the stronger

U.S dollar during 2009 Payroll taxes and fringe benefits decreased slightly to $43.5 million in 2009 compared

to $43.7 million in 2008 as the increased U.K defined benefit retirement plan expense substantially offset the

impact of stronger U.S dollar

Expenses Other than Reimbursements Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Expenses other than reimbursements direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe benefits

decreased as percent of segment revenues before reimbursements from 23.2% in 2008 to 22.6% in 2009

This percentage decrease in 2009 was due primarily to increased operational efficiencies which allowed us to

service additional revenue when measured on constant-dollar basis without adding an equivalent amount of

costs which are generally more fixed in nature The dollar amount of these expenses decreased in 2009 by

$14.3 million due primarily to stronger U.S dollar in 2009

BROADSPIRE SEGMENT

As disclosed in Note Goodwill and Intangible Asset to the accompanying audited consolidated

financial statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K we recorded noncash goodwill and

intangible asset impairment charge totaling $140.9 million related to our Broadspire segment during 2009

These impairment charges have been excluded from Broadspires segment operating earnings loss and are

not included in the following discussion and analysis of Broadspires segment operating results

Operating Loss Earnings

Our Broadspire segment recorded an operating loss of $1.6 million or 0.6% of segment revenues before

reimbursements in 2009 compared to operating earnings of $3.5 million or 1.1% of segment revenues before

reimbursements in 2008 Declining case volumes in 2009 and the weakened labor market in the U.S have

negatively impacted Broadspires operating results

Revenues before Reimbursements

Broadspire segment revenues are primarily derived from workers compensation and liability claims

management services medical management for workers compensation including vocational rehabilitation
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and risk management information services provided to the U.S self-insured marketplace Broadspire revenues

before reimbursements by major service line were as follows

2009 2008 Variance

In thousands

Claim Management Services $128325 $145458 l.8%

Medical Management Services 141894 145663 2.6%

Risk Management Information Services 18431 20720 11 .0%

Total Broadspire Revenues before Reimbursements $288650 $311841 .4%

Broadspire segment revenues before reimbursements decreased 7.4% to $288.7 million in 2009 compared

to $311.8 million in 2008 Unit volumes for the Broadspire segment measured principally by cases received

decreased 11.2% from 2008 to 2009 Partially offsetting the decline in unit volumes was 3.8% increase from

changes in the mix of services provided and in the rates charged for those services The change in the mix of

services provided reflected the utilization of medical management services at higher rate compared to claim

management services During periods of high unemployment we tend to see the duration of workers

compensation claims extended which generally results in higher utilization of medical management services

such as field and telephonic case management and medical bill review The net result of these factors was

7.4% decrease in Broadspire segment revenues before reimbursements from 2008 to 2009

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total revenues for our Broadspire segment were

$5.2 million in 2009 decreasing slightly from $5.3 million in 2008 This decrease was primarily attributable

to the declines in case volumes substantially offset by increased out-of-pocket expenses for the medical

management of workers compensation claims

Case Volume Analysis

Broadspire unit volumes by major underlying case category as measured by cases received for 2009 and

2008 were as follows

2009 2008 Variance

Workers Compensation 142249 162548 12.5%

Casualty 63767 73236 12.9%

Other 16455 14637 12.4%

Total Broadspire Cases Received 222471 250421 11 .2%

The 2009 declines in workers compensation claims reflected continuing decline in reported workplace

injuries in the U.S primarily as result of the overall decline in employment due to the current economic

climate The U.S market has experienced decline in reported workplace injuries over the past decade

resulting in loss in revenue from our existing customer base The 2009 declines in casualty claims were

primarily due to reductions in claims from our existing clients as result of the overall industry-wide

reduction in claims volume partially offset by net new business gains The 2009 increases in other claims

were primarily due to increases in health management services resulting from employers that added such

services to their employee benefits programs As discussed in more detail elsewhere herein we cannot predict

the future trend of case volumes as they are generally dependent on the timing and extent of job creation in

the U.S and the occurrence of casualty-related events which are not subject to accurate forecasting

During 2009 we were notified by major client of our Broadspire segment that the client would not

renew its existing contract with us upon the scheduled expiration of that contract in December 2009 For 2009

revenues related to this client totaled approximately $21.1 million or 7.3% of total segment revenues
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Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Broadspires direct compensation and fringe benefits expense as percent of the related revenues before

reimbursements decreased to 56.0% in 2009 compared to 56.3% in 2008 The decrease in 2009 was primarily

due to fewer FTEs in 2009 as result of reduced case volumes lower incentive compensation expense and

lower costs related to temporary
reductions in planned contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Average FTEs totaled 2243 in 2009 down from 2362 in 2008

Broadspire segment salaries and wages decreased 6.8% to $135.0 million in 2009 from $144.8 million in

2008 reflecting the decline in FTEs and lower incentive compensation expense in 2009 Payroll taxes and

fringe benefits for our Broadspire segment totaled $26.8 million in 2009 decreasing 12.4% from 2008

expenses of $30.6 million reflecting the temporary reduction in planned contributions to defined contribution

retirement plans in 2009

Expenses Other than Reimbursements Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Broadspire segment expenses other than reimbursements direct compensation and related payroll taxes

and fringe benefits increased as percent of segment revenues before reimbursements to 44.6% in 2009 from

42.6% in 2008 This percentage increase was primarily due to lower revenue as total 2009 expenses were

reduced year-over-year due primarily to lower office operating expenses in 2009 and the implementation of

the RiskTech software which allowed us to terminate an outsource arrangement with an information

technology service provider

LEGAL SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATION SEGMENT

Operating Earnings

Our Legal Settlement Administration segment reported 2009 operating earnings of $13.1 million increas

ing 21.4% from $10.8 million in 2008 with the related operating margin increasing from 14.4% in 2008 to

16.0% in 2009 for the reasons discussed below

Revenues before Reimbursements

Legal Settlement Administration revenues are primarily derived from securities product liability and

other legal settlements and Chapter II bankruptcy administration in the U.S

Legal Settlement Administration revenues before reimbursements increased 9.5% to $82.0 million in

2009 compared to $74.9 million in 2008 Legal Settlement Administration revenues are project-based and can

fluctuate significantly due primarily to the timing of securities class action and bankruptcy settlements During

2009 we were awarded 275 new settlement administration assignments compared to 182 in 2008 The growth

in revenues and the number of new assignments is due primarily to an increase in the number of bankruptcy

assignments received as result of current economic conditions

At December 31 2009 we had backlog of awarded projects totaling approximately $55.0 million

compared to $41.9 million at December 31 2008 Of the $55.0 million backlog at December 31 2009 an

estimated $48.1 million is expected to be included in revenues within the next twelve months

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total revenues for Legal Settlement Administra

tion were $32.1 million in 2009 increasing from $28.7 million in 2008 The increase in 2009 was due

primarily to the overall increase in activity in 2009 that required significant amounts of out-of-pocket

reimbursable expenses The nature and volume of work performed in our Legal Settlement Administration

segment typically requires more incurred and reimbursable out-of pocket expenditures than our other operating

segments
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Transaction Volume

Legal Settlement Administration services are generally project-based and not denominated by individual

claims Depending upon the nature of projects and their respective stages of completion the volume of

transactions or tasks performed in this segment can vary sometimes significantly in any given period For this

reason period-over-period comparisons are generally not meaningful

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Legal Settlement Administrations direct compensation expense including related payroll taxes and fringe

benefits as percent of segment revenues before reimbursements decreased to 43.7% in 2009 compared to

47.2% in 2008 The 2009 percentage decrease was primarily due to operating efficiencies achieved as result

of the increase in revenues The slight increase in the 2009 dollar amount of these expenses was due primarily

to the increased number of FTEs in 2009 There was an average of 347 FTEs in 2009 compared to an average

of 336 in 2008

Legal Settlement Administration salaries and wages including incentive compensation increased 1.0% to

$31.3 million in 2009 from $31.0 million in 2008 Payroll taxes and fringe benefits for Legal Settlement

Administration totaled $4.5 million in 2009 increasing 2.3% from 2008 costs of $4.4 million This 2009

increase was primarily the result of the increase in the number of FTEs in 2009

Expenses Other than Reimbursements Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Legal Settlement Administration expenses other than reimbursements direct compensation and related

payroll taxes and fringe benefits increased as percent of related segment revenues before reimbursements to

40.3% in 2009 from 38.4% in 2008 The 2009 increase was primarily due to an increase in expenses related to

the use of our outsourced service providers

Year Ended December 31 2008 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

U.S PROPERTY CASUALTY SEGMENT

As of January 2008 our Strategic Warranty Services unit was transferred to our U.S Property

Casualty segment from our Legal Settlement Administration segment Segment results for prior periods have

been restated to reflect this transfer

In the first quarter of 2007 we sold our subrogation services business

Operating Earnings

Operating earnings for our U.S Property Casualty segment increased from $7.6 million in 2007 to

$22.6 million in 2008 representing an operating margin of 10.4% in 2008 compared to 3.9% in 2007 These

increases in 2008 were primarily due to increased catastrophe-related property claims as discussed below and

also due to technology-driven operating efficiencies resulting from our technology investments in this segment

Revenues before Reimbursements

U.S Property Casualty revenues before reimbursements increased 12.3% to $216.8 million in 2008

compared to $193.0 million in 2007 This 2008 increase was due primarily to increased property and
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catastrophic claims activity in 2008 which drove revenue increases in each of our major service lines

U.S Property Casualty revenues before reimbursements by major service line were as follows

2008 2007 Variance

In thousands

Claims Field Operations $153577 $150760 1.9%

Catastrophe Services 22924 8313 175.8%

Technical Services 28453 24625 15.5%

Contractor Connection 11799 9268 27.3%

Total U.S Property Casualty Revenues before

Reimbursements $216753 $192966 12.3%

U.S Property Casualty revenues before reimbursements increased net of 12.3% from 2007 to 2008

due to the following factors In 2008 revenues declined 0.2% due to the 2007 sale of our former subrogation

services business Revenues increased 10.7% from 2007 due to changes in the mix of services provided and in

the rates charged for those services Segment unit volume measured principally by cases received increased

1.8% from 2007 to 2008 The decrease in low-severity vehicle claims from our U.S insurance company clients

increased our average revenue per claim in 2008

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total revenues for our U.S Property Casualty

segment were $11.2 million in 2008 increasing from $10.8 million in 2007 The increase in 2008 was due

primarily to increased vehicle fuel costs and mileage reimbursements

Case Volume Analysis

Excluding the disposition of our subrogation services business in 2007 U.S Property Casualty unit

volumes by underlying case category as measured by cases received for 2008 and 2007 were as follows

2008 2007 Variance

Property 121332 92774 30.8%

Casualty 67157 82274 18.4%

Vehicle 76668 110435 30.6%

Warranty Services 57687 55406 4.1%

Workers Compensation 17214 20177 14.7%

Total Claims Field Operations 340058 361066 5.8%

Contractor Connection 86157 69084 24.7%

Catastrophe Services 24499 12012 104.0%

Technical Services 8101 8679 6.7%

Total U.S Property Casualty Cases Received 458815 450841 1.8%

The 2008 increases in property and catastrophe services claims were due primarily to severe weather in

2008 from Hurricanes Dolly Gustav and Ike and also due to storm activity in portions of Florida Louisiana

Texas Missouri Ohio and Pennsylvania Hurricanes Dolly Gustav and Ike generated over 24000 claims in

2008 The 2008 decrease in casualty claims was primarily due to reductions in claims referred from our

existing clients The 2008 decline in vehicle claims was due primarily to the decision of large client to

insource the handling of claims that were previously outsourced to us and also due to decisions by certain

insurance companies to reduce adjuster involvement in handling vehicle-related claims The 2008 increase in

warranty services claims was primarily due to increased claims from our existing and new clients The 2008

decrease in workers compensation claims was due primarily to lower referrals for outside investigations from

insurance carriers and from our Broadspire segment The 2008 increase in Contractor Connection cases was
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due to increases in referrals made within our managed repair network as result of catastrophic claims activity

and the expansion of our contractor network The 2008 decline in technical services claims was due to

declines in construction defect cases which were expected

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

U.S Property Casualty direct compensation and fringe benefits expense as percent of segment

revenues before reimbursements decreased to 61.8% in 2008 compared to 65.4% in 2007 This percentage

decrease in 2008 was due primarily to higher revenues and increased operating efficiencies obtained from the

Companys technology investments in this segment There was an average of 1676 FTEs including 132

catastrophe adjusters in 2008 compared to an average of 1746 including 62 catastrophe adjusters in 2007

During the 2008 fourth quarter we deployed over 300 catastrophe adjusters to the Gulf Coast region of the

U.S in response to hurricanes

U.S Property Casualty salaries and wages increased 8.0% to $111.6 million in 2008 from

$103.3 million in 2007 The increase in 2008 compared to 2007 was due primarily to higher incentive

compensation costs in 2008 related to the increase in operating earnings and revenues Incentive compensation

is variable and is primarily tied to growth in revenues and operating earnings and to reductions in days-

sales-outstanding measure for accounts receivable Payroll taxes and fringe benefits for U.S Property

Casualty totaled $22.4 million in 2008 decreasing 2.2% from 2007 expenses of $22.9 million The decrease in

2008 compared to 2007 was due primarily to the reduction in the number of average FTEs in 2008 in this

segment

Expenses Other than Reimbursements Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

U.S Property Casualty expenses other than reimbursements direct compensation and related payroll

taxes and fringe benefits decreased as percent of U.S Property Casualty revenues before reimbursements

to 27.8% in 2008 from 30.7% in 2007 The decrease in the amount as percentage of segment revenues

before reimbursements in 2008 was primarily due to higher revenues in 2008 as these expenses are typically

more fixed in nature The dollar amount of these expenses increased slightly in 2008 due mainly to the

increased number of catastrophe adjusters

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS SEGMENT

Operating Earnings

International Operations operating earnings increased to $38.9 million in 2008 an increase of 57.7%

from 2007 operating earnings of $24.7 million for the reasons described below This improvement reflected an

increase in the operating margin from 6.5% in 2007 to 8.7% in 2008

Revenues before Reimbursements

Revenues before reimbursements from our International Operations segment totaled $445.1 million in

2008 an 18.2% increase from the $376.6 million in 2007 This 2008 revenue increase was due to currency

exchange rates and changes in the mix of services provided and in the rates charged for those services

Compared to 2007 the U.S dollar was weaker in 2008 against most major foreign currencies resulting in

net exchange rate benefit in 2008 of 2.8% or $10.6 million Excluding the benefit of exchange rate

fluctuations International Operations revenues would have been $434.5 million in 2008 reflecting growth in
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revenues on constant dollar basis of 15.4% International Operations revenues before reimbursements by

major region were as follows

2008 2007 Variance

In thousands

United Kingdom $165167 $151640 8.9%

Canada 119405 90587 31.8%

CEMEA 93610 80140 16.8%

Asia/Pacific 52339 43316 20.8%

Americas 14535 10956 32.7%

Total International Operations Revenues before

Reimbursements $445056 $376639 18.2%

Excluding the disposition of Netherlands subsidiary in 2008 International Operations unit volume

measured principally by cases received declined 3.3% in 2008 compared to 2007 This decline primarily

reflected decreased case referrals during 2008 in the United Kingdom and CEMEA regions of our International

Operations segment as discussed below Revenues before reimbursements increased 18.9% from changes in

the mix of services provided and in the rates charged for those services During 2008 we entered into certain

new claim service agreements in our Canadian operations In the U.K substantial portion of the revenue

associated with flood-related claims initially reported in 2007 was earned in 2008 as we completed the

assignments In addition an overall decrease in high-frequency low severity claims increased our average

revenue per claim in 2008 The disposition of Netherlands business in 2008 decreased revenues by $576000

or 0.2% in 2008 compared to 2007

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses
included in total revenues for our International Operations

segment increased to $42.1 million in 2008 from $38.7 million in 2007 This increase in 2008 was due

primarily to increased out-of-pocket reimbursable expenses related to major Canadian service agreement and

also due to weaker U.S dollar in 2008

Case Volume Analysis

Excluding the impact of the 2008 disposition of the Netherlands business International Operations unit

volumes by region for 2008 and 2007 were as follows

2008 2007 Variance

United Kingdom 162380 196658 17.4%

Canada 165613 136084 21.7%

CEMEA 132485 148003 l0.5%

Asia/Pacific 95490 93216 2.4%

Americas 62783 65711 4.5%

Total International Operations Cases Received 618751 639672 3.3%

The 2008 decrease in the United Kingdom case volumes was due primarily to higher flood claims in the

prior year The higher case volume in Canada was due to storm-related activity during 2008 and higher case

volume from new and existing clients The decrease in CEMEA case volume was due primarily to reduction

in storm-related claims in the current year in France Holland and Germany and decrease in high frequency

low severity claims activity in Spain The 2008 decrease in the Americas case volumes was due primarily to

decrease in high-frequency low-severity claims activity in Brazil The 2008 increase in Asia-Pacific case

volumes was primarily due to high frequency low severity claims activity in China and Singapore and an

increase in weather-related activity in Australia
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Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

As percent of segment revenues before reimbursements direct compensation expense including related

payroll taxes and fringe benefits decreased to 68.1% in 2008 from 69.1% in 2007 This percentage decrease

in 2008 was primarily due to higher revenues in Canada and the U.K and the management of related

expenses There was an average of 4229 International Operations FTEs in 2008 up from 3702 in 2007

Salaries and wages of International Operations segment personnel increased 17.4% to $259.5 million in

2008 compared to $221.0 million in 2007 decreasing as percent of revenues before reimbursements from

58.7% in 2007 to 58.3% in 2008 The dollar amount of increase in these expenses
in 2008 was primarily

related to the increase in employees necessary to service the increased revenues and weaker U.S dollar

during 2008 Payroll taxes and fringe benefits increased 12.1% to $43.7 million in 2008 compared to

$39.0 million in 2007 decreasing as percent of revenues before reimbursements from 10.4% in 2007 to

9.8% in 2008

Expenses Other than Reimbursements Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Expenses other than reimbursements direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe benefits

decreased as percent of segment revenues before reimbursements from 24.4% in 2007 to 23.2% in 2008

This percentage decrease in 2008 was due primarily to increased operational efficiencies which allowed us to

service additional revenue without adding an equivalent amount of these costs which are generally more fixed

in nature

BROADSPIRE SEGMENT

Operating Earnings

Our Broadspire segment recorded operating earnings of $3.5 million or 1.1% of segment revenues before

reimbursements in 2008 compared to $3.1 million or 1.0% of segment revenues before reimbursements in

2007

Revenues before Reimbursements

Broadspire segment revenues before reimbursements decreased 3.0% to $311.8 million in 2008 compared

to $321.3 million in 2007 Unit volumes for the Broadspire segment measured principally by cases received

decreased 11.1% from 2007 to 2008 Revenues increased by 8.1% from changes in the mix of services

provided and in the rates charged for those services due to higher risk management information services

revenues and the higher utilization of medical management services resulting in net 3.0% decrease in

Broadspire segment revenues before reimbursements from 2007 to 2008 Broadspire revenues before reim

bursements by major service line were as follows

2008 2007 Variance

In thousands

Claim Management Services $145458 $151884 4.2%

Medical Management Services 145663 149459 2.5%

Risk Management Information Services 20720 19988 3.7%

Total Broadspire Revenues before Reimbursements $311841 $321331 .0%

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total revenues for our Broadspire segment were

$5.3 million in 2008 decreasing from $6.2 million in 2007 This 2008 decrease was primarily attributable to

the declines in case volumes
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Case Volume Analysis

Broadspire unit volumes by underlying case category as measured by cases received for 2008 and 2007

were as follows

2008 2007 Variance

Workers Compensation 162548 178782 9.l%

Casualty 73236 87417 16.2%

Other 14637 15645 6.4%

Total Broadspire Cases Received 250421 281844 1.l%

The 2008 decline in workers compensation claims reflected continuing decline in reported workplace

injuries in the U.S This decline has been decade-long trend and has resulted in loss in revenue from our

existing customer base The sharp increase in U.S unemployment levels in the 2008 fourth quarter also

negatively impacted workers compensation claim referrals The 2008 decline in casualty claims was primarily

due to reductions in claims from certain of our existing clients partially offset by net new business gains

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Broadspires direct compensation and fringe benefits expense as percent of the related revenues before

reimbursements decreased to 56.3% in 2008 compared to 57.1% in 2007 The decrease in 2008 was primarily

due to fewer FTEs in 2008 as result of reduced case volumes Average FTEs totaled 2362 in 2008 down

from 2506 in 2007

Broadspire segment salaries and wages decreased 4.3% to $144.8 million in 2008 from $151.3 million in

2007 Payroll taxes and fringe benefits for our Broadspire segment totaled $30.6 million in 2008 decreasing

5.0% from 2007 expenses
of $32.2 million These 2008 decreases were primarily the result of the reduction in

the number of FTEs in 2008

Expenses Other than Reimbursements Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Broadspire segment expenses other than reimbursements direct compensation and related payroll taxes

and fringe benefits increased as percent of segment revenues before reimbursements to 42.6% in 2008 from

1.9% in 2007 This percentage
increase was primarily due to lower revenue as the actual 2008 expenses

were down year-over-year
due primarily to lower provisions for doubtful accounts receivable and office

operating expenses in 2008

LEGAL SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATION SEGMENT

As of January 2008 our Strategic Warranty Services unit was transferred to our U.S Property

Casualty segment from our Legal Settlement Administration segment Segment results for prior periods have

been restated to reflect this transfer

Operating Earnings

Our Legal Settlement Administration segment reported 2008 operating earnings of $10.8 million increas

ing slightly from $10.7 million in 2007 with the related operating margin increasing from 12.7% in 2007 to

14.4% in 2008 for the reasons discussed below

Revenues before Reimbursements

Legal Settlement Administration revenues before reimbursements declined 11.0% to $74.9 million in

2008 compared to $84.2 million in 2007 Legal Settlement Administration revenues are project-based and can

fluctuate significantly due primarily to the timing of securities class action and bankruptcy settlements During

2008 we were awarded 182 new settlement administration assignments compared to 192 in 2007 At
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December 31 2008 we had backlog of awarded projects totaling approximately $41.9 million compared to

$45.0 million at December 31 2007

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total revenues for Legal Settlement Administra

tion were $28.7 million in 2008 increasing from $20.5 million in 2007 The increase in 2008 was due

primarily to large noticing projects in 2008 that required significant amounts of out-of-pocket reimbursable

expenses The nature and volume of work performed in our Legal Settlement Administration segment typically

require the incurrence of more reimbursable out-of pocket expenditures than our other operating segments

Transaction Volume

Legal Settlement Administration services are generally project-based and not denominated by individual

claims Depending upon the nature of projects and their respective stages of completion the volume of

transactions or tasks performed in this segment can vary sometimes significantly in any given period For this

reason period-over-period comparisons are generally not meaningful

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Legal Settlement Administrations direct compensation expense including related payroll taxes and fringe

benefits as percent of segment revenues before reimbursements increased to 47.2% in 2008 compared to

46.9% in 2007 The 2008 percentage increase was primarily due to declines in revenues The 2008 decrease in

the dollar amount of these expenses was due primarily to the reduced number of FTEs in 2008 and reduced

incentive compensation expenses in 2008 There was an average of 336 FTEs in 2008 compared to an average

of 412 in 2007

Legal Settlement Administration salaries and wages including incentive compensation decreased 10.1%

to $31.0 million in 2008 from $34.5 million in 2007 This 2008 decrease was primarily the result of lower

incentive compensation cost as result of lower revenues and the decrease in the number of FTEs Payroll

taxes and fringe benefits for Legal Settlement Administration totaled $4.4 million in 2008 decreasing 12.0%

from 2007 expenses of $5.0 million This 2008 decrease was primarily the result of the decrease in the number

of FTEs in 2008

Expenses Other than Reimbursements Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits

Legal Settlement Administration expenses other than reimbursements direct compensation and related

payroll taxes and fringe benefits decreased as percent of related segment revenues before reimbursements to

38.4% in 2008 from 40.4% in 2007 The 2008 decrease was primarily due to changes in the utilization of

outsourced service providers

Expenses and Gains Excluded from Segment Operating Earnings

Income Taxes

Income tax provisions totaled $2.6 million $11.6 million and $5.4 million for 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively Our consolidated effective income tax rate for financial reporting purposes may change periodi

cally due to changes in enacted tax rates fluctuations in the mix of income earned from our various domestic

and international operations which may be subject to differing tax rates our ability to utilize net operating loss

and tax credit carryforwards and amounts related to uncertain income tax positions Our effective tax rate

including discrete items and adjustments related to uncertain tax positions for financial reporting purposes

was 2.3% 26.0% and 24.8% for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Compared to 2007 and 2008 our

effective tax rate was lower in 2009 After adjusting for the $140.3 million non-deductible goodwill charge

our effective tax rate was 9.7% in 2009 The lower rate in 2009 was due to one-time $3.3 million income

tax benefit for foreign tax credits and $2.4 million in ongoing reduced foreign taxes as result of the

completion of an internal restructuring of certain of our international operations in the second quarter of 2009

40



Based on our 2010 operating plans we anticipate our effective tax rate for financial reporting purposes in

2010 to be in the 23% to 25% range

Management believes that it is more likely than not that we will realize our net deferred tax assets based

on our forecast of future taxable income Our most significant deferred tax asset is related to the unfunded

liability of our defined benefit pension plans The tax deduction for defined benefit pension plans generally

occurs upon actual funding Assuming that the estimated minimum funding requirements for the defined

benefit pension plans are met the deferred tax asset should be realized In accordance with GAAP we have

considered the four possible sources of taxable income that may be available to realize tax benefit for

deductible temporary differences and carryforwards and have recorded $9.6 million valuation allowance on

certain net operating loss carryforwards in our international operations Future changes in the valuation

allowance will not affect our liquidity or our compliance with any existing debt covenants

Net Corporate Interest Expense

Net corporate interest expense
is comprised of interest expense

that we incur on our short- and long-term

borrowings partially offset by interest income we earn on available cash balances and short-term investments

These amounts vary based on interest rates borrowings outstanding and the amounts of invested cash and

investments Interest expense is also impacted by our interest rate swap agreements Corporate interest expense

totaled $15.2 million $19.6 million and $19.2 million for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The decrease in

interest expense
in 2009 compared to 2008 and 2007 was due primarily to lower interest rates and lower levels

of outstanding borrowings in 2009 Corporate interest income totaled $1.1 million $2.0 million and

$1.9 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Corporate interest income decreased in 2009 compared to

2008 and 2007 primarily due to the overall decline in interest rates during 2009 and lower levels of available

cash balances for investing during the course of 2009

Amortization of Customer-Relationship Intangible Assets

Amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets represents the non-cash amortization expense of

customer-relationship intangible assets arising from our 2006 acquisitions of Broadspire Management Services

Inc and Specialty Liability Services Ltd Amortization expense associated with these intangible assets totaled

$6.0 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively This amortization is included in Selling General and

Administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations

Stock Option Expense

Stock option expense component of stock-based compensation expense is comprised of non-cash

expenses related to stock options granted under our various stock option and employee stock purchase plans

Most of our stock options were granted prior to 2005 Stock option expense of $914000 $861000 and

$1.2 million was recognized during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Other stock-based compensation

expense related to our Executive Stock Bonus Plan pursuant to which we have authority to grant performance

shares and restricted shares is charged to our four operating segments and included in the determination of

segment operating earnings

Unallocated Corporate and Shared Costs

Certain unallocated costs and credits are excluded from the determination of segment operating earnings

These unallocated corporate and shared costs primarily represent pension costs or credits related to our frozen

U.S defined benefit pension plan expenses for our CEO and our Board of Directors relocation costs

associated with the 2007 move of our corporate headquarters certain adjustments to our self-insured liabilities

certain software costs and certain adjustments to our allowances for doubtful accounts receivable From time

to time we evaluate which corporate costs and credits are appropriately allocated to our four operating

segments If changes are made to our allocation methodology prior period allocations are revised to conform

to our then-current allocation methodology
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Unallocated corporate and shared costs were net expense of $10.7 million $6.7 million and $8.9 million

in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively These costs increased in 2009 compared to 2008 due primarily to

$12.1 million increase in U.S defined benefit pension expense partially offset by lower self-insurance

expenses and lower incentive compensation expense for our CEO Unallocated corporate and shared costs in

2008 also included loss of approximately $900000 on the sublease of portion of Legal Settlement

Administration facility This loss affects the comparison of 2009 to 2008 and 2008 to 2007 Unallocated

corporate and shared costs decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 due primarily to $5.0 million decrease in

U.S defined benefit pension expense partially offset by higher self-insurance expenses and higher incentive

compensation expense for our CEO In addition during 2007 we incurred moving and relocation expenses

associated with the move of our corporate headquarters and had lower expenses due to bad debt recovery

that was not allocated to any of our operating segments

Other Gains and Expenses

Due to declines in then-current and forecasted operating results for our Broadspire reportable segment

and reporting unit the impact that declining U.S employment levels have had on Broadspires revenue and

the weakness in our stock prices we recorded noncash goodwill and other intangible asset impairment charges

of $140.9 million in 2009 The $140.3 million goodwill impairment charge is not deductible for income tax

purposes The intangible asset portion of the charge relates to the value of trade name indefinite-lived

intangible asset used in small portion of the Broadspire reporting unit and was $600000 of the total charge

Other gains and expenses in 2009 consisted of restructuring and other costs that totaled $4.1 million

before income taxes Included in the restructuring and other costs are $1.8 million loss on the partial

sublease of our Broadspire facility in Plantation Florida $1.8 million in professional fees related to the

internal realignment of certain of our legal entities in the U.S and internationally in 2008 and 2009 and

$400000 in severance expense in our International Operations segment This realignment did not impact the

composition of our segments for financial reporting purposes

Other gains and expenses in 2008 consisted of $3.3 million of pre-tax restructuring charges partially

offset by $2.5 million non-taxable gain on the sale of the Netherlands subsidiary The $3.3 million

restructuring charges consisted of $1.8 million for severance and other costs in our International Operations

segment $300000 for severance costs in our U.S Property and Casualty segment and $1.2 million for

professional fees incurred in connection with the internal realignment previously discussed

Other gains and expenses in 2007 consisted of $4.0 million pre-tax gain from the sale of our

subrogation services business and $4.8 million pre-tax gain from the sale of the land and building utilized as

our former corporate headquarters in Atlanta Georgia

During October 2009 we entered into an agreement to sublease portion of our leased Broadspire office

building located in Plantation Florida The agreement currently provides the sublessor with options to sublease

all or portion of the remainder of the building at various dates in 2010 The sublease is for the remaining

term of the lease In February 2010 the subtenant exercised one of its options for additional space in the

building and the sublessor may still exercise its option in 2010 for all of the remaining space We have entered

into new lease for our Broadspire operations in Plantation and expect to vacate the current premises in April

2010 In connection with our move and the subleases we estimate moving and sublease losses could be

approximately $3.5 million in 2010 These charges represent the loss on the sublease space and the cost of

moving from the current facility into the new facility

Liquidity Capital Resources and Financial Condition

We continue to evaluate current and forecasted economic conditions and their potential implications for

us including among other things estimating the fair value of our financial instruments asset impairments

liquidity compliance with our debt covenants and relationships with our financing agreement counterparties

and customers
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Currently we believe that all of our material financial assets subject to fair value accounting have readily

observable market prices Most of our liquid assets are invested in cash and cash equivalents consisting of

payable-on-demand
bank deposit accounts and short-term money market funds However the recent financial

crisis which affected the banking system and financial markets and the going-concern threats to banks and

other financial institutions has resulted in significant market volatility As result we intend to continue to

monitor these assets for any changes in marketability While we are not aware of any losses or expected

losses related to these bank deposits or money market funds in the U.S or abroad we cannot provide any

assurances that future market events will not materially adversely impact the values of any
such assets

We are not aware of any
additional restrictions placed on us or being considered to be placed on us

related to our ability to access capital such as borrowing against the revolving credit portion of our Credit

Agreement defined below We do not rely on repurchase agreements or the commercial paper market to meet

our short-term or long-term funding needs At December 31 2009 we were in compliance with all of the

covenants in our Credit Agreement The previously discussed noncash impairment charges for goodwill and an

intangible asset in 2009 did not impact this covenant compliance As previously disclosed and described

below we entered into an amendment to our Credit Agreement in the fourth quarter of 2009 in order to extend

the maturity date of the revolving credit facility and to obtain certain additional operational and financing

flexibility

In May 2007 we entered into three-year interest rate swap agreement that effectively converts the

LIBOR-based portion of the interest rate under our Credit Agreement on an initial notional amount of

$175.0 million of our floating-rate debt to fixed rate of 5.25% $80.0 million at December 31 2009 This

swap expires on May 31 2010 In November 2009 the Company entered into two-year forward-starting

interest rate swap agreement that is effective beginning on June 30 2010 The swap effectively converts the

LIBOR-based portion of the interest rate on an initial notional amount of $90.0 million of the Companys

floating-rate debt to fixed rate of 3.05% plus the applicable credit spread The Company designated the

interest rate swap as cash flow hedge of
exposure to changes in cash flows due to changes in interest rates

on an equivalent amount of debt The notional amount of the swap is reduced to $85.0 million on March 31

2011 to match the expected repayment of the Companys outstanding debt The swap expires on September 30

2012

In connection with the Fifth Amendment to the Companys Credit Agreement dated as of October 31

2006 by and among the Company Crawford Company International Inc SunTrust Bank as agent and

lender and the other lenders party thereto as amended the Credit Agreement executed on October 27

2009 the May 2007 interest rate swap was discontinued as cash flow hedge of exposure to changes in cash

flows due to changes in interest rates Accordingly any future changes in the fair value of this swap agreement

will be recorded by the Company as an expense adjustment rather than component of the Companys

accumulated other comprehensive loss Such amount was not material for the year ended December 31 2009

The amount in accumulated comprehensive loss at the time the hedge was discontinued was $2652000 and

was $1593000 at December 31 2009 Because it is still probable that the forecasted transactions that were

hedged will occur this loss on the interest rate swap agreement will be reclassified into earnings as an

increase to interest expense over the remaining life of the interest rate swap agreement as the forecasted

transactions occur Although highly unlikely should it become probable that the forecasted transactions will

not occur any amount in accumulated other comprehensive loss at such time would be reclassified as an

expense adjustment

We continue the ongoing monitoring of our customers ability to pay us for the services that we render to

them However we have not experienced recent increases in bad-debt-related charge-offs of our accounts

receivable Based on historical results we currently believe there is low likelihood that writeoffs of our

accounts receivable will have material impact on our financial results However if one or more of our key

customers files bankruptcy or otherwise becomes unable to make required payments to us or if overall

economic conditions continue to deteriorate we may need to make material provisions in the future to increase

our allowance for accounts receivable
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Our International Operations segment exposes us to foreign currency exchange rate changes that can

impact translations of foreign-denominated assets and liabilities into U.S dollars and future earnings and cash

flows from transactions denominated in different currencies Changes in the relative values of non-U.S curren

cies to the U.S dollar affect our financial results Increases in the value of the U.S dollar compared to the

other functional currencies in the locations in which we do business have negatively impacted our revenues

and operating earnings in 2009 compared to recent years We can not predict the impact that foreign currency

exchanges rates may have on our future revenues or operating earnings in our International Operations

segment

Rising unemployment levels in the United States particularly in late 2008 and 2009 have resulted in an

industry-wide reduction in the number of employment-related claim referrals such as workers compensation

claims Our Broadspire segment has been negatively impacted by this resulting in 12.5% decrease in

workers compensation claim referrals in 2009 compared to 2008 This trend may continue or stabilize

depending on future employment levels or changes in workplace safety guidelines many of which are beyond

our control In addition we have seen decade-long trend in the U.S of decline in the number of reported

injuries in the workplace which we attribute to the shift of the U.S economy to service-related industries

from manufacturing-related industries This trend has lowered the occurrence of workers compensation

claims

At December 31 2009 our working capital balance current assets less current liabilities was approxi

mately $66.7 million an increase of $7.4 million from the working capital balance at December 31 2008 The

primary causes of this increase at December 31 2009 were net reduction of $30.0 million in current

liabilities offset partially by $23.5 net decrease in accounts receivable and unbilled revenues During 2009

$15.1 million of cash was used to fund our defined benefit pension plans in the U.S and U.K Cash and cash

equivalents at the end of 2009 totaled $70.4 million decreasing $2.8 million from $73.1 million at the end of

2008

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities decreased by $19.9 million in 2009 from $71.6 million in 2008 to

$51.7 million in 2009 This decrease was due primarily to lower net income and reductions in other current

liabilities partially offset by continuing improvements in receivables management In 2009 we reduced the

average days-sales-outstanding in billed and unbilled accounts receivable by nearly days The 2009 cash

flow from operations included $10.3 million in contributions to our frozen U.S defined benefit plan In 2010

we plan to make contributions of $4.3 million to our U.S defined contribution retirement plans $33.5 million

to our U.S defined benefit pension plan including discretionary $10.0 million contribution which was made

in January 2010 and $8.0 million to our U.K defined benefit pension plans We expect to fund these

contributions with cash provided by operating activities in 2010 which we expect to be less than 2009 as

result Interest payments on our debt were $14.3 million in 2009 and tax payments net of refunds were

$10.3 million in 2009

Cash provided by operating activities increased by $47.7 million in 2008 from $23.3 million in 2007 to

$71.0 million in 2008 This increase was due primarily to higher net income and improved receivables

management offset partially by increased cash contributions to our underfunded defined benefit pension plans

In 2008 we reduced the average days-sales-outstanding in billed and unbilled accounts receivable by 19 days

The 2008 improvement in cash flow from operations was net of $17.4 million in additional contributions to

our frozen U.S defined benefit pension plan Interest payments on our debt were $19.0 million in 2008 and

tax payments net of refunds were $8.0 million in 2008

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities increased by $3.1 million in 2009 from $28.0 million in 2008 to

$31.2 million in 2009 Cash used to acquire property and equipment and capitalized software including

capitalization of internal software development costs was $24.7 million in 2009 compared to $32.0 million in

2008 During 2009 we made cash payments for acquisitions of $6.3 million primarily consisting of earnout
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payments due on the 2002 acquisition of Robertson and Company Group We estimate our property and

equipment additions in 2010 including capitalized software will approximate $27.0 million

Cash used in investing activities increased by $8.9 million in 2008 from $19.1 million in 2007 to

$28.0 million in 2008 Cash used to acquire property and equipment and capitalized software including

internal software development costs was $32.0 million in 2008 compared to $28.1 million in 2007 Net cash

proceeds from the sale of Netherlands business were $4.3 million in 2008

Cash Used in Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $26.6 million in 2009 In 2009 we repaid net of $20.7 million of

short- and long-term borrowings and incurred $4.1 million of costs in connection with various amendments to

our Credit Agreement Also in 2009 we used shares of our Class common stock to settle $1.9 million of

withholding taxes owed on the issuance of restricted and performance shares

Cash used in financing activities was $12.8 million in 2008 In 2008 we repaid net of $14.2 million of

short-term and long-term borrowings

Cash used in financing activities was $17.3 million in 2007 In 2007 we repaid net of $17.0 million of

short-term and long-term borrowings

The Company may be required to make additional annual debt repayments
if the Company generates

excess cash flows or fails to meet certain leverage ratios as defined in the Credit Agreement For the year

ended December 31 2009 the Company anticipates an excess cash flow payment of approximately $5.9 mil

lion will be made on March 31 2010

Other Matters Concerning Liquidity and Capital Resources

As component of our Credit Agreement we maintain committed $100.0 million revolving credit line

with syndication of lenders in order to meet seasonal working capital requirements and other financing needs

that may arise This revolving credit line expires on October 30 2013 As component of this credit line we

maintain letter of credit facility to satisfy certain contractual obligations Including $19.6 million and

$19.9 million of undrawn letters of credit issued under the letter of credit facility the balance of our unused

line of credit totaled $80.4 million and $68.3 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively Our short-

term debt obligations typically peak during the first quarter of each year due to the annual payment of

incentive compensation contributions to retirement plans and certain other recurring payments and generally

decline during the balance of the year At December 31 2009 and 2008 the outstanding balances under our

revolving line of credit facility were zero and $13.4 million respectively Long-term borrowings outstanding

including current installments totaled $181.3 million as of December 31 2009 compared to $183.5 million at

December 31 2008 We have historically used the proceeds from our long-term borrowings to finance among

other things business acquisitions

As disclosed in Note Interest Rate Swap Agreements to our accompanying audited consolidated

financial statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K we have three principal financial

covenants in our Credit Agreement Of the three financial covenants contained in our Credit Agreement we

believe the leverage ratio covenant is potentially the most restrictive This covenant requires us to comply with

maximum leverage ratio defined in our Credit Agreement as the ratio of consolidated total funded debt to

earnings before interest expense income taxes depreciation amortization stock-based compensation expense

and certain other charges and expenses EBITDA of no more than 3.25 to 1.00 from December 31

2009 through March 31 2011 ii 3.00 to 1.00 from June 30 2011 through March 31 2012 iii 2.75 to 1.00

from June 30 2012 through September 30 2012 and iv 2.50 to 1.00 after December 31 2012 At

December 31 2009 our actual leverage ratio was 2.52 to 1.00 compared to the maximum of 3.25 to 1.00

allowed by our Credit Agreement As noted above the maximum allowable leverage ratio remains at 3.25 to

1.00 for all of 2010 Based on our financial plans we expect to remain in compliance with all required

covenants throughout 2010 Our compliance with the leverage ratio is particularly sensitive to changes in our
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EBITDA and if our financial plans for 2010 or other future periods do not meet our current projections we

could fail to remain in compliance with this or other financial covenants in our Credit Agreement

Our compliance with the leverage ratio covenant is also sensitive to changes in our level of consolidated

total funded debt as defined in our Credit Agreement In addition to short- and long-term borrowings capital

leases and bank overdrafts among other things consolidated total funded debt includes letters of credit which

can fluctuate based on our business requirements An increase in borrowings under our Credit Agreement

could negatively impact our leverage ratio unless those increased borrowings are offset by corresponding

increase in our EBITDA In addition reduction in EBITDA in the future could limit our ability to utilize

available credit under the revolving credit facility contained in our Credit Agreement which could negatively

impact our ability to fund our current operations or make needed capital investments

In February and October 2009 we entered into separate amendments to our Credit Agreement The

February amendment was undertaken to allow us to enhance certain operational and financial aspects of our

business including among other things undertaking an internal corporate realignment of certain of our

operating subsidiaries and assets This realignment has been completed In addition the amendment provided

us with the ability to repurchase and retire from time to time through December 2010 up to $250 million of

our outstanding term debt under the Credit Agreement

The October amendment affected the following changes to the Companys Credit Agreement among

others

providing the Company the option subject to its receipt of additional commitments to increase the

revolving commitment amount or incur additional term loans under the Credit Agreement of up to

maximum of $50.0 million in aggregate

extending the revolving credit termination date to October 30 2013 which is coterminous with the

term loan maturity date thereunder

modifying the restricted payments basket by eliminating the Restricted Payments Coverage Ratio as

defined test and allowing certain payments such as the payment of dividends among other items in

certain amounts in any four-quarter period depending upon the Companys pro forma Leverage Ratio

as defined

imposing LIBOR floor of 2.0% on all loans under the Credit Agreement

increasing the Applicable Margin as defined and applicable commitment fee percentage and modify

ing the various leverage ratio thresholds upon which the Applicable Margin and applicable commitment

fee percentage is based and adjusted from time to time

increasing the unsecured indebtedness basket from $5.0 million to $200 million provided that 50% of

the proceeds thereof are applied as mandatory prepayment to the term loans and revolving loans in

that order under the Credit Agreement and

providing for certain upward adjustments to the maximum leverage ratio

We believe our current financial resources together with funds generated from operations and existing

and potential borrowing capabilities will be sufficient to maintain our current operations for the next

12 months The most significant obligation we currently have which will become due after 12 months is the

repayment of our Term Loan which is required in October 2013 We currently intend to enter into new credit

facility by December 31 2012 We expect that we would use proceeds thereof to repay amounts outstanding

under the term loan and along with funds generated from operations provide financial flexibility beyond

2012 No assurances can be provided that we will be able to enter into new credit facility in timely

manner or as to the terms or requirements thereunder
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Contractual Obligations

As of December 31 2009 the impact that our contractual obligations including estimated interest

payments are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods is as follows

Note references in the following table refer to the note in the accompanying audited consolidated

financial statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Payments Due by Period

One Year to to After

or Less Years Years Years Total

In thousands

Operating lease obligations Note $51723 $76097 49728 $61756 $239304

Long-term debt including current portions

Note 8029 4307 168500 180836

Estimated interest rate swap settlements Note 2067 2067

Capital lease obligations Note 160 219 35
_______

414

Total before interest payments 61979 80623 218263 61756 422621

Estimated interest payments for

Term loan 9213 17941 7344
_______

34498

Total contractual obligations $71192 $98564 $225607 $61756 $457119

Approximately $15.0 million of operating lease obligations included in the table above are expected to be

funded by sublessors under existing sublease agreements

We are required to make substantial future payments on borrowings outstanding under our Credit

Agreement which payments will vary based on prevailing interest rates Based on interest rates and borrowings

at December 31 2009 the preceding table shows estimated future interest payments over the remaining term of

the term loan and revolving credit facility under our Credit Agreement after considering the impact of required

minimum quarterly principal payments on the term loan facility The actual amounts of interest that we will

ultimately pay will likely differ from the amounts presented above due to future changes in interest rates which

we are unable to predict and possibly due to any accelerated principal payments that we may voluntarily make

The Company may be required to make additional annual debt repayments if the Company generates

excess cash flows and fails to meet certain leverage ratios as defined in the Credit Agreement For the year

ended December 31 2009 the Company anticipates an excess cash flow payment of approximately $5.9 mil

lion to be made on March 31 2010

At December 31 2009 we had approximately $2.9 million of unrecognized income tax benefits related

to uncertain tax positions We cannot reasonably estimate when all of these unrecognized income tax benefits

may be settled However it is reasonably possible that reduction in the range of $50000 to $300000 of

unrecognized income tax benefits may occur within the next twelve months as result of projected resolutions

of income tax uncertainties

Defined Benefit Pension Funding and Cost

Future cash funding of our defined benefit pension plans will depend largely on future investment

performance interest rates changes to mortality tables and regulatory requirements Effective December 31

2002 we froze our U.S defined benefit pension plan The aggregate deficit in the funded status of our defined

benefit pension plans totaled $216.3 million and $183.3 million at the end of 2009 and 2008 respectively The

2009 increase in the funding deficit of our defined benefit pension plans primarily resulted from the decline in

the discount rate used to determine the present value of the U.S pension obligation For 2010 we expect to

make contributions of approximately $33.5 million including $10.0 discretionary contribution which was

made in January 2010 and $8.0 million to our U.S and U.K defined benefit pension plans respectively

During 2009 we made contributions of $10.3 million and $4.8 million to our U.S and U.K defined benefit

pension plans respectively

Net periodic benefit cost credit for our defined benefit pension plans totaled $15.6 million $787000

and $7.9 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Net periodic pension costs for 2010 are expected to be
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approximately $11.8 million for our U.S and U.K defined benefit pension plans At December 31 2008 we

determined that almost all plan participants in our U.S defined benefit pension plan are inactive as less than

3.0% are still accruing meaningful vesting service Accordingly beginning in 2009 actuarial gains and losses

for our U.S defined benefit pension plan are being amortized over the average future lifetime of the inactive

participants 24.3 years rather than the remaining service lives of the active participants 7.8 years This

change in estimate reduced net periodic pension cost by $7.1 million in 2009 and is reflected in the 2009

expected net periodic pension costs amount as discussed above

In 2006 the Pension Protection Act of 2006 PPA was signed into U.S law The Act among others things

introduced new funding requirements for our frozen U.S defined benefit pension plan and impacts financial

reporting for these plans The requirements of the Act were effective for plan years beginning after December 31

2007 PPA was thereafter amended by the Worker Retiree and Employer Recovery Act of 2008 WRERA Our

frozen U.S defined benefit pension plan was underfunded by $159 million at December 31 2009 based on an

accumulated benefit obligation of $420 million Based on current assumptions of 5.88% for the interest rate to

discount plan liabilities and 8.50% for the expected long-term rate of return on the plans assets we estimate that

we will have to make the following annual minimum contributions over the next eight years to our frozen

U.S defined benefit pension plan in order to meet the funding requirements under PPA and WRERA

Estimated .1inimum
Year Funded Funding Requirement

In thousands

2010 $33500

2011 21600

2012 31100

2013 30800

2014 23300

2015 15500

2016 8100

2017 2700

The estimated annual minimum contributions in the above table are sensitive to changes in the expected rate

of return on plan assets and the discount rate used to determine the present value of projected benefits payable

under the plan If our assumption for the expected return on plan assets of our U.S defined benefit pension plan

increased by 1.00% representing an increase in the expected return our estimated cumulative minimum funding

requirements for 2011 2017 would decrease by approximately $11.4 million If our assumption for the expected

return on plan assets of our U.S defined benefit pension plan decreased by 1.00% representing decrease in the

expected return our estimated cumulative minimum funding requirements for 2011 through 2017 would increase

by approximately $12.8 million If our assumption for the discount rate used to determine the present value of

projected benefits payable under the plan decreased by 1.00% representing decrease in the interest rate used to

value pension plan liabilities our estimated cumulative minimum funding requirements for 2011 through 2017

would increase by approximately $39.7 million If our assumption for the discount rate used to determine the

present value of projected benefits payable under the plan increased by 1.00% representing an increase in the

interest rate used to value pension plan liabilities our estimated cumulative minimum funding requirements for

2011 through 2017 would decrease by approximately $33.0 million

Commercial Commitments

As component of our Credit Agreement we maintain letter of credit facility to satisfy certain

contractual obligations At December 31 2009 the total issued but undrawn letters of credit totaled

approximately $19.6 million These letters of credit expire as follows

Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

One Year to to After

or Less Years Years Years Total

In thousands

Standby Letters of Credit $19569 $19569
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31 2009 we were not party to any off-balance sheet arrangements other than operating

leases which could materially impact our operations financial condition or cash flows We have certain

material obligations under operating lease agreements to which we are party In accordance with GAAP
these operating lease obligations and the related leased assets are not reported on our consolidated balance

sheet

We maintain funds in trusts to administer claims for certain clients These funds are not available for our

general operating activities and as such have not been recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets We have concluded that we do not have material off-balance sheet financial risk related to these funds

at December 31 2009

Income Taxes

Legislation enacted on November 2009 contained provision that allowed U.S businesses with net

operating losses NOL in 2008 or 2009 to carry those losses back five
years

and obtain tax refunds We

filed carryback claim for our 2008 U.S NOL and anticipate receiving $4.2 million tax refund in the first

quarter of 2010 It is possible that cash outlays for income taxes may exceed income tax expense during the

next three years as some deferred tax liabilities may enter into the determination of current taxable income

Changes in Financial Condition

The following addresses changes in our financial condition not addressed elsewhere in this MDA

Significant changes in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2009 compared to our

consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2008 are as follows

In addition to the noncash goodwill impairment charge of $140.3 million related to Broadspire

goodwill increased $1.0 million in the U.S Property Casualty segment due to goodwill associated

with 2009 acquisition and $10.6 million in our International Operations segment The International

Operations segment amount resulted from earnout payments recorded in goodwill during 2009 that

totaled $1.5 million with currency translation accounting for substantially all of the remaining change

Deferred revenues decreased by $15.3 million or $15.8 million net of currency translations Deferred

revenues in our Broadspire segment decreased $17.1 million due to the ongoing completion of open

claims assumed in our 2006 acquisition of Broadspire Management Services Inc net of additional

deferred revenues generated by new claims in 2009 Deferred revenues in our Legal Settlement

Administration segment increased $2.3 million due mainly to new projects awarded in 2009

Accrued compensation and related costs decreased approximately $6.9 million due to decreased
expense

accruals in 2009 under various performance-based incentive compensation plans

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

MDA addresses our consolidated financial statements which are prepared in accordance with

U.S GAAP The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the

date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting

period On an ongoing basis we evaluate these estimates and judgments based upon historical experience and

various other factors that we believe are reasonable under then-existing circumstances The results of these

evaluations form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not

readily apparent from other sources Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions

or conditions

As disclosed in Note Major Accounting and Reporting Policies to our accompanying audited

consolidated financial statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K the financial statements of

subsidiaries in our International Operations segment other than subsidiaries in Canada and the Caribbean are
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included in our consolidated financial statements on two-month delayed basis fiscal year end of October

31 as permitted by GAAP in order to provide sufficient time for accumulation of their results

We believe the following critical accounting policies for revenue recognition allowance for doubtful

accounts valuation of goodwill indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets defined benefit

pension plans determination of our effective tax rate for financial reporting purposes and self-insured risks

require significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements

Changes in these underlying estimates could potentially materially affect consolidated results of operations

financial position and cash flows in the period of change Although some variability is inherent in these

estimates the amounts provided for are based on the best information available to us and we believe these

estimates are reasonable

We have discussed the following critical accounting policies and estimates with the Audit Committee of

our Board of Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed our related disclosure in this MDA

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues are primarily comprised of claims processing or program administration fees Fees for

professional services are recognized as unbilled revenues at estimated collectible amounts at the time such

services are rendered Substantially all unbilled revenues are billed within one year Out-of-pocket costs

incurred in administering claim are typically passed on to our clients and included in our revenues for all

purposes under GAAP Deferred revenues represent the estimated unearned portion of fees related to future

services under certain fixed-fee service arrangements Deferred revenues are recognized based on the estimated

rate at which the services are provided These rates are primarily based on an evaluation of historical claim

closing rates by major lines of coverage Additionally recent claim closing rates are evaluated to ensure that

current claim closing history does not indicate significant deterioration or improvement in the longer-term

historical closing rates used

Our fixed-fee service arrangements typically call for us to handle claims on either one- or two-year

basis or for the lifetime of the claim In cases where we handle claim on non-lifetime basis we typically

receive an additional fee on each anniversary date that the claim remains open For service arrangements

where we provide services for the life of the claim we are only paid one fee for the life of the claim

regardless of the ultimate duration of the claim As result our deferred revenues for claims handled for one

or two years are not as sensitive tc changes in claim closing rates since the revenues are ultimately recognized

in the near future and additional fees are generated for handling long-lived claims Deferred revenues for

lifetime claim handling are considered more sensitive to changes in claim closing rates since we are obligated

to handle these claims to their ultimate conclusion with no additional fees for long-lived claims

Based upon our historical averages we close approximately 99% of all cases referred to us under lifetime

claim service arrangements within five years from the date of referral Also within that five-year period the

percentage of claims remaining open in any one particular year has remained relatively consistent from period

to period Each quarter we evaluate our historical claim closing rates by major line of insurance coverage and

make adjustments as necessary Any changes in estimates are recognized in the period in which they are

determined

As of December 31 2009 deferred revenues related to lifetime claim handling arrangements approxi

mated $61.6 million If the rate at which we close cases changes the amount of revenues recognized within

period could be affected In addition given the competitive environment in which we operate we may be

unable to raise our prices to offset the additional expense associated with handling longer-lived claims should

such case closing rates change The change in our first-year case closing rates over the last ten years has

ranged from decrease of 3.4% to an increase of 1.7% and has averaged 1.1% 1% change is reasonable

likely change in our estimate based on historical data Absent an increase in per-claim fees from our clients

decrease in claim closing rates for lifetime claims would have resulted in the deferral of additional

revenues of approximately $1.8 million $1.8 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively If our average claim closing rates for lifetime claims increased by 1% we
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would have recognized additional revenues of approximately $1.9 million $1.9 million and $1.8 million for

the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our

clients to make required payments and adjustments to invoiced amounts Losses resulting from the inability of

clients to make required payments are accounted for as bad debt expense while adjustments to invoices are

accounted for as reductions to revenues These allowances are established by using historical write-off

information intended to determine future loss expectations and by considering the current credit worthiness of

our clients any known specific collection problems and our assessment of current industry conditions Actual

experience may differ significantly from historical or expected loss results Each quarter we evaluate the

adequacy of the assumptions used in determining these allowances and make adjustments as necessary

Changes in estimates are recognized in the period in which they are determined Historically our estimates

have been materially accurate

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 our allowance for doubtful accounts totaled $12.0 million and

$12.3 million respectively or approximately 7.9% and 7.3% respectively of gross billed receivables If the

financial condition of our clients deteriorates resulting in an inability to make required payments to us or if

economic conditions continue to deteriorate additional allowances may be required If the allowance for

doubtful accounts changed by of gross billed receivables reflecting either an increase or decrease in

expected future write-offs the impact to 2009 2008 and 2007 consolidated pretax income would have been

approximately $1.5 million $1.7 million and $2.0 million respectively

Valuation of Goodwill Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets

We regularly evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred which indicate that the carrying

amounts of goodwill indefinite-lived intangible assets or other long-lived assets have been impaired Our

indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trade names associated with acquired businesses Our other long-lived

assets consist primarily of property and equipment deferred income tax assets capitalized software and

amortizable intangible assets related to customer relationships and technology When factors indicate that such

assets should be evaluated for possible impairment we perform an impairment test We believe our goodwill

indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets were appropriately valued and not impaired at

December 31 2009 As discussed below in 2009 we recognized pretax impairment charges totaling $140.9 million

related primarily to goodwill impairment charge in our Broadspire reporting unit and segment

We perform an annual impairment analysis of goodwill in which we compare the carrying value of our

reporting units to the estimated market value of those reporting units as determined by discounting future

projected cash flows Based upon our scheduled annual analyses completed in the 2009 2008 and 2007 fourth

quarters we did not have an impairment of goodwill in 2009 2008 or 2007 However as discussed below we

did recognize an impairment charge during 2009 prior to the annual impairment analysis The estimated

market values of our reporting units are based upon certain assumptions made by us The estimated market

values of our reporting units are reconciled to the Companys market value as determined by its stock price in

order to validate the reasonableness of the estimated market values The reasonableness of the implied control

premium estimated from the reconciliation of the sum of the reporting units fair values to the overall

company fair value is determined by evaluating it against publicly available information about control

premiums in recent transactions Except as discussed below the estimated market value of all of our reporting

units significantly exceeded the carrying values of the reporting units

Due to declines in current and forecasted operating results for our Broadspire reportable segment and

reporting unit the impact that declining U.S employment levels have had on Broadspires revenue and the

weakness in our stock prices we recorded noncash goodwill and intangible asset impairment charge of

$140.9 million in 2009 The $140.3 million goodwill impairment charge is not deductible for income tax

purposes The other intangible asset portion of the charge relates to the value of trade name indefinite-lived

intangible asset used in small portion of the Broadspire reporting unit and was $600000 of the total charge
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These impairment charges are not reflected in Broadspires segment operating loss This impairment charge

did not affect the Companys liquidity or cash flows and had no effect on the Companys compliance with the

financial covenants under its Credit Agreement

The first step of the goodwill impairment testing and measurement process involved estimating the fair

value of the reporting unit using an internally prepared discounted cash flow analysis The discount rate

utilized in estimating the fair value of Broadspire was 14% reflecting our assessment of market participants

view of the risks associated with the projected cash flows The terminal growth rate used in the analysis was

3% The results of step of the process indicated potential impairment of the goodwill balance as the

carrying value of Broadspire exceeded its estimated fair value As result we performed step of the process

to quantify the amount of the goodwill impairment In this step the estimated fair value of Broadspire was

allocated among its respective assets and liabilities in order to determine an implied value of goodwill in

manner similar to the calculations performed in the accounting for business combination The allocation

process was performed only for purposes of measuring goodwill impairment and not to adjust the carrying

values of recognized tangible assets or liabilities Accordingly no impairment charge or carrying value

adjustments were made to the basis of any tangible asset or liability as result of this process We also

updated our impairment review of other intangible assets which identified no additional impairments at that

time

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

We sponsor various defined benefit pension plans in the U.S and U.K that cover substantial number of

employees in each location We utilize the services of independent actuaries to help us estimate our pension

obligations and measure pension costs In 2008 we began using year-end measurement date to determine net

periodic pension costs for our defined benefit pension plans Our U.S defined benefit pension plan was frozen

on December 31 2002 Effective January 2009 we determined that almost all of the U.S plan participants

are inactive and accordingly changed the amortization period for net gains and losses from the average

remaining service period of active employees 7.8 years to the average remaining life expectancy of the

inactive participants 24.3 years Our U.K defined benefit pension plans have been closed for new employees

but existing participants may still accrue additional limited benefits based on salary levels existing at the close

date Benefits payable under our U.S defined benefit pension plan are generally based on career compensa

tion however no additional benefits accrue on our frozen U.S plan after December 31 2002 Benefits

payable under the U.K plans are generally based on an employees salary at the time the applicable plan was

closed Our funding policy is to make cash contributions in amounts sufficient to maintain the plans on an

actuarially sound basis but not in excess of amounts deductible under applicable income tax regulations Plan

assets are invested in equity securities and fixed income investments with target allocation of approximately

65% in equity securities and 35% in fixed income investments

The major assumptions used in accounting for our U.S defined benefit pension plan in 2009 and 2008

were discount rates of 6.70% and 6.46% respectively used to compute net periodic benefit costs discount

rates of 5.88% and 6.70% respectively used to compute benefit obligations and an expected long-term return

on plan assets of 8.50% for both years The major assumptions used in accounting for our U.K defined benefit

pension plans in 2009 and 2008 were discount rates of 7.30% and 5.60% respectively used to compute net

periodic benefit costs discount rates of 5.70% and 7.30% respectively used to compute benefit obligations

and an expected long-term return on plan assets of 8.50% for both years The discount rate assumptions reflect

the rates at which the benefit obligations could be effectively settled Our discount rates were determined

based on the yield for portfolio of investment grade corporate bonds with maturity dates matched to the

estimated future payment of the plans benefit obligations The expected long-term rates of return on plan

assets were based on the plans asset mix actual historical returns on equity securities and fixed income

investments held by the plans and an assessment of expected future returns We review these assumptions at

least annually

The estimated liabilities for our defined benefit pension plans are sensitive to changes in the underlying

assumptions for the expected rates of return on plan assets and the discount rates used to determine the present

value of projected benefits payable under the plans If our assumptions for the expected returns on plan assets
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of our U.S and U.K defined benefit pension plans changed by 0.50% representing either an increase or

decrease in expected returns the impact to 2009 consolidated pretax income would have been approximately

$1.7 million If our assumptions for the discount rates used to determine the present value of projected benefits

payable under the plans changed by 0.25% representing either an increase or decrease in interest rates used to

value pension plan liabilities the impact to 2009 consolidated pretax income would have been approximately

$$609000

Determination of Effective Tax Rate Used for Financial Reporting

We account for certain income and expense items differently for financial reporting and income tax

purposes Provisions for deferred taxes are made in recognition of these temporary differences The most

significant differences relate to revenue recognition accrued compensation and pensions self-insurance and

depreciation and amortization

For financial reporting purposes in accordance with the liability method of accounting for income taxes

the provision for income taxes is the sum of income taxes both currently payable and deferred Currently

payable income taxes represent the liability related to our income tax returns for the current year while the

net deferred tax expense or benefit represents the change in the balance of deferred tax assets or liabilities as

reported on our consolidated balance sheets that are not related to balances in Accumulated Other Comprehen

sive Loss The changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon changes between the

basis of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the basis of assets and liabilities for income

tax purposes multiplied by the enacted statutory tax rates for the year in which we estimate these differences

will reverse We must estimate the timing of the reversal of temporary differences as well as whether taxable

income in future periods will be sufficient to fully recognize any gross deferred tax assets

Other factors which influence our effective tax rate used for financial reporting purposes include changes

in enacted statutory tax rates changes in the composition of taxable income from the countries in which we

operate our ability to utilize net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and changes in unrecognized tax

benefits

Our effective tax rate defined as our provision for income taxes divided by income loss before income

taxes for financial reporting purposes in 2009 2008 and 2007 was 2.3% 26.0% and 24.8% respectively of

taxable income In 2009 $140.3 million of the $140.9 million goodwill and intangible asset impairment

charges that we recorded is not deductible for income tax purposes In determining the following sensitivity to

changes in our effective tax rate we are adding this amount to our 2009 pretax loss If our effective tax rate

used for financial reporting purposes changed by 1% we would have recognized an increase or decrease to

income tax expense of approximately $275000 $438000 and $215000 for the years ended December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Our effective tax rate for financial reporting purposes is expected to range

between 23.0% and 25.0% in 2010 This estimated tax rate range reflects enacted law as well as the impact of

estimated discrete items including the resolution of uncertain tax positions that may affect our tax rate in

2010

It is possible that future changes in the tax laws of jurisdictions in which we operate could have

significant impact on U.S.-based multinational companies such as our company At this time we cannot predict

the likelihood or details of any such changes or their specific potential impact on our company

Self-Insured Risks

We self insure certain insurable risks consisting primarily of professional liability auto liability employee

medical disability and workers compensation Insurance coverage is obtained for catastrophic property and

casualty exposures including professional liability on claims-made basis and those risks required to be

insured by law or contract Most of these self-insured risks are in the United States Provisions for claims

incurred under self-insured programs are made based on our estimates of the aggregate liabilities for claims

incurred losses that have occurred but have not been reported to us and the adverse developments on reported

losses These estimated liabilities are calculated based on historical claim payment experience the expected

life of the claims and other factors considered relevant to the claims The liabilities for claims incurred under
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our self-insured workers compensation and employee disability programs are discounted at the prevailing

risk-free rate for government issues of an appropriate duration All other self-insured liabilities are

undiscounted Each quarter we evaluate the adequacy of the assumptions used in developing these estimated

liabilities and make adjustments as necessary Changes in estimates are recognized in the period in which they

are determined Historically our estimates have been materially accurate

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 our estimated liabilities for self-insured risks totaled $33.3 million

and $36.5 million respectively The estimated liability is most sensitive to changes in the ultimate liability for

claim and if applicable the interest rate used to discount the liability We believe our provisions for self-

insured losses are adequate to cover the expected net cost of losses incurred However these provisions are

estimates and amounts ultimately settled may be significantly greater or less than the provisions established If

the average discount rate we used to determine the present value of our self-insured workers compensation

liabilities had changed by 1% reflecting either an increase or decrease in underlying interest rates our

estimated liabilities for these self-insured risks at December 31 2009 would have been impacted by

approximately $481000 resulting in an increase or decrease to 2009 consolidated net income of approxi

mately $298000

New Accounting Standards

See Note Major Accounting and Reporting Policies of our accompanying audited consolidated

financial statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for description of recent accounting

pronouncements including the dates or expected dates of adoption and effects or expected effects on our

results of operations and financial condition

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates Our objective is

to identify and understand these risks and then implement strategies to manage them When evaluating these

strategies we evaluate the fundamentals of each market and the underlying accounting and business

implications To implement these strategies we may enter into various hedging transactions The sensitivity

analyses we present below do not consider the effect of possible adverse changes in the general economy nor

do they consider additional actions we may take to mitigate our exposure to such changes There can be no

assurance that we will manage or continue to manage any risks in the future or that any of our efforts will be

successful

Derivative Instruments

We use interest rate swap agreements to manage the interest rate characteristics on portion of our

outstanding debt We evaluate market conditions and the covenants contained in our Credit Agreement in order

to determine our tolerance for potential increases in interest expense that could result from floating interest

rates In May 2007 we entered into three-year interest rate swap agreement that effectively converts the

LIBOR-based portion of the interest rate under our Credit Agreement on an initial notional amount of

$175.0 million of our floating-rate debt to fixed rate of 5.25% $80 million at December 31 2009 This

swap expires on May 31 2010 In November 2009 the Company entered into two-year forward-starting

interest rate swap agreement that is effective beginning on June 30 2010 The swap effectively converts the

LIBOR-based portion of the interest rate on an initial notional amount of $90.0 million of the Companys

floating-rate debt to fixed rate of 3.05% plus the applicable credit spread The Company designated the

interest rate swap as cash flow hedge of
exposure to changes in cash flows due to changes in interest rates

on an equivalent amount of debt The notional amount of the swap is reduced to $85.0 million on March 31

2011 to match the expected repayment of the Companys outstanding debt The swap expires on September 30

2012

In connection with the Fifth Amendment to the Companys Credit Agreement executed on October 27

2009 the May 2007 interest rate swap was discontinued as cash flow hedge of exposure to changes in cash

flows due to changes in interest rates Accordingly any future changes in the fair value of this swap agreement
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will be recorded by the Company as nonexpense adjustment rather than component of the Companys

accumulated other comprehensive loss Such amount was not material for the year ended December 31 2009

The amount in accumulated comprehensive loss at the time the hedge was discontinued was $2652000 and

was $1593000 at December 31 2009 Because it is still probable that the forecasted transactions that were

hedged will occur this loss on the interest rate swap agreement will be reclassified into earnings as an

increase to interest expense over the remaining life of the interest rate swap agreement as the forecasted

transactions occur Although highly unlikely should it become probable that the forecasted transactions will

not occur any amount in accumulated other comprehensive loss at such time would be reclassified as

nonexpense adjustment

At December 31 2009 the fair value of the interest rate swaps was liability of $2067000 and the

amount expected to be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings during the next

twelve months was approximately $2074000 During 2009 and 2008 the amount reclassified into earnings as

an adjustment to interest expense was $4425000 and $2542000 respectively The amount reclassified into

earnings in 2007 was not material

We are exposed to counterparty credit risk for nonperformance and in the event of nonperformance to

market risk for changes in interest rates We attempt to manage exposure to counterparty credit risk through

minimum credit standards diversification of counterparties and procedures to monitor concentrations of credit

risk The Company believes there have been no material changes in the creditworthiness of the counterparties

to the interest-rate swap agreements For additional information regarding our interest rate swap see Note

Major Accounting and Reporting Policies to audited consolidated financial statements under Item of this

annual report on Form 10-K

Foreign Currency Exchange

Our International Operations segment exposes us to foreign currency exchange rate changes that can

impact translations of foreign-denominated assets and liabilities into U.S dollars and future earnings and cash

flows from transactions denominated in different currencies Revenues before reimbursements from our

International Operations segment were 40.5% 42.4% and 38.6% of total revenues before reimbursements for

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Except for borrowings in foreign currencies we do not presently engage

in any hedging activities to compensate for the effect of currency exchange rate fluctuations on the net assets

or operating results of our foreign subsidiaries

We measure foreign currency exchange risk based on changes in foreign currency exchange rates using

sensitivity analysis The sensitivity analysis measures the potential change in earnings based on hypothetical

10% change in currency exchange rates Exchange rates and currency positions as of December 31 2009 were

used to perform the sensitivity analysis Such analysis indicated that hypothetical 10% change in foreign

currency exchange rates would have increased or decreased consolidated pretax income during 2009 by

approximately $3.2 million had the U.S dollar exchange rate increased or decreased relative to the currencies

to which we had exposure When exchange rates and currency positions as of December 31 2008 and 2007

were used to perform this sensitivity analysis the analysis indicated that hypothetical 10% change in

currency exchange rates would have increased or decreased consolidated pretax income in 2008 and 2007 by

approximately $2.7 million and $2.3 million respectively

Interest Rates

Both the term loan and the revolving credit facility under our Credit Agreement have variable rates of

interest The revolving credit facility has variable interest rate for each currency in which borrowings are

denominated These variable rates under the revolving credit facility are based on LIBOR or other factors set

by the lenders

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as result of our short-term and long-term debt

Beginning May 2007 we use swap agreements to manage the interest rate characteristics of portion of our

outstanding debt Based on the amounts and mix of our fixed and floating rate debt at December 31 2009 and

December 31 2008 if market interest rates had increased or decreased an average of 100 basis points after
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considering the effect of our swap our pre-tax interest expense would have changed by $907000 and

$696000 respectively We determined these amounts by considering the impact of the hypothetical interest

rates on our borrowing costs and interest rate swap agreement These analyses do not consider the effects of

changes in the level of overall economic activity that could exist in such an environment

Changes in the projected benefit obligations of our defined benefit pension plans are largely dependent on

changes in prevailing interest rates used to value these obligations under SFAS 87 as of the plans respective

measurement dates If our assumptions for the discount rates used to determine the present value of the

projected benefit obligations changed by 0.25% representing either an increase or decrease in the discount

rate the projected benefit obligations of our U.S and U.K defined benefit pension plans would have changed

by approximately $17.7 million at December 31 2009 The impact of this change to 2009 consolidated pretax

income would have been approximately $609000

To the extent changes in interest rates on our variable-rate borrowings move in the same direction as

changes in the discount rates used for our defined benefit pension plans changes in our interest expense on

our borrowings will be offset to some degree by changes in our defined benefit pension cost Periodic pension

cost for our defined benefit pension plans is impacted primarily by changes in long-term interest rates whereas

interest expense for our variable-rate borrowings is impacted more directly by changes in short-term interest

rates

Credit Risk Related to Performing Certain Services for Our Clients

We process payments for claims settlements primarily on behalf of our self-insured clients The liability

for the settlement cost of claims processed which is generally pre-funded remains with the client

Accordingly we do not incur significant credit risk in the performance of these services
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CRAWFORD COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007

In thousands except earnings

per share amounts

Revenues from Services

Revenues before reimbursements 969868 $1048582 975143

Reimbursements 78334 87334 76135

Total Revenues 1048202 1135916 1051278

Costs and Expenses

Costs of services provided before reimbursements 713991 767093 733240

Reimbursements 78334 87334 76135

Total costs of services 792325 854427 809375

Selling general and administrative expenses 209458 218632 211654

Corporate interest expense net of interest income of $1063
$1994 and $1876 respectively 14166 17622 17326

Goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges 140945

Restructuring and other costs 4059 3300 _________

Total Costs and Expenses 1160953 1093981 1.038355

Gain on disposals of businesses 2512 3980

Gain on sale of assets
__________ __________

4844

Loss Income Before Income Taxes 112751 44447 21747

Provision for Income Taxes 2618 11564 5396

Net Loss Income 115369 32883 16351

Less Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest 314 624 235

Net Loss Income Attributable to Crawford Company 115683 32259 16116

Loss Earnings Per Share

Basic 2.23 0.63 0.32

Diluted 2.23 0.62 0.32

Weighted-Average Shares Used For

Basic Loss Earnings Per Share 51830 50958 50532

Diluted Loss Earnings Per Share 51830 52342 50659

Cash Dividends Per Share

Class and Class Common Stock

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CRAWFORD COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31 2009 2008

In thousands

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 70354 73124

Accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful accounts of $11983 and $12341

respectively 139215 157430

Unbilled revenues at estimated billable amounts 93796 99115

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 22350 18688

Total Current Assets 325715 348357

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment 144254 140399

Less accumulated depreciation 102108 95785

Net Property and Equipment 42146 44614

Other Assets

Goodwill 123169 251897

Intangible assets arising from business acquisitions net 104409 111389

Capitalized software costs net 50463 46296

Deferred income taxes 69504 67695

Other noncurrent assets 27499 25000

Total Other Assets 375044 502277

TOTAL ASSETS 742905 $895248

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CRAWFORD COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31 2009 2008

In thousands except par

value amounts

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS INVESTMENT

32

35449

70871

18475

15777

31541

53664

25000

8189

258998

173061

33524

14824

187507

13705

422621

24697

29570

140463

165403

56682

4604

61286

742905

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

13366

40711

77802

7939

5675

4262

15645

41333

59679

10300

2284

288996

181206

42795

18531

169242

14119

425893

24697

26342

256146

158157

175551

4808

180359

895248

Current Liabilities

Short-term borrowings

Accounts payable

Accrued compensation and related costs

Self-insured risks

Income taxes payable

Deferred income taxes

Deferred rent

Other accrued liabilities

Deferred revenues

Mandatory company contributions due to pension plan

Current installments of long-term debt and capital leases

Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities

Long-term debt and capital leases less current installments

Deferred revenues

Self-insured risks

Accrued pension liabilities less current mandatory contributions

Other noncurrent liabilities

Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Shareholders Investment

Class common stock $1.00 par value 50000 shares authorized 27355 and

26523 shares issued and outstanding in 2009 and 2008

Class common stock $1.00 par value 50000 shares authorized 24697 shares

issued and outstanding in 2009 and 2008

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Shareholder Investment attributable to shareholders of Crawford

Company

Noncontrolling interests

Total Shareholders Investment

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS INVESTMENT

27355 26523
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CRAWFORD COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net loss income $115369 32883 16351

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating

activities

Goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges 140945

Depreciation and amortization 31010 30331 29646

Deferred income taxes
463 247 1437

Stock-based compensation costs 5510 5858 2929

Loss on disposals of property and equipment
117 195 554

Gains on sales of businesses 2512 3980

Gain on 2006 sale of former corporate headquarters 4844

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of

acquisition and disposition

Accounts receivable net 27193 6785 12450

Unbilled revenues net 12481 22093 11298

Prepaid or accrued income taxes 7782 3077 4322

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 16749 20493 2184

Deferred revenues 15827 19024 22571

Accrued retirement costs 7844 25416 2188

Prepaid expenses and other operating activities 2484 3425 1302

Net cash provided by operating activities 51664 71585 23428

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Acquisitions of property and equipment
9886 15214 16129

Capitalization of software costs 14823 16797 11980

Proceeds from sales of businesses 4269 5000

Proceeds from sale of investment security
5000

Payments for business acquisitions net of cash acquired 6260 888 1323

Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment
135 662 395

Other investing activities 335 68 50

Net cash used in investing activities 31169 28036 19087

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from employee stock-based compensation plans 453 2036 736

Increase in short-term borrowings
39336 36544 16568

Payments on short-term borrowings 57622 48296 18051

Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests 274 610 144

Payments on long-term debt and capital leases 2400 2484 15515

Capitalized loan costs 4145 908

Shares used to settle withholding taxes under stock-based

compensation plans 1903 20 19

Net cash used in financing activities 26555 12830 17333

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 3290 8450 2173

Decrease Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2770 22269 10819

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 73124 50855 61674

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 70354 73124 50855

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CRAWFORD COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS INVESTMENT NONCONTROLLING
INTERESTS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS

Common Stock
Additional

Class Class Paid-In

Non-Voting Voting Capital

Accumulated

Other Total

Retained Comprehensive Noncontrolling Shareholders

Earnings Loss Interests Investment

In thousands

Balance at January 2007

Comprehensive income

Net income

Currency translation adjustments net

Accrued retirement liabilities adjustment

net of $5556 tax

Interest-rate swap net of 1410 tax

Total comprehensive income

Impact of adoption of new income tax

accounting guidance

Stock-based compensation costs

Shares issued in connection with stock-

based compensation plans net

Dividends paid to noncontrolling

interests

Other equity transactions

Balance at December 31 2007

Comprehensive loss

Net income

Currency translation adjustments net

Currency translations reclassed for disposal

of business

Accrued retirement liabilities adjustment

net of $46253 tax

Interest-rate swap net of $376 tax

Total comprehensive loss

Impact of adoption of new pension

accounting guidance net of $48 and

$277 tax

Stock-based compensation costs

Shares issued in connection with stock-

based compensation plans net

Dividends paid to noncontrolling

interests

Other equity transactions

Balance at December 31 2008

Comprehensive loss

Net loss income

Currency translation adjustments net

Accrued retirement liabilities

adjustment net of $8682 tax

Interest-rate swaps net of $1147 tax

Total comprehensive loss

Stock-based compensation costs

Shares issued in connection with stock-

based compensation plans net

Dividends paid to noncontrolling

interests

Balance at December 31 2009

16116

16.382

9460

2463

94 492

5858

593 1443

16

26523 24697 26342 256146 158157

115683
17344

26521
1931

5510

832 2282

610

4808

314 115369

244 17100

26521
1931

122859

5510

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

$25741 $24697 $15468 207891 62.646 $4544 215695

235 16351

411 16793

9460

2463

40141

214
2929

214
2929

197 539

121

25935 24697 19057 223793 39267

32259

37577

344

80639
822

144

5046

736

144
118

259261

624 32883

252 37829

344

80639
822

86751

586

5858

2036

610
21

180359

$27355 $24697 $29570 140463 $165403

1450

________
274 274

________
$4604 61286
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MAJOR ACCOUNTING AND REPoRTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations and Industry Concentration

Based in Atlanta Georgia Crawford Company www.crawfordandcompany.com is the worlds largest

independent provider of claims management solutions to the risk management and insurance industry as well

as self-insured entities with global network of more than 700 locations in 63 countries The Crawford

System of Claims SolutionssM offers comprehensive integrated claims services business process outsourcing

and consulting services for major product lines including property and casualty claims management workers

compensation claims and medical management and legal settlement administration Shares of the Companys

two classes of common stock are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbols CRDA and

CRDB respectively

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States GAAP and include the accounts of the Company its

majority-owned subsidiaries and variable interest entities in which the Company is deemed to be the primary

beneficiary Significant intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation The financial statements of

the Companys international subsidiaries other than those in Canada and the Caribbean are included in the

Companys consolidated financial statements on two-month delayed basis fiscal year-end of October 31 as

permitted by GAAP in order to provide sufficient time for accumulation of their results

The Company uses the purchase method of accounting for all acquisitions where the Company is required

to consolidate the acquired entity into the Companys financial statements Results of operations of acquired

businesses are included in the Companys consolidated results from the acquisition date

For variable interest entities VIE the Company determines when it should include the assets

liabilities and results of operations of VIE in its consolidated financial statements The Company

consolidates the liabilities of its deferred compensation plan and the related assets which are held in rabbi

trust and considered VIE of the Company At December 31 2009 and 2008 the liabilities of this deferred

compensation plan were $8570000 and $7621000 respectively and the values of the assets held in the

related rabbi trust were $13551000 and $12985000 respectively These assets and liabilities are included in

Other Noncurrent Assets and Other Noncurrent Liabilities on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

The Company has controlling ownership interests in several entities that are not wholly-owned by the

Company The financial results and financial positions of these controlled entities are included in the

Companys consolidated financial statements for both the controlling interests and the noncontrolling interests

The noncontrolling interests represent the equity interests formerly referred to as minority interests in these

entities that are not attributable either directly or indirectly to the Company Noncontrolling interests are

reported as separate component of the Companys Shareholders Investment On the Companys Consolidated

Statements of Operations net income or loss is attributed to the controlling interests and the noncontrolling

interests separately

Accounting Standards Codification

With the issuance of Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Statement No 168 The FASB

Accounting Standards Codification ASC and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

the FASB approved its codification the Codification as the single source of authoritative GAAP for

nongovernmental entities in the United States U.S for interim and annual periods ending after Septem

ber 15 2009 As result on July 2009 the Company adopted ASC Topic 105 Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles as updated by Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2009-1 Topic 105-

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles to establish the Codification as the Companys source of

authoritative GAAP The Codification also considers rules and interpretive releases of the SEC under authority
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of U.S federal securities laws as additional sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants The

Codification superseded all then-existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards However at its initial

effective date of July 2009 the purpose of the Codification was to reorganize existing GAAP into

consistent and logical structure The Codification did not create new GAAP

References to the superseded standards in the Companys consolidated financial statements have been

replaced by references to the Codification In the Codification ASC referencing is in the following numerical

format XXX-YY-ZZ-PP where XXX represents the Topic number YY represents the Subtopic number ZZ

represents the Subsection number and PP represents the paragraph number Subsequent standard-setting

activity will be issued in ASUs referenced as follows YYYY-XX where YYYY is the year issued and XX
represents the sequential number for each ASU issued in that year An ASU will serve as transient document

during the time between issuance of the ASU and the date the new or revised guidance becomes completely

effective once effective the Codification will reflect all necessary amendments for the new or revised

guidance

On August 18 2009 the SEC issued interpretive guidance FR-80 Commission Guidance Regarding the

Financial Accounting Standards Boards Accounting Standards Codification FR-80 With the issuance of

FR-80 the SEC formally recognized the FASBs Codification as the single source of authoritative

U.S accounting and reporting standards applicable for all nongovernmental entities with the exception of

guidance issued by the SEC

Prior Year ReclassWcations

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation

Managements Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period Actual results could differ materially from those estimates

Revenue Recognition

The Companys revenues are primarily comprised of claims processing or program administration fees

and are generated from the Companys four operating segments

The U.S Property Casualty segment primarily serves the U.S property and casualty insurance

company market with additional services provided to the warranty and inspection services marketplaces The

International Operations segment primarily serves the property and casualty insurance company markets

outside of the U.S The Broadspire segment serves the U.S self-insurance marketplace The Legal Settlement

Administration segment primarily serves the securities bankruptcy and other legal settlement markets

Both the U.S Property Casualty segment and the International Operations segment earn revenues by

providing field investigation and evaluation of property and casualty claims for insurance companies The

Companys Broadspire segment earns revenues by providing initial loss reporting services for their claimants

loss mitigation services such as medical case management and vocational rehabilitation administration of trust

funds established to pay claims and risk management information services The Legal Settlement Administra

tion segment earns revenues by providing administration services related to settlements of securities cases

product liability cases Chapter 11 bankruptcy noticing and distribution and other legal settlements by

identifying and qualifying class members determining and dispensing settlement payments and administering

the settlement funds

Fees for professional services are recognized in unbilled revenues at the time such services are rendered

at estimated collectible amounts Substantially all unbilled revenues are billed within one year
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Deferred revenues represent the estimated unearned portion of fees derived from certain fixed-rate claim

service agreements The Companys fixed-fee service arrangements typically call for the Company to handle

claims on either one- or two-year basis or for the lifetime of the claim In cases where the claim is handled

on non-lifetime basis an additional fee is typically received on each anniversary date that the claim remains

open For service arrangements where the Company provides services for the life of the claim the Company

only receives one fee for the life of the claim regardless of the ultimate duration of the claim Deferred

revenues are recognized based on the estimated rate at which the services are provided These rates are

primarily based on historical evaluation of actual claim closing rates by major line of coverage

In the normal course of business the Company incurs certain out-of-pocket expenses
that are thereafter

reimbursed by the Companys clients Under GAAP these out-of-pocket expenses and associated reimburse

ments are reported as revenues and expenses in the Companys consolidated results of operations The amounts

of reimbursed expenses and related revenues offset each other in the Companys results of operations with no

impact to its net loss income

Intersegment sales are recorded at cost and are not material

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and marketable securities with original maturities of

three months or less The fair value of cash and cash equivalents approximates carrying value due to their

short-term nature At December 31 2009 time deposits with original maturities of less than three months

totaling approximately $1425000 were in financial institutions outside the United States

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company extends credit based on an evaluation of clients financial condition and generally

collateral is not required Accounts receivable are typically due within 30 days and are stated on the

Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets at amounts due from clients net of an estimated allowance for

doubtful accounts Accounts outstanding longer than the contractual payment terms are considered past due

The fair value of accounts receivable approximates carrying value due to their short-term contractual

stipulations

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting primarily from

the inability of clients to make required payments and for adjustments to invoiced amounts Losses resulting

from the inability of clients to make required payments are accounted for as bad debt expense while

adjustments to invoices are accounted for as reductions to revenue These allowances are established using

historical write-off information to project future experience and by considering the current creditworthiness of

clients any known specific collection problems and an assessment of current industry and economic

conditions Actual experience may differ significantly from historical or expected loss results The Company

writes off accounts receivable when they become uncollectible and any payments subsequently received are

accounted for as recoveries summary of the activities in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 is as follows

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Allowance for doubtful accounts January $12341 $16552 $16802

Add/ Deduct

Provision credit to bad debt expense 189 2126 1299

Write-offs net of recoveries 701 974 1674

Currency translation and other changes 532 1077 819

Adjustments for acquired and disposed businesses 34 694

Allowance for doubtful accounts December 31 $11983 $12341 $16552
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For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 the Companys adjustments to revenues

associated with client invoice adjustments totaled $3151000 $4665000 and $5560000 respectively

Goodwill Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill is an asset that represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the separately

identifiable net assets tangible and intangible acquired from business combinations Indefinite-lived intangible

assets consist of trade names associated with acquired businesses Other long-lived assets consist primarily of

property and equipment deferred income tax assets capitalized software and amortizable intangible assets

related to customer relationships and technology Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not

amortized but are subject to impairment testing at least annually

Subsequent to business acquisition in which goodwill was recorded as an asset post-acquisition

accounting requires that goodwill be tested to determine whether there has been an impairment loss The

Company performs an impairment test of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets at least annually on

October of each year The Company regularly evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred

which indicate potential impairment of goodwill indefinite-lived intangible assets or other long-lived assets

When factors indicate that such assets should be evaluated for possible impairment between the scheduled

annual impairment tests the Company performs an impairment test The Company believes its goodwill

indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets were appropriately valued and not impaired at

December 31 2009

Goodwill impairment testing is two-step process performed on reporting unit basis In step of the

testing process the fair value of each reporting unit is determined and compared to its book value If the fair

value of the reporting unit exceeds its book value goodwill is not deemed impaired If the book value of the

reporting unit exceeds its fair value the testing proceeds to step In step the reporting units fair value is

allocated to its assets and liabilities following acquisition accounting procedures to determine the implied fair

value of goodwill This hypothetical acquisition accounting process is applied only for the purpose of

determining whether goodwill must be reduced it is not used to adjust the book values of other assets or

liabilities There is an impairment if and to the extent the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair

value An impairment loss reduces the recorded goodwill and cannot subsequently be reversed

For step of goodwill impairment testing the carrying value of each of the Companys reporting units is

compared to the estimated fair value of the reporting unit as determined utilizing an income approach The

income approach is based on projected debt-free cash flow which is discounted to the present value using

discount factors that consider the timing and risk of the cash flows The Company believes that this approach

is appropriate because it provides fair value estimate based upon the reporting units expected long-term

operating cash flow performance The discount rate used reflects the Companys assessment of market

participants view of the risks associated with the projected cash flows Other significant assumptions include

terminal value growth rates terminal value margin rates future capital expenditures and changes in future

working capital requirements While there are inherent uncertainties related to these assumptions used and to

managements application of these assumptions the Company believes that the income approach provides

reasonable estimate of the fair value of its reporting units

For impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets the carrying value is compared to the fair

value which represents the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows excess earnings attributable

solely to the asset over its estimated remaining useful life Long-lived assets are tested at an asset or asset

group level that is determined to be the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent

of the cash flows of other
groups

of assets and liabilities

The Companys four operating segments are deemed to be reporting units because the components of

each operating segment have similar economic characteristics If changes to the Companys reporting structure

impact the composition of the Companys reporting units existing goodwill is reallocated to the revised

reporting units based on their relative fair market values as determined by discounted cash flow analysis If

all of the assets and liabilities of an acquired business are assigned to specific reporting unit then the
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goodwill associated with that acquisition is assigned to that reporting unit at acquisition unless another

reporting unit is also expected to benefit from the acquisition

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Property and equipment

including assets under capital leases consisted of the following at December 31 2009 and 2008

2009 2008

In thousands

Land 603 545

Buildings and improvements 27842 26302

Furniture and fixtures 51723 49819

Data processing equipment 61003 60523

Automobiles and other 3083 3210

Total property and equipment 144254 140399

Less accumulated depreciation 102108 95785

Net property and equipment 42146 44614

Additions to property and equipment under capital leases totaled $81000 $208000 and $328000 for

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Additions to property and equipment that were funded directly by lessors

totaled $100000 and $4921000 for 2009 and 2007 respectively There were no such additions in 2008

The Company depreciates the cost of property and equipment including assets recorded under capital

leases over the shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful lives of the related assets primarily

using the straight-line method The estimated useful lives for property and equipment classifications are as

follows

Classification Estimated Useful Lives

Furniture and fixtures 3-10 years

Data processing equipment
3-5 years

Automobiles 34 years

Buildings and improvements 7-40 years

Depreciation on property and equipment including property under capital leases and amortization of

leasehold improvements was $14433000 $14992000 and $14081000 for the years ended December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Capitalized Software

Capitalized software reflects costs related to internally developed or purchased software used by the

Company that has future economic benefits Certain internal and external costs incurred during the application

stage of development are capitalized Costs incurred during the preliminary project and post implementation

stages including training and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred The majority of these capitalized

software costs consists of internal payroll costs and external payments for software purchases and related

services These capitalized software costs are amortized over periods ranging from three to ten years

depending on the estimated life of each software application At least annually the Company evaluates

capitalized software for impairment Amortization expense for capitalized software was $10144000

$8875000 and $9165000 for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

SeJInsured Risks

The Company self insures certain insurable risks consisting primarily of professional liability auto

liability employee medical disability and workers compensation liability Insurance coverage is obtained for

catastrophic property and casualty exposures including professional liability on claims-made basis and those
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risks required to be insured by law or contract Most of these self-insured risks are in the U.S Provisions for

claims under the self-insured programs are made based on the Companys estimates of the aggregate liabilities

for claims incurred losses that have occurred but have not been reported to the Company and for adverse

developments on reported losses The estimated liabilities are calculated based on historical claims payment

experience the expected lives of the claims and other factors considered relevant by management Changes in

these estimates may occur as additional information becomes available The estimated liabilities for claims

incurred under the Companys self-insured workers compensation and employee disability programs are

discounted at the prevailing risk-free interest rate for U.S government securities of an appropriate duration

All other self-insured liabilities are undiscounted At December 31 2009 and 2008 accrued liabilities for self-

insured risks totaled $33299000 and $36470000 respectively including current liabilities of $18475000

and $17939000 respectively

Defined Benefit Pensions and Other Retirement Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries sponsor various retirement plans Substantially all employees in the

U.S and certain employees outside the U.S are covered under the Companys defined contribution plans

Certain employees retirees and eligible dependents are also covered under the Companys defined benefit

pension plans fixed number of U.S employees retirees and eligible dependents are covered under frozen

post-retirement medical benefits plan in the U.S In addition the Company sponsors nonqualified unfunded

defined benefit pension plans for certain employees and retirees

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans in the U.S and U.K Effective December 31 2002

the Company elected to freeze its U.S defined benefit pension plan The Companys U.K defined benefit

pension plans have also been closed for new employees but existing participants may still accrue additional

limited benefits based on salary amounts in effect at the time the plan was closed

Effective December 31 2006 the Company adopted new accounting guidance for the recognition and

disclosure of defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans This guidance requires sponsors of

defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans collectively postretirement benefit plans to

recognize the funded status of their postretirement benefit plans in the balance sheet measure the fair value of

plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the balance sheet and provide additional disclosures As

permitted by the new guidance the Companys adoption was in two phases On December 31 2006 the

Company adopted the first phase the recognition and disclosure provisions The requirement to measure the

fair value of plan assets and benefit obligations as of the most recent balance sheet date the second phase

was effective for the Company on January 2008 Prior to 2008 the Companys frozen U.S defined benefit

retirement plans as well as its frozen U.S retiree medical benefit plan used September 30 annual

measurement date Under the new guidance the September 30 early measurement date can no longer be used

and the Company became required to instead use December 31 as its year-end measurement date beginning in

2008 The Companys United Kingdom U.K and other international defined benefit plans already used

fiscal year-end measurement date and thus no measurement date changes were needed for the non-U.S plans

The new guidance provided entities with two alternatives to transition to fiscal year-end measurement date

The Company selected the alternative that allowed it to use the existing early measurement date of

September 30 2007 to compute net benefit costs for the period between October 2007 and December 31
2008 the 15-month alternative Net periodic benefit costs under the 15-month period alternative were net

credit of $711000 before income taxes for the Companys U.S defined benefit pension plan and its frozen

U.S retiree medical benefit plan Eighty percent of this net periodic benefit expense credit or approximately

$569000 credit before income taxes was recognized in the Companys Consolidated Statement of Income as

periodic benefit cost reduction during 2008 The remaining 20% of the benefit credit or approximately

$94000 credit after income taxes was credited to the Companys beginning retained earnings on January

2008 The 2008 adoption of the second phase of the new guidance resulted in credit of $769000 or

approximately $492000 net of income taxes to the Companys Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

External trusts are maintained to hold assets of the Companys defined benefit pension plans in the

U.S and U.K The Companys funding policy is to make cash contributions in amounts sufficient to meet

regulatory funding requirements Assets of the plans are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
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period but the plan assets are not recorded on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet Instead the funded

or unfunded status of the Companys defined benefit pension plans are recorded on the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheet based on the projected benefit obligations less the fair values of the plans assets

See Note Retirement Plans

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for certain income and expense items differently for financial reporting and

income tax purposes Provisions for deferred taxes are made in recognition of these temporary differences The

most significant differences relate to revenue recognition accrued compensation pension plans self-insurance

and depreciation and amortization

For financial reporting purposes the provision for income taxes is the sum of income taxes both currently

payable and payable on deferred basis Currently payable income taxes represent the liability related to the

income tax returns for the current year while the net deferred tax expense or benefit represents the change in

the balance of deferred income tax assets or liabilities as reported on the Companys Consolidated Balance

Sheets that are not related to balances in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss The changes in deferred

income tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon changes in the differences between the basis of

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the basis of assets and liabilities for income tax

purposes measured by the enacted statutory tax rates in effect for the year in which the Company estimates

these differences will reverse The Company must estimate the timing of the reversal of temporary differences

as well as whether taxable income in future periods will be sufficient to fully recognize any gross deferred tax

assets

Other factors which influence the effective tax rate used for financial reporting purposes include changes

in enacted statutory tax rates changes in the composition of taxable income from the countries in which the

Company operates the ability of the Company to utilize net operating loss carryforwards and the Companys

accounting for any uncertain tax positions See Note Income Taxes

Effective January 2007 the Company adopted new accounting guidance issued by the FASB to create

single model to address accounting for uncertainty in tax positions The new guidance clarifies the

accounting for income taxes by prescribing minimum recognition threshold that tax position must meet

before being recognized in the financial statements The new guidance also provides guidance on

derecognition measurement classification interest and penalties accounting in interim periods disclosure

and transition The adoption of the new guidance resulted in $214000 charge to the Companys retained

earnings on January 2007

Sales and Other Taxes Assessed by Governments

In certain jurisdictions both in the U.S and internationally various governments and taxing authorities

require the Company to assess and collect sales and other taxes such as Value Added Taxes on certain

services that the Company renders and bills to its customers The majority of the Companys revenues are not

currently subject to these types of taxes The Company records these government-imposed taxes on net basis

with amounts collected related to these pass-through taxes recorded as balance sheet transactions

Net Loss Income Attributable to Crawford Company per Common Share

Both classes of the Companys common stock Common Stock Class CRDA and Common Stock

Class CRDB share equally in the Companys earnings for purposes
of computing earnings per

share

EPS
Basic EPS is computed based on the weighted-average number of total common shares outstanding during

the respective period including nonvested shares of issued restricted stock that are entitled to receive dividends

should any dividends be declared Diluted EPS is computed under the treasury stock method based on the

weighted-average number of total common shares outstanding including nonvested shares of restricted stock

that are entitled to receive dividends should any
dividends be declared plus the dilutive effect of outstanding
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stock options estimated shares issuable under employee stock purchase plans and nonvested shares under the

Companys Executive Stock Bonus Plan that vest based on service conditions or on performance conditions

that have been achieved

The computations of basic and diluted net loss income attributable to Crawford Company per

common share after giving effect to the adoption of ASC 260-10-45-60 Earnings Per Share-Overall-Other

Presentation Matters were as follows for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

2009 2008 2007

In thousands except loss

earnings per share

Net loss income attributable to Crawford Company $115683 $32259 $16116

Weighted average common shares used to compute basic loss

earnings per share 51830 50958 50532

Dilutive effects of stock-based compensation plans __a 1384b 127c

Weighted-average common share equivalents used to compute

diluted loss earnings per share 51830 52342 50659

Basic loss earnings per share 2.23 0.63 0.32

Diluted toss earnings per Share 2.23 0.62 0.32

For the
year ended December 31 2009 the Company excluded from its loss per share calculations all

common share equivalents because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive The weighted-average

number of these common share equivalents for the year ended December 31 2009 totaled approximately

842000 shares These common share equivalents excluded weighted-average stock options of approxi

mately 2496000 because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive based on the average price of

CRDA during 2009

Weighted-average outstanding stock options to purchase approximately 1944000 shares of CRDA were

excluded from the computations of diluted EPS for the year ended December 31 2008 because their

inclusion would have been antidilutive based on the average price of CRDA during 2008

Weighted-average outstanding stock options to purchase approximately 2494000 shares of CRDA were

excluded from the computations of diluted EPS for the year ended December 31 2007 because their

inclusion would have been antidilutive based on the average price of CRDA during 2007

Foreign Currency

Realized net gains from foreign currency transactions totaled $2011000 $2046000 and $508000 for

the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

For operations outside the U.S that prepare financial statements in currencies other than the U.S dollar

results from operations and cash flows are translated into U.S dollars at average exchange rates during the

period and assets and liabilities are translated at end-of-period exchange rates The resulting translation

adjustments are included in comprehensive income loss in the Companys Consolidated Statements of

Shareholders Investment Noncontrolling Interest and Comprehensive Income Loss and the accumulated

translation adjustment is reported as component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the Companys
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Comprehensive Income Loss and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive income loss for the Company consists of the total of net income foreign currency

translations the effective portions of the Companys interest rate swaps and accrued pension and retiree

medical liability adjustments The Company reports comprehensive income loss net of income taxes in the

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Investment Noncontrolling Interests and Comprehensive Income

Loss Ending accumulated balances for each item in accumulated other comprehensive loss included in the
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Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Investment Non-

controlling Interests and Comprehensive Income Loss were as follows

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Adjustments to retirement liabilities $263438 $228235 102112

Tax benefit on retirement liabilities adjustments 93025 84343 38367

Adjustments to retirement liabilities net of tax 170413 143892 63745

Effective portions of interest rate swaps net of tax 1354 3285 2463

Foreign currency translation adjustments 6364 10980 26941

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $165403 $158157 39267

Includes adjustment of $769000 net of $492000 after income tax relating to the second phase adoption

of new accounting guidance See Note Retirement Plans

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 2006 the Company adopted the fair value recognition guidance
issued by the FASB

for share-based payments using the modified-prospective-transition method Under that transition method

compensation cost recognized in 2009 2008 and 2007 included compensation cost for all share-based

payments granted prior to but not yet vested as of January 2006 based on the grant-date fair value and

compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 2006 based on the grant-

date fair value Under the modified-prospective-transition method results for prior periods have not been

restated The guidance requires the cash flows related to any tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in

excess of the compensation cost recognized for stock-based awards excess tax benefits to be classified as

financing cash flows During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company recognized

no such excess tax benefits

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred Advertising expenses were

$3121000 $3532000 and $3275000 respectively for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

The Companys adoption of any other new accounting standards not previously discussed in this Note is

presented below

Expanded Disclosure for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

On January 2009 the Company adopted ASC 815-10-50 Derivatives and Hedging-Overall-Disclo

sure which requires expanded disclosures about an entitys derivative instruments and hedging activities

including requirements that interim financial statements include certain disclosures for derivative instruments

ASC 815-10-50 did not change any accounting requirements but instead relates only to disclosures Since this

new guidance relates only to disclosures its adoption did not have any impact on the Companys results of

operations financial condition or cash flows See Note Interest Rate Swap Agreements and Note Fair

Value

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements

On January 2009 the Company adopted ASC 810-10-65-1 Consolidation-Overall-Transition and

Open Effective Date Information which revised the classification of noncontrolling interests in consolidated

statements of financial position and the accounting for and reporting of transactions between the reporting

entity and holders of such noncontrolling interests Under this new guidance noncontrolling interests are
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considered equity and the practice of classifying minority interests within mezzanine section of the balance

sheet was eliminated Net loss income encompasses the total loss income of all consolidated subsidiaries

and there is separate disclosure on the face of the statement of operations of the attribution of that loss

income between the controlling and noncontrolling interests Increases and decreases in the noncontrolling

ownership interest amounts are accounted for as equity transactions Any future issuance of noncontrolling

interests that causes the controlling interest to lose control and deconsolidate subsidiary will be accounted

for by full gain or loss recognition Upon adoption ASC 810-10-65-1 was applied retroactively to all previous

financial statements and increased Shareholders Investment on January 2009 by $4808000 The adoption

of ASC 10-10-65-1 was not material to the Companys results of operations or cash flows

Business Combinations

On January 2009 the Company adopted ASC 805 Business Combinations ASC 805 changed many
well-established business combination accounting practices and significantly affected how acquisition transac

tions are reflected in the financial statements ASC 805 changed the accounting treatment for certain

acquisition-related activities that occur after its adoption including recording contingent consideration at

the acquisition date at fair value expensing acquisition-related costs as incurred and expensing

restructuring costs associated with the acquired business ASC 805 also introduced certain new disclosure

requirements Since ASC 805 uses an expanded definition of business the Company was required to evaluate

its reporting units at adoption The adoption of ASC 805 did not have an impact on the Companys
consolidated financial statements However it could have significant impact on the accounting for any future

acquisitions

Share-Based Payments As Participating Securities for EPS Calculations

On January 2009 the Company adopted ASC 260-10-45-60 Earnings Per Share-Overall-Other

Presentation Matters Under this guidance unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable

rights to dividends or dividend equivalents whether paid or unpaid are considered participating securities

and as such they are included in the computation of basic earnings per share EPS using the two-class

method Upon adoption all prior-period EPS data were adjusted retrospectively to conform to the provisions

of ASC 260-10-45-60 The Companys grants of restricted shares of its Class Common Stock made under

its Executive Stock Bonus Plan provide for the payment of nonforfeitable dividends should any be declared

and paid by the Company during any vesting period for the restricted stock grants As such these unvested

restricted stock grants are now considered participating securities and thus the two-class method of computing

EPS applies to the Company upon adoption of the new guidance The impact of ASC 260-10-45-60 on the

Companys basic and diluted EPS calculations for any time period depends upon the number of unvested

restricted stock grants outstanding for the period The adoption of this new guidance reduced basic EPS by

$0.01 for the year ended December 31 2008 For the year ended December 2007 retroactive adoption of this

new guidance did not change EPS amounts from those originally reported before the adoption

Subsequent Events

On June 30 2009 the Company adopted ASC 855 Subsequent Events ASC 855 provides authoritative

accounting and disclosure guidance for events occurring subsequent to the financial statement date Prior to

ASC 855 this subject was only addressed in the U.S by existing auditing standards The guidance in ASC
855 is similar to the existing guidance found in the auditing standards with some exceptions that are not

intended to result in significant changes in the accounting and disclosure for subsequent events

Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value

On August 28 2009 ASU 2009-05 was issued by the FASB ASU 2009-05 amended ASC 820-10 Fair

Value Measurements and Disclosures-Overall by providing additional guidance clarifying the measurement of

liabilities at fair value When quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not available the

amendments in ASU 2009-05 require that the fair value of liability be measured using one or more of the

listed valuation techniques that should maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of

unobservable inputs In addition the amendments in ASU 2009-05 clarify that when estimating the fair value

of liability an entity is not required to include separate input or adjustment to other inputs for the
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existence of restriction that prevents the transfer of the liability The Company adopted the provisions of

ASU 2009-05 on October 2009 Its adoption did not have material impact on the Companys financial

condition results of operations or cash flows

Employers Disclosures About Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets

ASC 715-10-50 Compensation-Retirement Benefits requires additional disclosures about assets held in

an employers defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan ASC 715-10-50 replaces many of the

disclosures currently required under GAAP and requires disclosure of the fair value of each major asset

category Disclosure is also required for the level within the fair value hierarchy of each major category of

plan assets using the guidance in ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Employers are

required to reconcile the beginning and ending balances of plan assets with fair values measured using

significant unobservable inputs Level separately presenting changes during the period attributable to

actual return on plan assets purchases sales and settlements net and transfers in and out of Level

if any ASC 715-10-50 is effective beginning with the Companys December 31 2009 annual disclosures

related to its defined benefit pension plans The Companys other postretirement plans are not funded thus the

disclosure provisions of ASC 715-10-50 do not apply to those plans Since ASC 715-10-50 relates only to

disclosures its adoption did not have an impact on the Companys results of operations financial condition or

cash flows See Note Retirement Plans

Pending Adoption of New Accounting Standards

Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements

On October 2009 the FASB issued ASU 2009-13 which will supersede certain guidance in ASC

605-25 Revenue Recognition-Multiple Element Arrangements and will require an entity to allocate

arrangement
consideration to all of its deliverables at the inception of an arrangement based on their relative

selling prices i.e the relative-selling-price method The use of the residual method of allocation will no

longer be permitted in circumstances in which an entity recognized revenue for an arrangement with multiple

deliverables subject to ASC 605-25 ASU 2009-13 will also require additional disclosures The Company will

adopt the provisions of ASU 2009-13 on January 2011 Based on the Companys current revenue

arrangements the adoption of ASU 2009-13 is not expected to have material impact on the Companys

financial condition results of operations or cash flows

Variable Interest Entities

On June 12 2009 the FASB issued ASU 2009-17 which amends ASC 810 Consolidations and other

related guidance ASU 2009-17 will make certain changes to the guidance used to determine when an entity

should consolidate variable interest entity in its consolidated financial statements ASU 2009-17 is effective

for the Company on January 2010 Based on the current status of the entities that are evaluated under

existing guidance for consolidation in the Companys consolidated financial statements the Company does not

expect the adoption of ASU 2009-17 to have material impact on its results of operations financial condition

or cash flows

DisposiTioNs AND ACQUISITIONS OF BUSINESSES

Disposition of Netherlands Subsidiary

In 2008 the Companys Netherlands subsidiary sold the capital stock of one of its subsidiaries The net

cash received from the buyer was $4269000 which consisted of the cash sale price of $5256000 less cash

of $987000 retained in the sold subsidiary The nontaxable gain recognized on this disposition was

$2512000 including cumulative translation adjustment of $344000 related to this sold entity In connection

with this disposition the Company derecognized goodwill of $1437000 from the Companys International

Operations segment and reporting unit The revenues and expenses of this sold subsidiary were not material to

the consolidated financial statements of the Company or to the operating results of the Companys

International Operations segment Accordingly the Company has not reported the disposed business as

discontinued operations in its consolidated financial statements
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Acquisition of Specialty Liability Services Ltd

In 2006 the Companys U.K subsidiary acquired all of the outstanding stock of Specialty Liability

Services Ltd SLS The purchase price paid at acquisition was $7965000 less $1099000 cash acquired

The results of SLSs operations have been included in the Companys consolidated financial statements since

that date SLS is specialist liability adjusting and claims handling company with operations in the U.K The

net assets acquired included amortizable intangible assets of $1409000 indefinite-live intangible assets of

$2487000 and goodwill of $2929000 The purchase price was increased by $1545000 $888000 and

$338000 in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively due to additional acquisition costs incurred in 2007 and

earnout payments in all three years At December 31 2009 all contingent amounts related to the SLS

acquisition have been determined and all have been paid with the exception of $791000 expected to be paid

in 2010 At December 31 2009 this $791000 is included in Goodwill and in current Accrued Liabilities on

the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet

Other acquisitions made by the Company in 2009 2008 and 2007 were not material

Gooiwiu AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The goodwill recognized fair values of assets acquired liabilities assumed and the net cash paid in 2009

and 2008 related to acquired businesses including adjustments for prior acquisitions were as follows

2009 2008

In thousands

Goodwill acquired

For current year acquisitions

U.S Property Casualty segment $1000

Adjustments for prior years acquisitions

International Operations segment 1545 4949

Total goodwill $2545 $4949

Intangible assets acquired

Adjustments for prior years acquisitions

Corporate
______

Total intangible assets

Fair values of tangible assets acquired

Earnout payment in accrued liabilities $1391 $4061

Earnout payment paid from accrued liabilities $5106

Cash paid net of cash acquired $6260 888

Adjustments for prior years acquisitions were for payments made under earnout agreements Included in

the 2008 goodwill adjustments of $4949000 for the International Operations segment is $4061000
additional earnout payment due to the seller of Robertson Company Group Robertson Robertson was

acquired by the Companys Australian subsidiary in 2002 Based on the earnout agreement the Company

recorded determinable earnout payment in translated U.S dollars of $4061000 in goodwill at December 31
2008 However the Company was not required to make this earnout payment until 2009 thus it was not

reflected as use of cash in the investing section of the Companys Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for

the year ended December 31 2008 This accrued earnout payment was paid to Robertson in 2009 when the

translated amount in U.S dollars had changed to $5106000 at time of payment

Goodwill Impairment Charge in 2009

Due to declines in current and forecasted operating results for the Companys Broadspire segment and

reporting unit the impact that declining U.S employment levels have had on Broadspires revenue and the

weakness in the Companys stock prices the Company recorded noncash impairment charge of $140.3 mil

lion during 2009 This impairment charge is not deductible for income tax purposes and is not reflected in
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Broadspires segment operating loss This impairment charge did not affect the Companys liquidity or cash

flows and had no effect on the Companys compliance with the financial covenants under its credit agreement

The first step of the goodwill impairment testing and measurement process involved estimating the fair

value of Broadspire using an internally prepared discounted cash flow analysis The discount rate utilized in

estimating the fair value of Broadspire was 14% reflecting the Companys assessment of market participants

view of the risks associated with Broadspires projected cash flows The terminal growth rate used in the

analysis was 3% The results of step of the process indicated potential impairment of the goodwill because

the carrying value of Broadspire exceeded its estimated fair value As result the Company then performed

step of the process to quantify the amount of the goodwill impairment In this step the estimated fair value

of Broadspire was allocated among its respective assets and liabilities in order to determine an implied value

of goodwill in manner similar to the calculations performed in the accounting for business combination

The allocation process was performed only for purposes
of measuring goodwill impairment and not to adjust

the carrying values of recognized tangible assets or liabilities Accordingly no impairment charge or carrying

value adjustments were made to the basis of any tangible asset or liability as result of this process The fair

value analysis relied upon both Level data publicly observable data such as market interest rates the

Companys stock price the stock prices of peer companies and the capital structures of peer companies and

Level data internal data such as the Companys operating and cash flow projections

The following table shows the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008

U.S Property Legal Settlement International

Casualty Broadspire Administration Operations Total

In thousands

Balance at December 31 2007

Goodwill 5834 140345 $20049 92983 259211

Accumulated Impairment Losses

Net 5834 140345 20049 92983 259211

2008 Activity

Goodwill for acquired

businesses 4949 4949

Goodwill for disposed business 1437 1437

Transfer of business 3813 3813

Foreign currency effects 10826 10826

Balance at December 31 2008

Goodwill 9647 140345 16236 85669 251897

Accumulated Impairment Losses

Net 9647 140345 16236 85669 251897

2009 Activity

Goodwill for acquired

businesses 1000 1545 2545

Goodwill for disposed business. 29 29

Foreign currency effects 9101 9101

Impairment 140345 140345

Balance at December 31 2009

Goodwill 10647 140345 16236 96286 263514

Accumulated Impairment

Losses 140345 140345

Net $10647 $16236 96286 $123169
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On January 2008 the Companys Strategic Warranty Services unit was transferred from the Legal

Settlement Administration segment to the U.S Property Casualty segment As result of this transfer

$3813000 of goodwill was reallocated from the Legal Settlement Administration reporting unit and segment

to the U.S Property Casualty reporting unit and segment

The following is summary of intangible assets at December 31 2009 and 2008

Weighted-Average

Gross Carrying Accumulated Accumulated Amortization

Amount Amortization Impairments Net Carrying Value Period

In thousands except years

Intangible assets subject

to amortization

December 31 2009

Customer

Relationships $89425 $19017 $70408 11.7 years

Technology-Based 4100 1360 2740 6.2 years

Total $93525 $20377 $73148 11.4 years

December 31 2008

Customer

Relationships $89401 $13009 $76392 12.7 years

Technology-Based 4100 921 3179 7.2 years

Total $93501 $l3930 $79571 12.3 years

Intangible assets not

subject to amortization

December 31 2009

Trademarks $31861 $600 $31261

December 31 2008

Trademarks $31818 $31818

As result of the Broadspire goodwill impairment noted above the Company also performed impairment

tests in 2009 for its intangible assets arising from business acquisitions As result the Company recorded

noncash intangible asset impairment charge of $600000 during 2009 This intangible asset related to the value

of trade name indefinite-lived intangible asset used in small portion of the Broadspire reporting unit This

impairment charge is not reflected in Broadspires segment operating loss This impairment charge did not

affect the Companys liquidity or cash flows and had no effect on the Companys compliance with the

financial covenants under its credit agreement

Amortization of intangible assets was $6433000 $6464000 and $6399000 for the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

amortization expense for customer-relationship intangible assets in the amounts of $5994000$6025000 and

$6025000 respectively were excluded from operating earnings see Note 12 Segment and Geographic

Information Intangible assets subject to amortization are amortized on straight-line basis over lives ranging

from to 15 years For intangible assets at December 31 2009 subject to amortization annual estimated

aggregate amortization expense is $6433000 for 2010 and 2011 $6399000 for 2012 and $6374000 for

2013 and 2014

SHoRT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT INCLUDING CAPITAL LEASES

On October 31 2006 the Company entered into secured credit agreement the Credit Agreement

with syndication of lenders The Credit Agreement provides for maximum borrowing capacity of

$310000000 comprised of term loan facility the term loan with an original principal amount of

$210000000 and ii revolving credit facility in the principal amount of $100000000 with swingline
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subfacility letter of credit subfacility and foreign currency sublimit The Credit Agreement has been

amended five times since October 31 2006 All amendments to the Companys Credit Agreement have been

accounted for as modification of existing debt Amended provisions of the original agreement and

amendments that were subsequently superseded by other amendments are not included in this note

At December 31 2009 and 2008 total of $180675000 and $194618000 respectively was outstanding

under the Credit Agreement In addition undrawn commitments under letters of credit totaling $19569000

and $19870000 were outstanding at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively under the letters of credit

subfacility of the Credit Agreement These letter of credit commitments were for the Companys own

obligations Including the amounts committed under the letters of credit subfacility the unused balance of the

revolving credit portion of the credit facility totaled $80431000 and $68286000 at December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively

Short-term borrowings including bank overdraft facilities totaled $32000 and $13366000 at Decem

ber 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31 2009 and 2008

2009 2008

In thousands

Term loan facility principal of $525 and interest payable quarterly with

balloon payment due October 2013 $180675 $182775

Other term loan payable to bank 161 231

Capital lease obligations
414 484

Total long-term debt and capital leases 181250 183490

Less current installments 8189 2284

Total long-term debt and capital leases less current installments $173061 $181206

The Companys capital leases are primarily comprised of leased automobiles with terms ranging from 24

to 60 months

Interest expense including any impact from the Companys interest rate hedge and amortization of

capitalized loan origination costs on the Companys short-term and long-term borrowings was $15229000

$19616000 and $19202000 for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Interest

paid on the Companys short-term and long-term borrowings was $14339000 $19037000 and $21166000

for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

At December 31 2008 the weighted-average interest rate on borrowings outstanding under the revolving

credit facility was 9.97% and all outstanding borrowings were outside the U.S At December 31 2009 no

borrowings were outstanding under the revolving credit facility The term loan has variable interest rate

based on LIBOR and at December 31 2009 the interest rate on the term loan was LIBOR with 2.0% floor

plus 3.25% or 5.25% See Note Interest Rate Swap Agreements for more on the Companys effective

rate of interest incurred on its outstanding borrowings

Scheduled principal repayments of long-term debt including current portions and capital leases as of

December 31 2009 are as follows

Payments Due by Period

2015

2011- 2013- and

2010 2012 2014 Thereafter Total

In thousands

Long-term debt including current portions $8029 $4307 $168500 $180836

Capital lease obligations 160 219 35 414

Total $8189 $4526 $168535 $181250
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The term loan currently requires minimum principal repayments of $525000 at the end of each calendar

quarter with final balloon payment due on October 30 2013 Outstanding borrowings under the revolving

credit facility are also due in full on October 30 2013 Interest is payable quarterly on the term loan For the

revolving credit facility interest is payable at least quarterly During 2009 the Company made only the

required quarterly repayments of $525000 on the term loan Under the Companys Credit Agreement the

Company may be required to make additional annual debt repayments if the Company generates excess cash

flows and fails to meet certain leverage ratios as defined in the Credit Agreement For the year ended

December 31 2009 the Company anticipates an excess cash flow payment of approximately $5875000 to be

paid on March 31 2010 This excess cash flow payment is classified as current liability in the above table

and on the Companys consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2009

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations warranties and covenants including covenants

limiting liens indebtedness guaranties mergers and consolidations substantial asset sales investments loans

sales and leasebacks dividends and distributions and certain fundamental changes Each of the direct and

indirect domestic subsidiaries of the Company and certain of its foreign subsidiaries guarantee the obligations

of the Company under the Credit Agreement The Companys and the subsidiary guarantors obligations under

the Credit Agreement are secured by liens on all of their respective personal property and mortgages over

certain of their owned and leased properties In addition the Credit Agreement requires the Company to meet

certain financial tests

In February 2009 the Company amended its Credit Agreement so that it could enhance certain

operational and financial aspects of its business including among other things undertaking an internal

corporate realignment of certain of the Companys operating subsidiaries and assets substantial portion of

this realignment was completed in connection with the execution of this amendment This corporate

realignment did not impact the composition of the Companys four operating segments In addition the

amendment provides the Company with the ability to repurchase and retire from time to time through

December 2010 up to $25.0 million of the outstanding term debt under the agreement

In October 2009 the Company entered into the Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement the Fifth

Amendment The Fifth Amendment affected the following changes to the Companys Credit Agreement

among others

provided the Company the option to increase the revolving commitment amount or incur additional

term loans under the Credit Agreement of up to maximum of $50000000 in aggregate

extended the revolving credit termination date to October 30 2013

modified the restricted payments basket

imposed LIBOR floor of 2.0% on all LIBOR-based loans under the Credit Agreement

increased the applicable margin as defined and applicable commitment fee percentage

increased the unsecured indebtedness basket from $5000000 to $200000000 provided that 50% of

the proceeds thereof are applied as mandatory prepayment to the term loans and revolving loans in

that order under the Credit Agreement and

modified the maximum leverage ratio defined as the ratio of consolidated debt to earnings before

interest expense income taxes depreciation amortization stock-based compensation expense and

certain other charges EB1TDA to no more than 3.25 to 1.00 through March 31 2011 ii 3.00

to 1.00 from June 30 2011 through March 31 2012 iii 2.75 to 1.00 from June 30 2012 through

September 30 2012 and iv 2.50 to 1.00 from December 31 2012

Under the Credit Agreement the fixed charge coverage ratio defined as the ratio of EBITDA to total

fixed charges consisting of scheduled principal and interest payments and restricted payments as defined in the

Credit Agreement of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries must not be less than 1.50 to 1.00

The Credit Agreement also provides for the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries to maintain

minimum net worth of at least the sum of $150000000 plus ii 50% of the cumulative net income of the
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Company and its consolidated subsidiaries after the third quarter of 2006 plus iii any net proceeds from any

underwritten public offering of any capital stock of the Company

The covenants in the Credit Agreement also place certain restrictions on the Companys ability to pay

dividends to shareholders including $4500000 limit in any four quarter period if the Leverage Ratio as

defined is less than 2.75 to 1.00 but exceeds 2.25 to 1.00 and $12500000 limit on dividend payments in

any four quarter period if the leverage ratio is less than or equal to 2.25 to 1.00

In the event of default by the Company under the Credit Agreement the lenders may terminate the

commitments under the agreement and declare any amounts then outstanding including all accrued interest

and unpaid fees payable immediately For events of default relating to insolvency bankruptcy or receivership

the commitments are automatically terminated and the amounts outstanding become payable immediately

At December 31 2009 the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under the Credit

Agreement If the Company does not meet the covenant requirements in the future it would be in default

under the Credit Agreement In such an event the Company would need to obtain waiver of the default or

repay the outstanding indebtedness under the Credit Agreement If the Company could not obtain waiver on

satisfactory terms it could be required to renegotiate the Credit Agreement or obtain other financing in order

to repay all amounts due thereunder Any such renegotiations if successful or any other financing if

completed could result in less favorable terms including higher interest rates accelerated payments and fees

No assurance can be provided that any necessary renegotiations or other financing arrangements could be

completed in timely manner or at all

INTEREST RATE SWAP AGREEMENTS

The Company manages its exposure to the impact of interest rate changes by entering interest rate swap

agreements The Company designates pay-fixed interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of interest payments

on floating-rate debt Pay-fixed swaps effectively convert floating rate debt to fixed-rate debt The Company

reports the effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative instrument as component of its

accumulated other comprehensive loss and reclassifies that portion into earnings in the same period during

which the hedged transaction affects earnings The Company recognizes the ineffective portion of the hedge if

any in current earnings during the period of change Amounts that are reclassified into earnings from

accumulated other comprehensive loss and the ineffective portion of the hedge if any are reported on the

same income statement line item as the original hedged item The Company includes the fair value of the

hedge in either current or non-current other liabilities and/or other assets on the balance sheet based upon the

term of the hedged item The Company is exposed to counterparty credit risk for nonperformance and in the

event of nonperformance to market risk for changes in interest rates The Company attempts to manage

exposure to counterparty credit risk primarily by selecting counterparty only if it meets certain credit and

other financial standards

In May 2007 the Company entered into three-year interest rate swap agreement that effectively converts

the LIBOR-based portion of the interest rate under the Companys Credit Agreement for portion of its

floating-rate debt to fixed rate of 5.25% The Company designated the interest rate swap as cash flow

hedge of exposure to changes in cash flows due to changes in interest rates on an equivalent amount of debt

The notional amount of the swap is reduced over its three-year term and was $80000000 at December 31

2009

In connection with the Fifth Amendment to the Companys Credit Agreement this interest rate swap was

discontinued as cash flow hedge of exposure to changes in cash flows due to changes in interest rates

Accordingly any future changes in the fair value of this swap agreement will be recorded by the Company as

noninterest expense adjustment rather than component of the Companys accumulated other comprehensive

loss Such amount was not material for the year ended December 31 2009 The pretax amount in accumulated

comprehensive loss at the time the hedge was discontinued was $2652000 and was $1593000 at

December 31 2009 Because it is still probable that the forecasted transactions that were hedged will occur

this loss on the interest rate swap agreement will be reclassified into earnings as an increase to interest

expense over the remaining life of the interest rate swap agreement as the forecasted transactions occur The
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Company believes there have been no material changes in the creditworthiness of the counterparty to this

interest-rate swap agreement

In November 2009 the Company entered into two-year forward-starting interest rate swap agreement

that is effective beginning on June 30 2010 The swap effectively converts the LIBOR-based portion of the

interest rate on an initial notional amount of $90000000 million of the Companys floating-rate debt to

fixed rate of 3.05% plus the applicable credit spread The Company designated the interest rate swap as cash

flow hedge of exposure to changes in cash flows due to changes in interest rates on an equivalent amount of

debt The notional amount of the swap is reduced to $85000000 on March 31 2011 to match the expected

repayment of the Companys outstanding debt The Company believes there have been no material changes in

the creditworthiness of the counterparties to this interest-rate swap agreement

At December 31 2009 the fair value of the interest rate swaps was liability of $2067000 and the

amount expected to be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings during the next

twelve months was approximately $2074000

The effective portions of the pre-tax losses on the Companys interest-rate swap derivative instruments are

categorized in the table below

Loss Recognized

in Other Loss Reclassified

Comprehensive from

Loss Accumulated OCL
OCL on into

Derivative Income Effective

Effective Portion Portion1

Year Ended December 31 2009 2008 2009 2008

In thousands

Cash Flow Hedging Relationship

Interest rate hedge $400

Interest Rate Swap Discontinued as Cash Flow Hedge $947 $3740 $4425 $2542

The losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into income effective portion are

reported in Net Corporate Interest Expense on the Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations

The amounts of gains/losses recognized in income/expense on the Companys interest rate hedge contract

ineffective portion excluded from any effectiveness testing were not material for the years ended Decem

ber 31 2009 2008 or 2007

The balances and changes in atcumulated other comprehensive loss related to the effective portions of the

Companys interest rate hedges for the year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 were as follows

Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2009 2008

In thousands

Amount in accumulated other comprehensive loss at beginning of

period for effective portion of interest rate hedge net of tax $3285 $2463

Loss reclassified into income net of tax 2776 1744

Loss recognized during period net of tax 845 _2566

Amount in accumulated other comprehensive loss at end of period for

effective portion of interest rate hedge net of tax $1354 $3285

The Companys interest rate swap agreements contain provision providing that if the Company is in

default under its Credit Agreement see Note the Company may also be deemed to be in default under its

interest rate swap agreements If there was such default the Company could be required to contemporane

ously settle some or all of the obligations under the interest rate swap agreements at values determined at the

time of default At December 31 2009 no such default existed and the Company had no assets posted as

collateral under its interest rate swap agreements
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FAIR VALUE

The fair value hierarchy has three levels which are based on the reliability of the inputs used to determine

fair value Level inputs are quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable

for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly through market corroboration for substantially the full

term of the financial instrument Level inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Companys assumptions

used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value financial asset or liabilitys classification within the

hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

The following table presents the Companys assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on

recurring basis and are categorized using the fair value hierarchy

Fair Value Measurements at

December 31 2009

Significant Other Significant

Quoted Prices in Observable Unobservable

Active Markets Inputs Inputs

Total Level Level Level

In thousands

Assets

Money market funds1 2888 $2888

Liabilities

Derivative designated as hedging

instrument

Interest rate swap2 400 400
Derivative discontinued as hedging

instrument

Interest rate swap2 1667 1667

The fair values of the money market funds were based on recently quoted market prices and reported

transactions in an active marketplace Money market funds are reported on the Companys Consolidated

Balance Sheet as Cash and Cash Equivalents

The fair value of the interest rate swaps was derived from discounted cash flow analysis based on the

terms of the contracts and the forward interest rate curve adjusted for the Companys credit risk The fair

values of the hedge instruments are either current or non-current Other Liabilities and/or Other Assets on

the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet based upon the term of the hedged item

Fair Value Disclosures

The fair value of accounts payable and short-term borrowings approximates their carrying value due to

the short-term maturity of the instruments The Company estimates the fair value of its term note payable

based on discounted cash flow analysis based on current borrowing rates for new debt issues with similar

credit quality The fair value of the Companys variable-rate long-term debt approximates carrying value at

December 31 2009

Comr.rrs UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The Company and its subsidiaries lease certain office space computer equipment and automobiles under

operating leases For office leases that contain scheduled rent increases or rent concessions the Company

recognizes monthly rent expense based on calculated average monthly rent amount that considers the rent

increases and rent concessions over the life of the lease term Leasehold improvements of capital nature that

are made to leased office space under operating leases are amortized over the shorter of the term of the lease

or the estimated useful life of the improvement License and maintenance costs related to the leased vehicles
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are paid by the Company Rental expenses net of amortization of any incentives provided by lessors for

operating leases consisted of the following

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Office space $44069 $46501 $48026

Automobiles 7978 9651 8654

Computers and equipment 728 646 634

Total operating leases $52775 $56798 $57314

At December 31 2009 future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating leases with terms of

more than 12 months were as follows 2010$51723000 2011 $41668000 2012$34429000
2013 $28342000 2014 $21386000 and thereafter $61756000 Where applicable the amounts

above include sales taxes

Significant Operating Leases and Subleases

Effective August 2006 the Company entered into an 11-year operating lease agreement for the lease of

approximately 160000 square feet of office space in Atlanta Georgia for use as the Companys corporate

headquarters Included in the future minimum lease payments noted above are total lease payments of

$31227000 related to this lease Additionally the Company is responsible for certain property operating

expenses Leasehold improvements totaling $4921000 were funded directly by the lessor

On October 31 2006 the Company acquired Broadspire Management Services Inc BMSI Included

in the acquired commitments of BMSI was long-term operating lease for two-building office complex in

Plantation Florida The term of this lease ends in December 2021 Included in the future minimum office

lease payments for operating leases noted above are total lease payments $5 1020.000 related to this

Plantation Florida lease majority of this office space is subleased at December 31 2009 Under executed

sublease arrangements at December 31 2009 between the Company and sublessors as described below the

sublessors are obligated to pay the Company minimum sublease payments as follows

Year Ending December 31 In thousands

2010 2098

2011 2211

2012 2461

2013 2503

2014 1082

2015-2021 4612

Total minimum sublease payments to be received $14967

One of the Plantation Florida sublease agreements is for an entire building and expires in March 2014

At expiration this sublessor has the option to renew this sublease agreement through December 2021 Should

this sublessor elect to renew the sublease agreement additional sublease payments from this sublessor to the

Company would be approximately $14277000 over the renewal period This additional $14277000 is not

included in the above table

During October 2009 the Company entered into separate sublease agreement with another sublessor to

sublease portion of the other building in Plantation Florida Expected subrental payments from the sublessor

for the space subleased in October 2009 are included in the above table For the portion of the building

subleased in October 2009 the Company concurrently recognized pre-tax loss of $1810000 on that phase

of the sublease This sublease agreement also provides the sublessor with options to sublease all or portion

of the remainder of the building at various dates in 2010 The subleases would be for the remaining term of

the Companys lease on this building expiring December 2021

In February 2010 the sublessor exercised one of its options for additional space in the building and the

Company expects to recognize pre-tax loss of approximately $1942000 on that phase of the sublease For
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the space subleased in February 2010 the Company expects to receive approximately $9318000 in additional

sublease payments from the sublessor over the life of the sublease this amount is not included in the above

table If the sublessor exercises it remaining option the Company would record an additional loss of

approximately $997000 in 2010 on that phase of the sublease and the Company would receive additional

sublease payments of approximately $5323000 over the life of the sublease not reflected in the above table

Due to the subleases in 2010 the Company plans to relocate its Broadspire operations in Plantation

Florida to another building Accordingly the Company entered into new lease for office space in 2010 In

connection with this relocation the Company expects to incur moving expenses of approximately $600000

during the second quarter of 2010

INcoME TAXES

Income loss before provision for income taxes consisted of the following

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

U.S $146898 6190 $l744
Foreign 34147 38257 23491

Loss Income before taxes $112751 $44447 $21747

The provision benefit for income taxes consisted of the following

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Current

U.S federal and state $4769 166 $1172
Foreign 6924 11483 8005

Deferred

U.S federal and state 823 766 2110
Foreign 1286 519 673

Provision for income taxes $2618 $11564 $5396

Net cash payments for income taxes were $10301000 $7975000 and $2339000 in 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively

The provision for income taxes is reconciled to the federal statutory rate of 35% as follows

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Federal income taxes at statutory rate $39642 $15338 7529

State income taxes net of federal benefit 562 223 149

Foreign taxes 4400 2110 658

Change in valuation allowance 358 597 1105

Credits 4074 3468 1062
Tax exempt interest income 11 267 1155
Nondeductible meals and entertainment 954 1189 847

Changes in tax accruals and reserves 200 170 2012
Goodwill intangible asset impairments 49191

Other 120 678 653

Provision for income taxes 2618 $11564 $5396

The Company does not provide for additional U.S and foreign income taxes on undistributed earnings of

foreign subsidiaries because they are considered to be indefinitely reinvested The Companys intent is for such

earnings to be reinvested by the subsidiaries or to be repatriated only when it would be tax effective through
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the utilization of foreign tax credits At December 31 2009 such undistributed earnings totaled $89001000

Determination of the deferred income tax liability on these unremitted earnings is not practicable since such

liability if any is dependent on circumstances existing when remittance occurs

Deferred income taxes consisted of the following at December 31 2009 and 2008

2009 2008

In thousands

Accrued compensation
10061 12536

Accrued pension liabilities 93838 85267

Self-insured risks 13303 14698

Deferred revenues 18598 24604

Tax credit carryforwards 23055 4710

Net operating loss carryforwards 19443 26837

Other 1773 5523

Gross deferred income tax assets 180071 174175

Accounts receivable allowance 5693 4942

Prepaid pension cost 16559 15699

Unbilled revenues 15233 16420

Depreciation and amortization 58948 61281

Tax accruals and reserves 2638 3039

Other post-retirement benefits 863 76

Gross deferred income tax liabilities 99934 101457

Net deferred income tax assets before valuation allowance 80137 72718

Less valuation allowance 9640 9285

Net deferred income tax assets 70497 63433

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of

Current deferred income tax assets included in deferred income tax

liabilities 20031

Current deferred income tax liabilities included in deferred income tax

liabilities 24293

Current deferred income tax assets included in deferred income tax assets 24900

Current deferred income tax liabilities included in deferred income tax

assets 23907

Long-term deferred income tax assets included in deferred income tax

assets 165670 149163

Long-term deferred income tax liabilities included in deferred income tax

assets 96166 81468

Net deferred income tax assets 70497 63433

At December 31 2009 the Company had deferred tax assets related to net operating loss carryforwards

of $19443000 An estimated $9948000 of the deferred tax asset will not expire and $9495000 will expire

over the next 20 years if not utilized by the Company valuation allowance is provided when it is deemed

more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of deferred tax asset will not be realized At December 31

2009 the Company has $9640000 valuation allowance related to certain net operating loss carryforwards

generated in its international operations The remaining net operating loss deferred tax asset of $9803000 is

expected to be fully utilized by the Company

As disclosed in Note on January 2007 the Company adopted guidance which clarifies the accounting

for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entitys financial statements and prescribes recognition

threshold and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to

be taken on tax return Under this guidance the impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income

tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit by
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the relevant taxing authority An uncertain income tax position cannot be recognized if it has less than 50%
likelihood of being sustained Additionally this guidance addresses derecognition classification interest and

penalties accounting in interim periods disclosure and transition The adoption of this new guidance resulted

in $214000 charge to the Companys retained earnings that was reported as cumulative effect adjustment

for change in accounting principle at January 2007

reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of unrecognized income tax benefits follows

In thousands

Balance at January 2007 5541

Additions based on tax provisions related to the current year 285

Additions for tax positions of prior years 126

Settlements 1917
Lapses of applicable statutes of limitation 410
Balance at December 31 2007 3625

Additions based on tax provisions related to the current year 305

Additions for tax positions of prior years 18

Settlements 87

Lapses of applicable statutes of limitation 682
Balance at December 31 2008 3353

Additions based on tax provisions related to the current year 634

Changes in judgments or facts 254
Additions for tax positions of prior years 138

Settlements 89
Lapses of applicable statutes of limitation 875
Balance at December 31 2009 2907

The Company accrues interest and if applicable penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income

tax expense For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company recorded net interest

income related to unrecognized tax benefits of $248000 $29000 and $397000 respectively Total accrued

interest expense at December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was $651000 $899000 and $928000 respectively

Included in the total unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 were $2215000
$2455000 and $2566000 respectively of tax benefits that if recognized would affect the effective income

tax rate

The Company conducts business globally and as result files U.S federal and various state and foreign

jurisdiction income tax returns In the normal course of business the Company is subject to examination by

various taxing authorities throughout the world including jurisdictions such as Canada the United Kingdom
and the United States With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations for

years before 2002

It is reasonably possible that reduction in
range of $50000 to $300000 of unrecognized tax benefits

may occur within 12 months as result of projected resolutions of worldwide tax uncertainties

Riiurwrr PLANS

The Company and its subsidiaries sponsor various retirement plans Substantially all employees in the

U.S and certain employees outside the U.S are covered under the Companys defined contribution plans

Certain employees retirees and eligible dependents are also covered under the Companys defined benefit

pension plans fixed number of U.S employees retirees and eligible dependents are covered under frozen

post-retirement medical benefits plan in the U.S In addition the Company sponsors nonqualified unfunded

defined benefit pension plans for certain employees and retirees

Employer contributions under the Companys defined contribution plans are determined annually based

on employee contributions percentage of each covered employees compensation and years of service The
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Companys cost for defined contribution plans totaled $18944000 $25350000 and $21256000 in 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively During 2009 the Company temporarily suspended Company contributions for

certain defined contribution plans in the U.S

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans in the U.S and U.K Effective December 31 2002

the Company elected to freeze its U.S defined benefit pension plan The Companys U.K defined benefit

pension plans have also been closed for new employees but existing participants may still accrue additional

limited benefits based on salary amounts in effect at the time the plan was closed Benefits payable under the

Companys U.S defined benefit pension plan are generally based on career compensation however no

additional benefits accrue on the frozen U.S plan after December 31 2002 Benefits payable under the U.K

plans are generally based on an employees final salary at the time the plan was closed Benefits paid from the

U.K plans are also subject to adjustments for the effects of inflation In 2010 the Company expects to make

contributions of approximately $33500000 to its U.S defined benefit pension plan and approximately

$8000000 to its U.K defined benefit pension plans

Certain other employees located in the Netherlands Norway and Germany referred to herein as the

other international plans have retirement benefits that are accounted for as defined pension benefits under

U.S GAAP

The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the projected benefit obligations and the fair

value of plans assets for the Companys defined benefit pension plans as of the plans most recent

measurement dates is as follows

Funded Status

December 31

2009 2008

In thousands

Projected Benefit Obligations

Beginning of measurement period 537712 629640

Service cost 2073 2506

Interest cost 36221 40694

Employee contributions 768 716

Actuarial loss gain 91798 481 23

Divestiture 1706

Benefits paid
32277 33808

Foreign currency effects 5013 52207

End of measurement period
641308 537712

Fair Value of Plans Assets

Beginning of measurement period 354455 548871

Actual return on plans assets 80243 139015

Employer contributions 17795 24577

Employee contributions
768 716

Divestiture 1127
Benefits paid

32277 33808

Foreign currency effects 4050 45759

End of measurement period 425034 354455

Unfunded Status $216274 S183257

Due to the status of the plans the accumulated benefit obligations and the projected benefits obligations

are not materially different

Benefit payments from supplemental pension plans during 2009 and 2008 included $309000 and

$311000 respectively in payments related to unfunded plans that were paid from Company assets
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The underfunded status of the Companys defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement medical

benefits plan recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 consisted of

2009 2008

In thousands

Long-term accrued pension liability U.S plan 133912 140835

Long-term accrued pension liability U.K plans 54905 25757

Long-term accrued pension liability other international plans 1310 2650

Pension obligations included in other noncurrent liabilities 3450 3435

Post-retirement medical benefits liability in self-insured risks 744

Mandatory Company contributions in current liabilities 25000 10300

Pension obligations included in current liabilities 316 280

Post-retirement medical liability included in current liabilities 103

Accumulated other comprehensive loss before income taxes 263438 228235

The following tables set forth the 2009 and 2008 changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss for

the Companys defined benefit retirement plans and post-retirement medical benefits plan on combined basis

For the U.S defined benefit pension plan and the post-retirement medical plan the 2008 amounts in the tables

below cover the fifteen month period between October 2007 and December 31 2008

Defined Benefit Post-Retirement

Unrecognized actuarial loss gain Pension Plans Medical Plan

In thousands

Net unrecognized actuarial loss gain at beginning of 2008 $103317 $1205

Amortization of net loss gain during 2008 4711 18
Divestiture 253

Net loss gain arising during 2008 140397 1490

Currency translation for 2008 7838

Net unrecognized actuarial loss gain at end of 2008 230912 2677

Amortization of net loss gain during 2009 7543 376

Net loss arising during 2009 41957

Currency translation for 2009 413
______

Net unrecognized actuarial loss gain at end of 2009 $265739 $2301

Net unrecognized actuarial losses included in accumulated other comprehensive loss and expected to be

recognized in net periodic benefit costs during the year ending December 31 2010 for the U.S and U.K plans

are $9909000 $6531000 net of tax

Net periodic benefit cost credit related to the Companys defined benefit pension plans recognized in

the Companys Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

included the following components

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Service cost 2073 2506 3095

Interest cost 36221 34749 35310

Expected return on assets 30212 41981 38977

Amortization of intangible asset 241 236 302

Amortization of actuarial loss 7302 3703 8219

Net periodic benefit cost credit 15625 787 7949

Benefit cost for the U.S defined benefit pension plan no longer includes service cost since the plan is

frozen
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Over the next ten years the following benefit payments are expected to be required to be made from the

Companys U.S and U.K defined benefit pension plans

Expected Benefit

Year Payments

In thousands

2010 29343

2011 30347

2012 31389

2013 32380

2014 33442

20152019 181508

Certain assumptions used in computing the benefit obligations and net periodic benefit cost for the

U.S and U.K defined benefit pension plans were as follows

U.S Defined Benefit Plan 2009 2008

Discount rate used to compute benefit obligations 5.88% 6.70%

Discount rate used to compute periodic benefit cost 6.70% 6.46%

Expected long-term rates of return on plans assets 8.50% 8.50%

U.K Defined Benefit Plans 2009 2008

Discount rate used to compute benefit obligations 5.70% 7.30%

Discount rate used to compute periodic benefit cost 7.30% 5.60%

Expected long-term rates of return on plans assets 8.50% 8.50%

The discount rate assumptions reflect the rates at which the Company believes the benefit obligations

could be effectively settled The discount rates were determined based on the yield for portfolio of

investment grade corporate bonds with maturity dates matched to the estimated future payments of the plans

benefit obligations The expected long-term rates of return on plan assets were based on the plans asset mix

historical returns on equity securities and fixed income investments and an assessment of expected future

returns Due to the status of the plans increases in compensation rates are not material to the computations of

benefit obligations or net periodic benefit cost

Plans Assets

The plans asset allocations at the respective measurement dates by asset category for the Companys
U.S and U.K defined benefit pension plans were as follows

U.S Plan U.K Plans

2009 2008 2009 2008

Equity securities 67.0% 1.2% 66.3% 1.3%

Fixed income investments 30.9% 25.0% 33.5% 28.4%

Cash 2.1% 18% 2% ft3%

Total asset allocation 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

U.S Plan assets included shares of the Companys Class and Class Common Stock with total fair

value of $6690000 at December 31 2008 These shares of the Companys common stock were sold and

removed from the U.S Plans assets in 2009

Assets of the U.S and U.K plans are invested in equity securities and fixed income investments with

target allocation of approximately 65% in equity securities and 35% in fixed income investments

Investment objectives for the Companys U.S and U.K pension plan assets are to

Ensure availability of funds for payment of plan benefits as they become due
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Provide for reasonable amount of long-term growth of capital without undue exposure to volatility

and protect the assets from erosion of purchasing power and

Provide investment results that meet or exceed the Plans actuarially assumed long-term rate of return

The long-term goal for the U.S and U.K plans is to reach fully-funded status and to maintain that status

The investment policies recognize that the plans asset return requirements and risk tolerances will change

over time Accordingly reallocation of the portfolios mix of return-seeking assets and liability-hedging assets

will be performed as the plans funded status improves

The fair value of the U.S Plan and the U.K Plans pension assets at December 31 2009 by asset

category was as follows

U.S Plan Assets

Significant Other Significant

Quoted Prices in Observable Unobservable

Active Markets Inputs Inputs

Total Level Level Level

In thousands

Assets Category

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5711 5711

Equity Securities

U.S 118875 36606 82269

International 55756 3794 51962

Fixed Income Securities

U.S 70395 70395

International 10091 ______
10091

TOTAL $260828 $46111 $214717

U.K Plans Assets

Significant Other Significant

Quoted Prices in Observable Unobservable

Active Markets Inputs Inputs

Total Level Level Level

In thousands

Assets Category

Cash and Cash Equivalents 276 276

Equity Securities

U.S 14099 14099

International 83588 83588

Fixed Income Securities 49440 49440

TOTAL $147403 $147403

Level inputs are quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are

observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly through market corroboration for

substantially the full term of the financial instrument

Level inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Companys assumptions used to measure assets

and liabilities at fair value

financial asset or liabilitys classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement
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10 COMMON STOCK

The Company has two classes of common stock outstanding Class Common Stock CRDA and

Class Common Stock CRDB These two classes of stock have essentially identical rights except that

shares of CRDA generally do not have any voting rights Under the Companys Articles of Incorporation the

Board of Directors may pay higher but not lower cash dividends on the non-voting CRDA than on the voting

CRDB As described in Note 11 certain shares of CRDA are issued with restrictions under executive

compensation plans

As disclosed in Note the Companys Credit Agreement contains restrictions on dividends and

distributions

In April 1999 the Companys Board of Directors authorized discretionary share repurchase program of

an aggregate of 3000000 shares CRDA and CRDB through open market purchases Through December

2009 the Company has reacquired 2150876 shares of CRDA and 143261 shares of CRDB at an average cost

of $10.99 and $12.21 per share respectively No shares have been repurchased since 2004 under this plan

In 2008 maximum of 550000 shares of CRDA were authorized for issuance in 2009 under the

Companys Frozen Accrued Vacation Stock Purchase Plan the Plan Under this Plan certain officers and

employees of the Company could voluntarily make one-time irrevocable election to convert accrued vacation

into shares of CRDA Accrued vacation in the amount of $372000 was used to purchase 54768 net of

28090 shares used to fund payroll and withholding taxes shares of CRDA under the Plan

11 Soc-Bsii CoMPENsATIoN

The Company has various stock-based compensation plans for its employees and members of its board of

directors Only shares of the Companys Class Common Stock CRDA are involved in these plans The

fair value of an equity award is estimated on the grant date without regard to service or performance

conditions The fair value is recognized as compensation expense over the requisite service period for all

awards that vest When recognizing compensation costs estimates are made for the number of awards that

will vest and subsequent adjustments are made to reflect both changes in the number of shares expected to

vest and actual vesting Compensation cost is not recognized for awards that do not vest because service or

performance conditions are not satisfied Compensation cost recognized at any date equals at least the portion

of the grant-date value of an award that is vested at that date For awards granted prior to January 2006 that

were not previously subject to the expense recognition provisions of previous accounting guidance

compensation expense under the revised accounting guidance is recognized only for the portions of those

awards that were unvested at the adoption of the revised accounting guidance on January 2006 Expense for

these awards is recognized ratably beginning January 2006 over the remaining vesting period of each

award

The pretax compensation expense recognized for all stock-based compensation plans was $5510000

$5858000 and $2929000 for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

The total income tax benefit recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for stock-based

compensation arrangements was approximately $1709000 $1801000 and $816000 for the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Some of the Companys stock-based compensation awards

are granted under plans which are designed not to be taxable as compensation to the recipient based on tax

laws of the United States or the applicable country Accordingly the Company does not recognize tax benefits

on all of its stock-based compensation expense

During 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company recognized no adjustments to additional paid-in capital for

differences between deductions taken on its income tax returns related to stock-based compensation plans and

the related income tax benefits previously recognized for financial reporting purposes
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Stock Options

The Company has granted nonqualified and incentive stock options to key employees and directors All

stock options were for shares of CRDA Option awards were granted with an exercise price equal to the

market price of the Companys stock at the date of grant The Companys stock option plans have been

approved by shareholders although the Companys Board of Directors is authorized to make specific grants of

stock options under active plans Employee stock options typically are subject to graded vesting over five

years 20% each year and have typical life of ten years Compensation cost for stock options is recognized

on straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award For awards granted prior to

January 2006 compensation expense
is recognized only for the portion of the award that was unvested on

January 2006 For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 compensation expense of $418000

$469000 and $536000 respectively was recognized for employee stock option awards

Historically stock options granted to members of the Companys board of directors typically were fully

vested on grant date with typical life of ten years For the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

compensation expense of $28000 and $248000 respectively was recognized for directors stock options

No stock options were granted to employees or members of the Board of Directors in 2009

summary of option activity as of December 31 2009 and changes during 2009 2008 and 2007 is

presented below

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Price Term Value

In thousands In thousands

Outstanding at December 31 2006 3673 9.10 4.7 years 805

Granted 120 6.51

Exercised 30 4.97

Forfeited or expired 756 12.86

Outstanding at December 31 2007 3007 8.10 4.7 years

Granted 274 4.40

Exercised 184 7.03

Forfeited or expired 369 12.87

Outstanding at December 31 2008 2728 7.16 4.7 years $2008

Granted

Exercised 4.40

Forfeited or expired 331 10.18

Outstanding at December 31 2009 2394 6.74 3.3 years

Vested at December 31 2009 2209 6.92 2.9 years

Exercisable at December 31 2009 2209 6.92 2.9 years

The intrinsic value of all outstanding stock options at December 31 2009 and 2007 was zero since the

per share market price of CRDA was less than the exercise price of all outstanding stock options The

weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31 2008

and 2007 was $2.55 and $2.07 respectively No stock options were granted in 2009 The total intrinsic value

of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was $611000 and $40000

respectively The options exercised in 2009 had no intrinsic value The total fair value of stock options vesting

during the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was $484000 $365000 and $1100000

respectively
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At December 31 2009 there was $297000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock

options for employee stock option awards This cost is being recognized on straight-line basis and will be

fully recognized by April 2011 Directors stock options had no unrecognized compensation cost since

directors options were vested when granted and the grant-date fair values were fully expensed on grant date

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton

option-pricing formula with the following weighted-average assumptions

2008 2007

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 3.4%

Expected volatility 48% 36%

Risk-free interest rate 3.9% 5.1%

Expected term of options years years

The expected dividend yield used for 2007 was based on the Companys historical dividend yield

However dividend yield of zero was used in 2008 since the Company has not paid any cash dividends to

shareholders since August 2006 and at this time the Company cannot predict when cash dividends will resume

The expected volatility of the price of CRDA was based on historical realized volatility The risk-free interest

rate was the implied yield available on U.S Treasury zero-coupon issues with terms equal to the expected

term used in the pricing formula The expected term of the option took into account both the contractual term

of the option and the effects of expected exercise behavior No stock options were granted in 2009

Performance-Based Stock Grants

Key employees of the Company are eligible to earn shares of CRDA upon the achievement of certain

individual and corporate objectives Grants of performance shares are determined at the discretion of the

Companys Board of Directors or the Boards Compensation Committee and are subject to graded vesting

over periods typically ranging from three to five years Shares are not issued until the vesting requirements

have lapsed Dividends are not paid or accrued on unvestedlunissued shares The grant-date fair value of

performance share grant is based on the market value of CRDA on the date of grant reduced for the present

value of any dividends expected to be paid on CRDA shares but not paid to holders of unvested/unissued

performance grants Compensation expense for each vesting tranche in the award is recognized ratably from

the service inception date to the vesting date for each tranche

summary of the status of the Companys nonvested performance shares as of December 31 2009 and

changes in 2009 2008 and 2007 is presented below

Weighted-Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Nonvested at January 2007 1088020 $5.22

Granted 164500 4.98

Vesting 47414 5.27

Forfeited or unearned 55795 4.95

Nonvested at December 31 2007 1149311 5.20

Granted 1217300 4.02

Vesting 1063754 4.66

Forfeited or unearned 139690 4.80

Nonvested at December 31 2008 1163167 4.49

Granted 452826 5.68

Vesting 542063 4.45

Forfeited or unearned 15424 5.33

Nonvested at December 31 2009 1058506 4.86
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The total fair value of the 542063 the 1063754 and the 47414 performance shares vesting in 2009

2008 and 2007 was $2412000 $4957000 and $250000 respectively

Compensation expense recognized for all performance shares totaled $3514000 $4481000 and

$1616000 for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Compensation cost for these

awards is net of estimated or actual award forfeitures As of December 31 2009 there was an estimated

$1914000 of unearned compensation cost for all nonvested performance shares All of this unearned

compensation cost is expected to be fully recognized by the end of 2011

Restricted Shares

The Companys Board of Directors may elect to issue restricted shares of stock in lieu of or in addition

to cash bonus payments to certain key employees Employees receiving these shares have restrictions on the

ability to sell the shares Such restrictions lapse ratably over vesting periods ranging from several months to

five years For grants of restricted shares vested and unvested shares issued are eligible to receive

nonforfeitable dividends if dividends are declared by the Companys Board of Directors The grant-date fair

value of restricted share is based on the market value of the stock on the date of grant Compensation cost is

recognized on straight-line basis over the requisite service period since these awards only have service

conditions once granted

summary of the status of the Companys nonvested restricted shares as of December 31 2009 and

changes during 2009 2008 and 2007 is presented below

Weighted-Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Nonvested at January 2007 160000 $6.09

Granted 31670 5.51

Vesting 116534 6.11

Nonvested at December 31 2007 75136 5.82

Granted 233000 3.85

Vesting 126868 4.25

Nonvested at December 31 2008 181268 4.39

Granted 153804 4.49

Vesting 259172 4.25

Nonvested at December 31 2009 75900 4.98

Compensation expense recognized for all restricted shares for the years
ended December 31 2009 2008

and 2007 was $1080000 $515000 and $121000 respectively As of December 31 2009 there was

$469000 of total unearned compensation cost related to nonvested restricted shares which is expected to be

recognized over weighted-average period of 1.6 years

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

The Company has three employee stock purchase plans the U.S Plan the U.K Plan and the

International Plan The U.S Plan is also available to eligible employees in Canada Puerto Rico and the

U.S Virgin Islands The International Plan is for eligible employees located in certain other countries who are

not covered by the U.S Plan or the U.K Plan All plans are compensatory The International Plan is not yet

active

For both the U.S and U.K plans the requisite service period is the period of time over which the

employees contribute to the plans through payroll withholdings For purposes of recognizing compensation

expense estimates are made for the total withholdings expected over the entire withholding period The market

price of share of stock at the beginning of the withholding period is then used to estimate the total number
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of shares that will be purchased using the total estimated withholdings Compensation cost is recognized

ratably over the withholding period

Under the U.S Plan the Company is authorized to issue
up to 1500000 shares of CRDA to eligible

employees Participating employees can elect to have up to $21000 of their eligible annual earnings withheld

to purchase shares at the end of the one-year withholding period which starts July and ends June 30 The

purchase price of the stock is 85% of the lesser of the closing price for share of such stock on the first day

or the last day of the withholding period Participating employees may cease payroll withholdings during the

withholding period and/or request refund of all amounts withheld before any shares are purchased

Since the U.S Plan involves look-back option the calculation of compensation cost is separated into

two components The first component is calculated as 15% the employee discount of nonvested share of

CRDA The second component involves using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing formula to value

one-year option on 85% of share of CRDA This value is adjusted to reflect the effect of any estimated

dividends that the employee will not receive during the life of the option component

During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 total of 136874 and 135368 shares respectively

of CRDA were issued under the U.S Plan to the Companys employees at discounted purchase prices of $3.11

and $5.32 respectively At December 31 2009 an estimated 259000 shares will be purchased under the

U.S Plan in 2010 During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 compensation expense of

$372000 $270000 and $251000 respectively was recognized for the U.S Plan

Under the U.K Plan the Company is authorized to issue up to 1000000 shares of CRDA Under the

U.K Plan eligible employees can elect to have up to 250 withheld from payroll each month to purchase

shares at the end of three-year withholding period The purchase price of share of stock is 85% of the

market price of the stock at the beginning of the withholding period Participating employees may cease

payroll withholdings and/or request refund of all amounts withheld before any shares are purchased

Under the U.K Plan the fair value of share option is equal to 15% the employee discount of the

market price of share of CRDA at the beginning of the withholding period No adjustment is made to reflect

the effect of any estimated dividends that the employees will not receive during the life of the share option

since employees are credited with interest by third party on their withholdings during the withholding

period

At December 31 2009 an estimated 634000 shares will be eligible for purchase under the U.K Plan at

the end of the current withholdingperiods This estimate is subject to change based on future fluctuations in

the value of the British pound against the U.S dollar future changes in the market price of CRDA and future

employee participation rates The discounted purchase price for share of the Companys Class Common

Stock under the U.K Plan ranges from $3.56 to $5.05 and based on the price of CRDA at December 31
2009 no shares will be purchased at the end of the current withholding periods For the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 compensation cost of $124000 $94000 and $157000 respectively was

recognized for the U.K Plan During 2009 and 2008 total of 2478 shares and 3568 shares respectively of

CRDA were issued under the U.K Plan No shares were issued under this plan in 2007

Under the International Employee Stock Purchase Plan approved in 2009 up to 1000000 shares of

CRDA may be issued As of December 31 2009 no employees were participating in this plan

12 SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Companys four reportable operating segments are organized based upon the nature of services and/or

geographic areas served and include U.S Property Casualty which serves the U.S property and casualty

insurance company market International Operations which serves the property and casualty insurance

company markets outside of the U.S Broadspire which serves the U.S self-insurance marketplace and Legal

Settlement Administration which serves the securities bankruptcy and other legal settlement markets The

Companys four reportable segments represent components of the business for which separate financial

information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to

allocate resources and in assessing performance Intersegment sales are recorded at cost and are not material
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Operating earnings is the primary financial performance measure used by the Companys senior

management and chief operating decision maker to evaluate the financial performance of the Companys four

operating segments The Company believes this measure is useful to investors in that it allows investors to

evaluate segment operating performance using the same criteria used by the Companys senior management

Operating earnings will differ from net income computed in accordance with GAAP since operating earnings

exclude income tax expense net corporate interest expense amortization of customer-relationship intangible

assets stock option expense certain other gains and expenses and certain unallocated corporate and shared

costs Net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests has been removed from segment operating

earnings

Segment operating earnings include allocations of certain corporate overhead and shared costs If the

Company changes its allocation methods or changes the types of costs that are allocated to its four operating

segments prior periods are adjusted to reflect the current allocation process

In the normal course of its business the Company sometimes pays for certain out-of-pocket expenses that

are reimbursed by its clients Under GAAP these out-of-pocket expenses and associated reimbursements are

reported as revenues and expenses in the Companys Consolidated Statement of Operations However in

evaluating segment revenues Company management excludes these reimbursements from segment revenues

On January 2008 the Companys Strategic Warranty Services unit was transferred from the Legal

Settlement Administration segment to the U.S Property Casualty segment Prior period amounts for both

segments have been restated to reflect this transfer

Financial information as of and for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 covering the

Companys reportable segments was as follows

U.S

Property International Legal Settlement

Casualty Operations Broadspire Administration Total

In thousands

2009

Revenues before reimbursements $206598 $392601 $288650 $82019 969868

Operating earnings loss 18892 33307 1602 13130 63727

Depreciation and amortization1 1164 6802 3169 2581 13716

Assets 52995 315170 142556 55227 565948

2008

Revenues before reimbursements $216753 $445056 $311841 $74932 $1048582

Operating earnings 22614 38893 3526 10814 75847

Depreciation and amortization1 961 7323 3525 2911 14720

Assets 63069 304355 305655 56275 729354

2007

Revenues before reimbursements $192966 $376639 $321331 $84207 975143

Operating earnings 7621 24660 3141 10727 46149

Depreciation and amortization1 502 7174 3734 2619 14029

Assets 55263 329420 322423 79203 786309

Excludes amortization expense of customer-relationship intangible assets

Substantially all revenues earned in the U.S Property Casualty Broadspire and Legal Settlement

Administration segments are earned in the U.S Substantially all of the revenues earned in the International

Operations segment are earned outside of the U.S
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Revenue by major service line for the U.S Property Casualty and Broadspire segments is shown in the

following table It is not practicable to provide revenue by service line for the International Operations

segment Legal Settlement Administration considers all of its revenue to be derived from one service line

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

U.S Property Casualty

Claims Field Operations $138797 $153577 $150760

Catastrophe 22107 22924 8313

Tech Services 29365 28453 24625

Contractor Connection 16329 11799 9268

$206598 $216753 $192966

Broadspire

Claim Services $128325 $145458 $151884

Medical Management 141894 145663 149459

Risk Management Services 18431 20720 19988

$288650 $311841 $321331

Capital expenditures for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 are shown in the following table

2009 2008

In thousands

U.S Property Casualty 2763 794

Broadspire 9938 14918

Legal Settlement Administration 690 1430

International Operations 6296 10111

Corporate 5022 4758

Total capital expenditures $24709 $32011

The total of the Companys reportable segments revenues reconciled to total consolidated revenues for

the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was as follows

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Segments revenues before reimbursements 969868 $1048582 975143

Reimbursements 78334 87334 76135

Total consolidated revenues $1048202 $1135916 $1051278

The Companys reportable segments total operating earnings reconciled to consolidated income loss

before income taxes for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 were as follows

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Operating earnings of all reportable segments 63727 75847 46149

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 314 624 235

Unallocated corporate/shared costs and credits net 10714 6728 8919

Goodwill and intangible asset impairment Charges 140945

Net corporate interest expense 14166 17622 17326

Amortization of customer-relationship intangibles 5994 6025 6025

Stock option expense 914 861 1191

Other gains and expenses net 4059 788 8824

Loss Income before income taxes $112751 44447 21747
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The Companys reportable segments total assets reconciled to consolidated total assets of the Company
at December 31 2009 and 2008 are presented in the following table All foreign-denominated cash and cash

equivalents are reported within the International Operations segment while all U.S cash and cash equivalents

are reported as corporate assets in the following table

2009 2008

In thousands

Assets of reportable segments $565948 $729354

Corporate assets

Cash and cash equivalents 21290 230

Unallocated allowances on receivables 1695 2129
Property and equipment 11473 13828

Capitalized software costs net 43081 37041

Assets of deferred compensation plan 13551 12984

Capitalized loan costs 6621 3462

Deferred tax asset 70497 67695

Prepaid assets and other current assets 10868 8639

Other non current assets 1271 1363

Total corporate assets 176957 165894

Total assets $742905 $895248

The Companys most significant international operations are in the U.K and Canada as presented in the

following table

U.K Canada Other Total

In thousands

2009

Revenues before reimbursements $125921 $121370 $145310 $392601

Long-lived assets 62089 35442 25099 122630

2008

Revenues before reimbursements 165167 119405 160484 445056

Long-lived assets 60212 31311 18004 109527

2007

Revenues before reimbursements 151640 90587 134412 376639

Long-lived assets 66423 35190 22266 123879

Substantially all international revenues were derived from the insurance company market

13 CLIENT FUNDS

The Company maintains funds in custodial accounts at financial institutions to administer claims for

certain clients These funds are not available for the Companys general operating activities and as such have

not been recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets The amount of these funds totaled

$242334000 and $246280000 at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively In addition the Companys

Legal Settlement Administration segment administers funds in noncustodial accounts at financial institutions

that totaled $578821000 and $1010593000 at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

14 CoNTINGENcIEs

As part of the Companys Credit Agreement the Company maintains letter of credit facility to satisfy

certain of its own contractual requirements At December 31 2009 the aggregate amount committed under the

facility was $19569000
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In the normal course of the claims administration services business the Company is sometimes named as

defendant in suits by insureds or claimants contesting decisions made by the Company or its clients with

respect to the settlement of claims Additionally certain clients of the Company have brought actions for

indemnification on the basis of alleged negligence by the Company its agents or its employees in rendering

service to clients The majority of these claims are of the type covered by insurance maintained by the

Company However the Company is responsible for the deductibles and self-insured retentions under various

insurance coverages In the opinion of Company management adequate provisions have been made for such

risks

The Company is subject to numerous federal state and foreign employment laws and from time to time

the Company faces claims by its employees and former employees under such laws In addition the Company

has become aware that certain employers are becoming subject to an increasing number of claims involving

alleged violations of wage and hour laws The outcome of any of these allegations is expected to be highly

fact specific and there has been substantial amount of recent legislative and judicial activity pertaining to

employment-related issues Such claims or litigation involving the Company or any of the Companys current

or former employees could divert managements time and attention from the Companys business operations

and could potentially result in substantial costs of defense settlement or other disposition which could have

material adverse effect on the Companys results of operations financial position and cash flows

As previously disclosed on October 31 2006 the Company completed its acquisition of BMSI from

Platinum Equity LLC Platinum BMSI and Platinum are together engaged in certain legal proceedings

against the former owners of certain entities acquired by BMSI prior to the Companys acquisition of BMSI

Pursuant to the agreement under which the Company acquired BMSI the Stock Purchase Agreement

Platinum has full responsibility to resolve all of these matters and is obligated to fully indemnify BMSI and

the Company for all monetary payments that BMSI may be required to make as result of any unfavorable

outcomes related to these pre-existing legal proceedings Pursuant thereto Platinum has also agreed to

indemnify the Company for any additional payments required under any purchase price adjustment mecha

nism earnout or similar provision in any
of BMSIs purchase and sale agreements entered into prior to the

Companys acquisition of BMSI In the event of an unfavorable outcome in which Platinum does not

indemnify the Company under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement the Company may be responsible

for funding any such unfavorable outcomes At this time the Companys management does not believe the

Company will be responsible for the funding of any of these matters The Company has not recognized any

loss contingencies for these matters in its consolidated financial statements

Separately the Company and Platinum have agreed to arbitration regarding the application of the

purchase price adjustment mechanism contained in the Stock Purchase Agreement The Company has received

notice from Platinum which disputes the Purchasers Statement as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement

delivered by the Company to Platinum and also asserts that Platinum is owed certain amount thereunder The

Company is contesting this notice and has asserted its belief that it is owed certain amount thereunder At

the present time the Company is unable to determine any possible outcome of this dispute Because all of the

goodwill in the Broadspire segment is impaired as disclosed in Note Goodwill and Intangible Assets any

required payment or recovery will result in nontaxable charge or credit to the Companys results of

operations

In 2003 BMSI acquired NATLSCO Inc from wholly-owned subsidiary of Lumberman Mutual

Casualty Company LMC BMSI assumed certain obligations to service and administer population of

claims outstanding at the 2003 acquisition date Liquidity to support these casualty claims operations for the

foreseeable future was provided by cash infused by LMC at the 2003 acquisition date and receivable held in

trust which has and will continue to be distributed to BMSI in accordance with trust agreement through

August 2012 Broadspire received total distributions from this trust of $2272000 during 2009 $4693000

during 2008 and $7569000 during 2007 The Company believes that the funds that have been and will be

received from LMC and the trust are sufficient to at least cover the actual costs that Broadspire will incur over

the next several years to service and administer this population of claims through closure Broadspires

revenues from LMC totaled $9071000 for 2009 $10710000 for 2008 and $13474000 for 2007 Accounts
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receivable from LMC included in accounts receivable in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet were

approximately $955000 and $2129000 at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

15 SALE OF THE FORMER CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS AND RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED GAIN

On June 30 2006 the Company sold the land and building utilized as its former corporate headquarters

in Atlanta Georgia These assets had net carrying amount of $2842000 The base sale price of $8000000

was received in cash at closing Also on June 30 2006 the Company entered into 12-month leaseback

agreement
for these same facilities During the second quarter

of 2007 the company relocated its corporate

headquarters to nearby leased facilities The Company deferred recognition of the gain related to this sale due

to its leaseback of the facility Net of transaction costs pretax gain of $4844000 was recognized by the

Company upon the expiration of the leaseback agreement during the second quarter of 2007

Under the sale agreement the $8000000 base sale price is subject to upward revision depending upon

the buyers ability to subsequently redevelop the property The gain of $4844000 was based on the base sale

price and did not include any amount for the potential upward revision of the sale price Should such revision

subsequently occur the Company could ultimately realize larger gain

16 REsTRUcTURING ACTIVITIES AND OTHER CHARGES

In 2009 the Company recorded pretax restructuring and other costs that totaled $4059000 Included in

the 2009 restructuring costs were $1815000 in professional fees related to the internal realignment of certain

of our legal entities in the U.S and internationally that commenced in 2008 and $434000 in severance

expense in our International Operations segment These restructuring efforts were substantially completed at

December 31 2009 The internal realignment did not impact the composition of our segments for financial

reporting purposes Other costs of $1810000 in 2009 related to the partial sublease of our Broadspire facility

in Plantation Florida see Note Commitments Under Operating Leases

In 2008 the Company recorded pretax restructuring charge of $3300000 The charge consisted of

$1825000 for severance and other costs in our International Operations segment $300000 for severance costs

in our U.S Property and Casualty segment and $1175000 for professional fees incurred in connection with

an internal restructuring of certain of the Companys legal entities in the U.S and internationally
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Managements Statement on Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The management of Crawford Company is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial

information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K The consolidated financial statements are prepared in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States using informed judgements and

estimates where appropriate

The Company maintains system of internal accounting policies procedures and controls designed to

provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed and

recorded in accordance with managements authorization The internal accounting control system is augmented

by program of internal audits and reviews by management written policies and guidelines and the careful

selection and training of qualified personnel Management believes it maintains an effective system of internal

accounting controls

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors comprised solely of outside directors is responsible for

monitoring the Companys accounting and reporting practices The Audit Committee meets regularly with

management the internal auditors and the independent auditors to review the work of each and to assure that

each performs its responsibilities The independent registered public accounting firm Ernst Young LLP was

selected by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and approved by shareholder vote Both the

internal auditors and Ernst Young LLP have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee allowing open

discussion without management present on the quality of financial reporting and the adequacy of accounting

disclosure and financial reporting controls

/5/ Jeffrey Bowman

Jeffrey Bowman

President and

Chief Executive Officer

Is Bruce Swain Jr

Bruce Swain Jr

Executive Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer

Is Forrest Bell

Forrest Bell

Vice President Corporate

Controller and Chief

Accounting Officer

March 2010
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Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of Crawford Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate

internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 3a- 15f and 5d- 15f under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 The Companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles The Companys

internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and disposition of the Companys assets

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and

expenditures of the Company are made only in accordance with authorizations of the Companys management

and directors and

iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition

use or disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2009 In making this assessment management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control-Integrated Framework

Based on this assessment management determined that the Company maintained effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2009

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm Ernst Young LLP is appointed by the

Audit Committee of the Companys Board of Directors subject to ratification by our Companys shareholders

Ernst Young LLP has audited and reported on the consolidated financial statements of Crawford

Company and the Companys internal control over financial reporting The reports of Ernst Young LLP are

contained in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Is Jeffrey Bowman

Jeffrey Bowman

President and

Chief Executive Officer

/s Bruce Swain Jr

Bruce Swain Jr

Executive Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer

/s Forrest Bell

Forrest Bell

Vice President Corporate

Controllei and Chief

Accounting Officer

March 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Crawford Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Crawford Company as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders investment

noncontrolling interests and comprehensive income loss and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 31 2009 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated financial position of Crawford Company at December 31 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated

results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009

in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements in 2009 the Company adopted Financial

Accounting Standards Board No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements codified

in FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 810 Consolidation and FASB Staff Position No EITF 03-6-

Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securi

ties codified in FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 260 Earnings Per Share Also as discussed

in Note in 2008 the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board No 157 Fair Value

Measurements codified in FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and

Disclosures and in 2007 the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No 48

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes codified in FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 740

Income Taxes

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Crawford Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2010 expressed an

unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Atlanta Georgia

March 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Crawford Company

We have audited Crawford Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria Crawford Companys

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying

Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing

the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary

in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that

in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of

the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Crawford Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States the consolidated balance sheets of Crawford Company as of December 31 2009 and

2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders investment noncontrolling interests

and comprehensive income loss and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31

2009 and our report dated March 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Atlanta Georgia

March 2010
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CRAWFORD COMPANY

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

$249664

21979

271643

205863

$245752

23105

268857

202510

$238369

19050

257419

194590

969868

78334

1048202

792325

6170

7465

1954

Full

2009 Quarterly Period First Second Third Fourth3 Year

In thousands except per share amounts and amounts in footnotes

Revenues from services

Revenues before reimbursements $236083

Reimbursements 14200

Total revenues 250283

Total Cost of Services 189362

Net Income Loss Attributable to

Crawford Company 3082 88124 39510 8869 115683
U.S Property Casualty operating

earnings1 18892

International Operations operating

earnings1 33307

Broadspire operating loss earnings1 1602

Legal Settlement Administration operating

earnings1 13130

Net loss income attributable to

noncontrolling interests 69
Unallocated corporate and shared

costs net 10714
Net corporate interest expense 14166
Stock option expense 914

Amortization of customer-relationship

intangible assets 5994
Goodwill and intangible asset

impairment charges 94000 46945 140945
Other losses 1815 2244 4059

Income loss before income taxes 4133 86274 37559 6949 112751

Earnings loss per share basic2 0.06 1.70 0.76 0.17 2.23

Earnings loss per share diluted2 0.06 1.70 0.76 0.17 2.23

6218 4862

8220 7258

606 1171

4097

110

1527 4287

1642

10364

2129

3219

38235

1975
3485

233

5295

3640
197

314

878

3126
266

2566

3915
218

1498 1496 1500 1500
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2061
4656

279

Full

2008 Quarterly Period First Second Third Fourth4 Year

Revenues from services

Revenues before reimbursements $255512 $263265 $266916 $262889 $1048582

Reimbursements 19161 26001 24416 17756 87334

Total revenues 274673 289266 291332 280645 1135916

Total Cost of Services 206114 215462 220745 212106 854427

Net Income Attributable to Crawford

Company 9068 7932 6922 8337 32259

U.S Property Casualty operating

earnings1 5949 5092 6781 4792 22614

International Operations operating

earnings1 8987 10446 8594 10866 38893

Broadspire operating earnings loss1 1747 2540 1079 1840 3526

Legal Settlement Administration operating

earnings1 2497 3142 2853 2322 10814

Net loss income attributable to

noncontrolling interests 72 226 161 309 624

Unallocated corporate and shared costs

net 651 1581 6728

Net corporate interest expense 4416 4216 17622

Stock option expense 195 144 861

Amortization of customer-relationship

intangible assets 1508 1506 1507 1504 6025

Other loss gain net 788 788

Income before income taxes 12944 9647 8216 44447

Earnings per sharebasic2 0.16 0.14 0.16 0.63

Earnings per sharediluted2 0.16 0.13 0.16 0.62

This is segment financial measure representing earnings loss before net corporate interest expense

stock option expense amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets other gains and expense and

income taxes Net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests has been removed from segment

operating earnings See Note 12 Segment and Geographic Information to the consolidated financial

statements contained in this Item

Due to the method used in calculating per share data as prescribed by ASC 260 Earnings Per Share the

quarterly per share data may not total to the full-year per share data

During the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company recognized pre-tax charges of $2244000 for restructuring

expenses and sublease agreement See Note 16 Restructuring Activities and Other Charges to the con

solidated financial statements contained in this Item

During the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company recognized pre-tax expenses of $3300000 related to

restructuring charges and non-taxable gain of $2512000 for the sale of subsidiary See Note 16

Restructuring Activities and Other Charges and Note Dispositions and Acquisitions of Businesses

to the consolidated financial statements contained in this Item

3737
4334

243

13640

0.18

0.18
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ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Registrant maintains set of disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e and

15d-15c of the Securities Exchange Act designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the

Registrant in reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded processed

summarized or reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms The Registrants

management with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer has evaluated

the effectiveness of the Registrants disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31 2009 Based on

that evaluation the Registrants Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the

Registrants disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31 2009

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The report of management of the Registrant regarding internal control over financial reporting is included

in Item Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The attestation report of the Registrants independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal

control over financial reporting included in Item Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting

Firm

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Registrants internal control over financial reporting during the fourth

quarter of 2009 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Registrants

internal control over financial reporting

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFF1CERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Certain information required by this Item is included under the captions Election of Directors

Nominee Information Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance Corporate Governance-

Standing Committees and Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings and Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance Guidelines Charters and Code of Business Conjuct of the Registrants Proxy

Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 2010 and is incorporated herein by

reference

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is included under the captions Compensation Discussion and

Analysis Summary Compensation Table Employment and Change in Control Arrangements Corporate

Governance-Director Compensation and Report of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee of the

Board of Directors on Executive Compensation of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting

of Shareholders to be held May 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is included under the captions Stock Ownership Information and

Equity Compensation Plans of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to

be held May 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference

106



ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is included under the caption Information with Respect to Certain

Business Relationships and Related Transactions of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting

of Shareholders to be held May 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding principal accounting fees and services is included under the caption Ratification

of Independent Auditors Fees Paid to Ernst Young LLP of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the

Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference

PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as part of this report

Financial Statements

The Registrants 2009 Annual Report to Shareholders contains the Consolidated Balance

Sheets as of December 31 2009 and 2008 the related Consolidated Statements of Income

Shareholders Investment and Comprehensive Income Loss and Cash Flows for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31 2009 and the related report of Ernst Young LLR These

financial statements listed below and the related report of Ernst Young LLP are incorporated

herein by reference and included in Exhibit 13.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Investment and Comprehensive Income Loss for the

Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts Information required by this schedule is

included under the caption Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts in

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Registrants Annual Report to Sharehold

ers for the year ended December 31 2009 and is incorporated herein by reference

Other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable

Exhibits filed with this report

Exhibit No Document

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 18 2006 by and between Platinum Equity LLC

and Registrant incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21 2006

2.2 Amendment No dated as of October 31 2006 to Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of

August 18 2006 by and between Registrant and Platinum Equity LLC incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on November 2006
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Exhibit No Document

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission

on May 14 2007

3.2 Restated By-laws of the Registrant as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

December 22 2008

10.1 Crawford Company 1997 Key Employee Stock Option Plan as amended incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2005

10.2 Crawford Company 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31
2005

10.3 Crawford Company 2007 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference

to Appendix of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held

on May 2007

10.4 Crawford Company Non-Employee Director Stock Plan incorporated by reference to

Appendix of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on

May 2009

10.5 Crawford Company Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan as Amended and Restated

December 20 2007 effective as of January 2007 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to

the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

10.6 Crawford Company 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31

2005

10.7 Crawford Company Medical Reimbursement Plan as amended and restated January 31 1995

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 2005

10.8 Crawford Company Discretionary Allowance Plan adopted January 31 1995 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2005

10.9 Crawford Company Deferred Compensation Plan as amended and restated as of January

2003 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2003

10.10 Crawford Company 1996 Incentive Compensation Plan as amended and restated February

1999 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the year ended December 31 2005

10.11 Crawford Company Executive Stock Bonus Plan as amended and restated March 2008

incorporated by reference to Appendix of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Annual

Meeting of Shareholders held on May 2009

10.12 Form of Restricted Share Unit Award under the Registrants Executive Stock Bonus Plan

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the year ended December 31 2007

10.13 Form of Performance Share Unit Award under the Registrants Executive Stock Bonus Plan

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the year ended December 31 2007

10.14 Crawford Company U.K Sharesave Scheme adopted July 28 1999 incorporated by reference

to Appendix of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be

held on May 2006

10.15 Crawford Company International Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by reference to

Appendix of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on

May 2009
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Exhibit No Document

10.16 Crawford Company 2007 Management Team Incentive Compensation Plan incorporated by

reference to Appendix of the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of

Shareholders to be held on May 2007

10.17 Crawford Company Short-Term Incentive Plan adopted February 27 2008 under the terms of

the Registrants 2007 Management Team Incentive Compensation Plan incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2007

10.18 Change of Control and Severance Agreement between Thomas Crawford and the Registrant

dated February 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrants Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 2005

10.19 Employment Agreement between Thomas Crawford and the Registrant dated February 2009

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 2009

10.20 Change of Control and Severance Agreement between Kevin Frawley and the Registrant dated

February 23 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 2005

10.21 Terms of Employment Agreement between Allen Nelson and the Registrant dated

November 22 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 28 2005

10.22 Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Jeffrey Bowman dated August

2009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2009

10.23 Terms of Employment Agreement between Bruce Swain and the Registrant dated October

2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 13 2006

10.24 Employment Agreement between David Isaac The Garden City Group Inc and the Registrant

executed September 19 2006 and effective January 2006 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

September 30 2006

10.25 Amendment to Crawford Company The Garden City Group Inc Employment Agreement for

David Isaac dated March 26 2009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

April 2009

10.26 Terms of Employment Agreement between Phyllis Austin and the Registrant effective as of

April 11 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrants Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

10.27 Terms of Employment Agreement between Robert Cormican and the Registrant effective as of

January 31 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrants Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

10.28 Terms of Employment Agreement between Brian Flynn and the Registrant effective as of

November 2007 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrants Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

10.29 Terms of Employment Agreement between Forrest Bell and the Registrant effective as of

November 20 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Registrants Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

10.30 Terms of Employment Agreement between Michael Frank Reeves and Crawford-THG UK
Limited effective as of November 25 1997 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the

Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

10.31 Service Agreement between Ian Muress and Crawford Company Adjusters U.K Limited dated

as of January 18 2002 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrants Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007
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Exhibit No Document

10.32 Variation to Service Agreement between Ian Muress and Crawford Company Adjusters U.K
Limited dated as of December 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the

Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

10.33 Terms of Employment Agreement between Ian Muress and the Registrant dated as of April 12

2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the year ended December 31 2007

10.34 Performance Share Unit Award Agreement between Ian Muress and the Registrant dated as of

March 24 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrants Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

10.35 Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of June 2006 and effective as of

June 12 2006 between Registrant Buckhead Trading Investment Company LLC Richard

Bowers Co Easlan Capital of Atlanta Inc and Calloway Title and Escrow L.L.C

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16 2006

10.36 Lease Agreement effective as of July 2006 between Registrant and Hewlett-Packard Company

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 2006

10.37 Credit Agreement dated October 31 2006 by and among Registrant and Crawford Company
International Inc the lenders party thereto and SunTrust Bank as Administrative Agent and

Issuing Bank incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 2006

10.38 First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Security Agreement and Limited Waiver dated

March 2007 by and among Registrant and Crawford Company International Inc the lenders

party thereto and SunTrust Bank as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on March 15 2007

10.39 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement and Security Agreement and Limited Waiver dated

July 2007 by and among Registrant and Crawford Company International Inc the lenders

party thereto and SunTrust Bank as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on July 2007

10.40 Third Amendment to Credit Agreement and Security Agreement and Limited Waiver dated

December 21 2007 by and among Registrant and Crawford Company International Inc the

lenders party thereto and SunTrust Bank as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on December 26 2007

10.41 Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement and First Amendment to Pledge Agreement dated

February 2009 by and among Registrant and Crawford and Company International Inc the

lenders party thereto and SunTrust Bank as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on February 2009

10.42 Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Security Agreement and Limited Waiver dated

October 27 2009 by and among Registrant and Crawford and Company International Inc the

lenders party thereto and SunTrust Bank as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on November 2009

10.43 Director Compensation Summary Term Sheet incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the

Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to

Item 601 of Regulation S-K
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CRAWFORD COMPANY

Date March 2010 By Is Jeffrey Bowman

JEFFREY BOWMAN President

and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below

by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

NAME AND TITLE

Date March 2010 Is Jeffrey Bowman

JEFFREY BOWMAN President and

Chief Executive Officer Principal Executive Officer

and Director

Date March 2010 Is Bruce Swain Jr

BRUCE SWAIN JR Executive Vice

President-Finance Principal Financial Officer

Date March 2010 Is Forrest Bell

FORREST BELL Vice President and

Controller Principal Accounting Officer

Date March 2010 Is George Benson

GEORGE BENSON Director

Date March 2010 Is Jesse Crawford

JESSE CRAWFORD Director

Date March 2010 Is James Edwards

JAMES EDWARDS Director

Date March 2010 Is Hicks Lanier

HICKS LANIER Director
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Date March 2010 /s Charles Ogburn

CHARLES OGBURN Director

Date March 2010 Is Clarence Ridley

CLARENCE RIDLEY Director

Date March 2010 Is Jenner Wood III

JENNER WOOD III Director

Date March 2010 Is Russel HonorØ

RUSSEL HONORE Director

112
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Exhibit No Description of Exhibit

21.1 Subsidiaries of Crawford Company

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-19a

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-19a

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 1350

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 1350

101 XBRL Documents
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES

Jurisdiction in

Subsidiary Which Organized

Crawford Leasing Services Inc Georgia

Crawford Company International Inc Georgia

Broadspire Services Inc Delaware

The Garden City Group Inc Delaware

Risk Sciences Group Inc Delaware

Crawford Company of New York Inc New York

Crawford Company Adjusters Limited England

Crawford Company Adjusters UK Limited England

Crawford Company Canada Inc Canada

Crawford Company Australia Pty Limited Australia

Crawford-THG Cayman Ltd Cayman Islands

Crawford Company Sweden AB Sweden

Crawford Company Nederland BV Netherlands

Crawford Company Norway AS Norway

Crawford Co SA PTY Ltd South Africa

Crawford France SARL France

Crawford Company Adjusters Malaysia Sdn Bhd Malaysia

Crawford Company EMEA/AR Holdings Limited United Kingdom

Crawford Company Financial Services Ltd Cayman Islands

Specialist Liability Services Limited England



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

Jeffrey Bowman certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Crawford Company

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit

to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

Registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The Registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-l5e and 15d-l5e and internal

control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-l5f and 15d-15f for the Registrant

and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

Registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end

of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the Registrants fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably

likely to materially affect the Registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The Registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the Registrants auditors and the audit committee of the Registrants

board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrants ability to record

process
summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the Registrants internal control over financial reporting

Is/ Jeffrey Bowman

Jeffrey Bowman President and Chief

Executive Officer Principal Executive Officer

Date March 2010



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

Bruce Swain certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Crawford Company

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit

to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

Registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The Registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal

control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the Registrant

and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

Registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end

of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the Registrants fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably

likely to materially affect the Registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The Registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the Registrants auditors and the audit committee of the Registrants

board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the Registrants internal control over financial reporting

Is Bruce Swain Jr

Bruce Swain Jr Executive Vice President

Chief Financial Officer Principal Financial Officer

Date March 2010



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Crawford Company the Company on Form 10-K for the

period ending December 31 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof

the Report Jeffrey Bowman President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company certify pursuant

to 18 U.S.C 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13a or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 15 U.S.C 78M and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company

Is Jeffrey Bowman

Jeffrey Bowman President and Chief

Executive Officer Principal Executive Officer

Date March 2010



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Crawford Company the Company on Form 10-K for the

period ending December 31 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof

the Report Bruce Swain Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company

certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13a or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 15 U.S.C 78M and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company

Is Bruce Swain Jr

Bruce Swain Jr Executive Vice President

Chief Financial Officer Principal Financial Officer

Date March 2010
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Crawford Company 2009 Annual Report

Claim Services

With the broadest array of services in the industry Crawford can administer virtually any claim function

From accident and health to large-scale complex property and liability losses to individual task assignments

we can configure the services exactly as our clients demand anywhere and anytime Our service offerings

are unmatched in the industry

OUR CLAIM SERVICES OFFERINGS

_W FINANCIAL RISK

LIABILITY

.._.._ MARINEAVIATION

MOTOR/AUTO

PROPERTY

RECOVERY

WORKERS COMPENSATION
EMPLOYERS LIABILITY

ACCIDENT HEALTH

Personal Accident

Trip/Travel Accident

Sickness

FINANCIAL RISKS

Bankers Blanket Bond

Fidelity

Mortgage Guarantee

Subrogation and Recovery

Surety

LIABILITY

Contractors Liability

Environmental Impairment

General/Premises Liability

Property Damage and

Bodily Injury

Litigation Management

Product Liability Property

Damage and Bodily Injury

Product Recall and Tampering

Professional Indemnity

Subrogation and Recovery

MARINE AVIATION

Aviation Liability Property

Damage and Bodily Injury

Construction Civil and Port

General Average

Logistics and Cargo Liability

Marine Cargo

Marine Hull/Machinery

Protection and Indemnity

Subrogation and Recovery

Windpark Offshore

MOTOR/AUTO

First Party

Third-Party Property Damage

and Bodily Injury

Litigation Management

Vehicle Appraisal

PROPERTY

Agriculture

Business Interruption

Catastrophe

Construction

Contents Appraisal

Engineering Risks

Power and Energy

Industrial/Commercial

Personal Lines

Subsidence

Subrogation and Recovery

RECOVERY
Collections

Subrogation

Uninsured Loss Recovery

WORKERS COMPENSATION/
EMPLOYERS LIABILITY

W/C Medical Only

W/C Medical Bill Review

W/C Lost Time

Employers Liability

ACCIDENT HEALTH



Business Process Outsourcing

Crawford offe the most comprehensive claims outsourcing solutions in the industry Crawford can deliver

Business Process Outsourcing BPO programs for all aspects of claims management from managed property

repair to healthcare management to legal settlement Crawford Central leverages the investment weve made in

technology bringing clients seamless end-to-end claims solution As competition increases we believe more

companies will seek the efficiencies of claims process outsourcing trusting Crawfords proven expertise and

experience to manage their complex claims

OUR BUSINESS PROCESS OUTSOURCING SERVICES OFFERINGS

CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION

LEGAL SETTLEMENT

MANAGED PROPERTY REPAIR

MEDICAL MANAGEMENT

PRODUCT WARRANTY

THIRD-PARTY ADMINISTRATION

CLAtMS ADMINISTRAtION MANAE PROPERTY REPAIR TFtRD4ARTY

Centralized 1ta1e/ Cr4edtId CoMractor ADMtNlSTRA1ON
First Notice of toss Network Accient and Health

Globalized Administration Employes Liability

Surgical Run Off
MCAL MA EM NT

Liability
Care Management

LEGAL SETTLEMENT Medical Bfl Review
Litigation Management

Bankruptcy Services Return tO irI
Medical Management

WARRANTY Motor/Auto

Warranty Admkistration Property

Recovery

Workers Compensation



Crawford Company 2009 Annual Report

Consulting

The need to harness industry experience and intellectual capital is critical in keeping companies competitive

More than 68 years of experience makes Crawford powerful ally in the strategic assessment of services such

as absence management internal audits and counter fraud providing high-level analyses and value-added

insights Crawford can work through comprehensive audit process and help design streamlined and cost-

effective solution to meet the varied needs of our clients We are knowledgeable of the entire claims process

and can put our experience and systems to work helping clients succeed in planning and meeting their goals

and targets

OUR CONSULTING SERVICES OFFERINGS

ABSENCE MANAGEMENT

COUNTER FRAUD SERVICES

EDUCATIONAL SERVICES

PRE- POST-LOSS SERVICES

ABSENCE MANAGEMENT
Return to Work

FMLA Clarification

Ergonomic Assessment

Health Promotion/Health

and Safety

AUDIT

Quality

Process

Data

COUNTER FRAUD SERVICES

Strategic Planning

DATA SERVICES

RMIS Systems

EDUCATIONAL SERVICES

Career Development

GLOBAL PROGRAMS

Analysis

Design

Evaluation

PRE- POST-LOSS SERVICES

Business Continuity

Catastrophe Planning

Coverage Analysis

Product Recall

Valuation and Quantum Analysis

Warranty

AUDIT

GLOBAL PROGRAMS

DATA SERVICES



The Crawford Brands

From his front porch Jim awford watched milk trucks from several different companies delivering milk to

neighboring houses in Columbus Georgia in 1941 He thought it would be much more efficient and less costly

if an independent company carried milk for multiple dairies in one truck While the dairy companies failed to

recognize the benefit of consolidated independent service the insurance industry did not and thus the Crawford

brand was born

Today Crawford Company operates nine different brands that ovide claim management services business

process outsourcing and consulting solutions for major product lines including property and casualty claims

management workers compensation claims and medical management and legal settlement administration

MEETING ALL OF YOUR NEEDS

BROADSPIRF
Crawford Company tthnup Inc

CRAWFORD COMPANY is the worlds largest BROADSPtRE leading international THEGARDEN CITY GROUP INC ad minis-

independent provider of claims management third-party administrator for large ters class action settlements designs and

solutions to the 45k management and insurance self-insured organizations offers broad implements legal notice communications

industry as well as self-insured entities with
array

of customized claim and medical programs administers Chapter 11 bankruptcy

global network of more than 700 locatIons ii management ervices designed to Increase cases and provIdes expert consultation services

63 countries employee productIvity andcontalnwst

II KMC
On Demand
pewar.d by crawford

CRAWFORD CONTRCOP4NECflOpPM GWBALflCI4NICAI SERVKES GTStM KMC ON DEMAND provides employees

an industry leader inconpactor manag is the ngle best global resource for adjosting dients and the property and casualty industry

repair services provides Insurance carrieza lergeorsses.OttQueccnb1netion with unique online platform that marries

national network of residentia and ColmilerciaI of experlenol and qualifiedprofessionals cutting-edge knowledge management technology

contractors that are vetted and performance infrastructure and leadership enables us to with customized Insurance courses and perfor

managed measuring quality time in process strategicafly manage major losses anywhere mance support information

and customer satisfaction around the globe

El
Risk Sciences Group aCra rdcompany

RISK SCIENCES GRC4JP R$G delivers risk MS encompasses Crawfords U.K liability STRATEGIC WARRANTY SERVlCES provides

management information systems RMI$ service with combined staff of 150 specialists warranty solutions to manufacturers and retailers

that provide the ability to track and consolidate across 22 locations Each offlea represents in the home construction and building products

multi-coverage claims data and enterprise-wide local centre of excellence staffed by experts industry Our end-to-end suite of warranty solutions

exposures to risk by maintaining highly accurate from different liability disciplines helps companies be more efficient more productive

and credible databases on behalf of each client and more focused on their core business
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Dear Shareholders

Crawford Companys performance in 2009 reflected challenging global

economic environment Financial pressures on businesses large and small

stifled growth eroded employment and tightened budgets particularly in

areas critical to Crawford such as U.S workers compensation

In our Broadspire segment the most important economic

indicator over the past year and into 2010 remains unemploy

ment levels By the close of 2009 the U.S was experiencing

unemployment levels nearing 10 percent the highest since

November 1982 and almost continuous decline since

December 2007

The deterioration in the economy led to broad focus

by our clients on containing their near-term costs This

combination of lower global employment and restrained

budgets at the insurance carriers and other major corpora

tions meant fewer claims overall and increased pressure to

maintain market share Our property and casualty clients

saw continued global softening of insurance premiums

At the same time the outsourcing or right-sourcing of

claims by carriers continues to be positive business

proposition for Crawford In this environment our clients

make low-cost delivery high priority Crawfords exper

tise turns the fixed-cost in-house claims departments into

variable cost Our clients are challenging us to be even

more responsive in our claims handling as they demand

better control of indemnity spend improved business

processes better automation and increased data analytics

Crawford is well-positioned to handle these challenges by

delivering world-class service Our watchwords for 2010 are

Integrity and Innovation which we will deliver on by aligning

the quality of our service to the vision of the client and then

validating the result

In order to appreciate fully the efforts and progress that

Crawford employees delivered in very tough environment

it is necessary to isolate the impact of several items which

affected our reported financial results in 2009

First intangible asset impairment charges In the second and

third quarters we completed an impairment analysis of our

intangible assets in the Broadspire segment As result of

this analysis all the goodwill associated with the Broadspire

acquisition was written off and Crawford recorded non-cash

impairment charges in the second and third quarters totaling

$141 million or $2.72 per share These impairment charges

did not affect the Companys liquidity or cash flows and had

no effect on our compliance with the financial covenants

under our credit agreement

Secondly our defined benefit pension plans The financial

market shift beginning in 2008 affected companies which

had defined benefit pension plans resulting in drop in plan

asset values and an increase in plan liabilities These factors

increased pension expense and required cash funding into

the plans The underfunded status of our pension obligations

reduced our net income by $10.6 million or $0.20 per share

for 2009 At December 31 2009 the Company remeasured

its defined benefit pension obligations and in accordance

with the applicable accounting rules we recorded

$26.5 million non-cash charge to equity to recognize the

increase in the Companys underfunded position
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initiatives to improve our work product to protect our client

relationships and to generate new business opportunities

even in difficult market At the same time we have

reduced our fixed costs

Our focus on attracting new business and retaining our

current customers is linked to the launch last year of The

Crawford System of Claims SolutionssM defining services

in three areas claim services business process outsourcing

and consulting through our main business brands Crawford

Company Broadspire and The Garden City Group In

support of The System5M we will continue to focus on one

increasing our key account management and cross-selling

initiatives two continuing to maintain central oversight for

our claims organization from our central Command Center

and three the refinement of business process outsourcing

model which will enable the delivery of comprehensive

end-to-end claims processing for our insurance carrier clients

Over the past two years we have built worldwide manage

ment team that works hard to deliver on our strategies We

have employees worldwide who are focused on creating an

environment that produces improved performance

Our strategies remain threefold

First most importantly securing new business wins for all

of our business units

Second focusing on improving operational efficiencies and

delivering results to our clients and

Third implementing disciplined approach to expense

management and working capital

We will continue to manage the corporation with integrity

and an eye on innovation every day to ensure we are building

sustainability We intend to fully capitalize on the opportu

nities presented that will drive current and future growth for

our shareholders

Effective January 2010 we announced Charles Ogburn

as Crawford Companys non-executive chairman He

has proven to be an invaluable resource to our management

team and we look forward to his continued guidance and

leadership Let me also thank Thomas Crawford who

retired at the close of 2009 after five-plus years of service

as both chief executive and chairman This Company has

benefited greatly from his expertise and insight Toms

expectation of excellent performance in everything we do

has re-established our strong foundation for continued

operational success

Finally would like to thank all of our employees worldwide

for their hard work and dedication over the past year

Crawford has bright future and am encouraged about

our long-term prospects

Sincerely

Jeffrey Bowman

President and Chief Executive Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Crawford Company

We have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

the consolidated balance sheets of Crawford Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consoli

dated statements of operations shareholders investment noncontrolling interest and comprehensive income loss and

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 not presented herein and in our report

dated March 2010 we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements

In our opinion the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements presented on

pages 26 through 30 is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements from which

it has been derived

Atlanta Georgia

March 2010
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Report of Management on Internal Control

Over Financial Reporting

The management of Crawford Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The Companys

internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles The Companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that

pertain to maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposition

of the Companys assets

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are

made only in accordance with authorizations of the Companys management and directors and

iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisitions use or disposition

of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2009 In making this assessment management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control Integrated Framework Based on this assessment management

determined that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009

Jeffrey Bowman Bruce Swain Jr Forrest Bell

President and Executive Vice President and Vice President Corporate Controller

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer

25



Crawford Company Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

in thousands except earnings per share amounts

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 2007

Revenues from Services

Revenues before reimbursements 969868 $1048582 975143

Reimbursements 78334 87334 76135

Total Revenues 1048202 1135916 1051278

Costs and Expenses

Costs of services provided before reimbursements 713991 767093 733240

Reimbursements 78334 87334 76135

Total costs of services 792325 854427 809375

Selling general and administrative expenses 209458 218632 211654

Corporate interest expense net of interest income of

$1063 $1994 and $1876 respectively 14166 17622 17326

Goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges 140945

Restructuring and other costs 4059 3300

Total Costs and Expenses 1160953 1093981 1038355

Gains on Disposals of Businesses 2512 3980
Gain on Sale of Assets 4844

Loss Income Before Income Taxes 112751 44447 21747

Provision for Income Taxes 2618 11564 5396

Net Loss Income 115369 32883 16351
Less Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest 314 624 235
Net Loss Income Attributable to Crawford Company 115683 32259 611

Loss Earnings Per Share

Basic 2.23 0.63 0.32

Diluted 2.23 0.62 0.32

Weighted-Average Shares Used For

Basic Loss Earnings Per Share 51830 50958 50532

Diluted Loss Earnings Per Share 51830 52342 50659

Cash Dividends Per Share

Class and Class Common Stock

This financial information should be read with the Corn panys audited consolidated financial statements and note thereto and related risks included

in the Companys annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission



Crawford Company 2009 Annual Report

Crawford Company Condensed Consolidated Statements

of Cash Flows

in thousands

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

140945

31010

463

5510

117

27193

12481

7782
16749
15827
7844
2484

6785

22093

3077

20493

19024
25416
3425

29646

1437
2929

554

3980
4844

12450

11298

4322

2184
22571

2188

1302

2008 2007

115369 32883 16351Net loss income

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges

Depreciation and amortization

Deferred income taxes

Stock-based compensation costs

Loss on disposals of property and equipment

Gains on sales of businesses

Gain on 2006 sale of former corporate headquarters

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

net of effects of acquisition and disposition

Accounts receivable net

Unbilled revenues net

Prepaid or accrued income taxes

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Deferred revenues

Accrued retirement costs

Prepaid expenses and other operating activities

30331

247

5858

195

2512

Net cash provided by operating activities 51664 71585 23428

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Acquisitions of property and equipment 9886 15214 16129

Capitalization of software costs 14823 6797 11980

Proceeds from sales of businesses 4269 5000

Proceeds from sale of investment security
5000

Payments for business acquisitions net of cash acquired 6260 888 1323

Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment 135 662 395

Other investing activities
335 68 50

Net cash used in investing activities 31169 28036 19087

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from employee stock-based compensation plans 453 2036 736

Increase in short-term borrowings 39336 36544 16568

Payments on short-term borrowings 57622 48296 18051

Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests 274 610 144

Payments on long-term debt and capital leases 2400 2484 15515

Capitalized loan costs 4145 908
Shares used to settle withholding taxes under stock-based

compensation plans 1903 20 19

Net cash used in financing activities 26555 2830 7333

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 3290 8450 2173

Decrease Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2770 22269 10819

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 73124 50855 61674

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 70354 73124 50855

This financial
in formation should be read with the Compan/s audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and related risks included

in the Companys annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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Crawford Company Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

in thousands

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2009 2008

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 70354 73124

Accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful accounts of $11983
and $12341 respectively 139215 157430

Unbilled revenues at estimated billable amounts 93796 99115
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 22350 18688

Total Current Assets 325715 348357

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment 144254 140399
Less accumulated depreciation 102108 95785

Net Property and Equipment 42146 44614

Other Assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets arising from business acquisitions net

Capitalized software costs net

Deferred income tax assets

Other noncurrent assets

Total Other Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

123169

104409

50463

69504

27499

375044

742905

251897

111389

46296

67695

25000

502277

895248

This financial information should be read with the Companys audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and related risks included

in the Companys annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December31 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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in thousands

AS OF DECEMBER 31
2009 2008

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS INVESTMENT

Current Liabilities

Short-term borrowings
32 13366

Accounts payable
35449 40711

Accrued compensation and related costs 70871 77802

Self-insured risks 18475 17939

Income taxes payable
5675

Deferred income taxes 4262

Deferred rent 15777 15645

Other accrued liabilities 31541 41333

Deferred revenues 53664 59679

Mandatory company contributions due to pension plan 25000 10300

Current installments of long-term debt and capital leases 8189 2284

Total Current Liabilities 258998 288996

Noncurrent Liabilities

Long-term debt and capital leases less current installments 173061 181206

Deferred revenues 33524 42795

Self-insured risks 14824 18531

Accrued pension liabilities less current mandatory contributions 187507 169242

Other noncurrent liabilities
13705 14119

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 422621 425893

Shareholders Investment

Class common stock $1.00 par value 50000 shares authorized

27355 and 26523 shares issued and outstanding in 2009 and 2008 27355 26523

Class common stock $1.00 par value 50000 shares authorized

24697 shares issued and outstanding in 2009 and 2008 24697 24697

Additional paid-in capital
29570 26342

Retained earnings
140463 256146

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 165403 158157

Shareholders investment attributable to shareholders of Crawford Company 56682 175551

Noncontrolling interests 4604 4808

Total Shareholders Investment 61286 180359

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS INVESTMENT 742905 895248

This financial information should be read with the Cam panys audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and related risks included

in the Companys annual report on Form 10-K far the year ended December 31 2009 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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Crawford Company Condensed Consolidated Statements
of Shareholders Investment Noncontrolling Interests
and Comprehensive Income Loss

Accumulated

Additional Other Non- Total

Paid-In Retained Comprehensive controlling Shareholders

Capital Earnings Loss Interests Investment

This
financial information should be read with the Companys audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and related risks included

in the Companys annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiop

Common Stock

Class Class

Non-Voting Voting
in thousands

BalanceatJanuaryl2007 25741 24697 15468 207891 62646 4544 215695

Comprehensive income

Net income 16116 235 16351

Currency translation adjustments net 16382 411 16793

Accrued retirement liabilities

adjustment net of $5556 tax 9460 9460
Interest-rate swap net of $1410 tax 2463 2463

Total comprehensive income
40141

Impact of adoption of new accounting

standard for income tax guidance 214 214
Stock-based compensation costs 2929 2929
Shares issued in connection with

stock-based compensation plans net 197 539 736

Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests 144 144
Other equity transactions 121 118

BalanceatDecember3l2007 25935 24697 19057 223793 39267 5046 259261

Comprehensive loss

Net income 32259 624 32883

Currency translation adjustments net 37577 252 37829
Currency translations reclassed for

business disposal 344 344
Accrued retirement liabilities

adjustment net of $46253 tax 80639 80639
Interest-rate swap net of $376 tax 822 822

Total comprehensive loss 86751
Adoption of new accounting standard for

pension plans net of $48 and $277 tax 94 492 586

Stock-based compensation costs 5858 5858

Shares issued in connection with

stock-based compensation plans net 593 1443 2036
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests 610 610
Other equity transactions 16 21

BalanceatDecember3l2008 26523 24697 26342 256146 158157 4808 180359

Comprehensive loss

Net loss income 115683 314 115369
Currency translation adjustments net 17344 244 17100

Accrued retirement liabilities

adjustment net of $8682 tax 26521 26521
Interest-rate swaps net of $1147 tax 1931 1931

Total comprehensive loss 122859
Stock-based compensation costs 5510 5510
Shares issued in connection with

stock-based compensation plans net 832 2282 1450
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests 274 274

Balance at December 31 2009 27355 24697 29570 $140463 $165403 4604 61286
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Crawford Company Selected Financial Data

in thousands except per share amounts

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 2007 20062 2005

Revenues before Reimbursements 969868 1048582 975143 819522 771983

Reimbursements 78334 87334 76135 80858 82784

Total Revenues 1048202 1135916 1051278 900380 854767

Total Cost of Services 792325 854427 809375 719313 690773

U.S Property Casualty Operating Earningsm 18892 22614 7621 18176 21710

International Operating Earnings 33307 38893 24660 14451 11854

Broadspire Operating Loss Earnings 1602 3526 3141 21603 17521

Legal Settlement Administration

Operating Earnings 13130 10814 10727 21055 12979

Unallocated Corporate and Shared Costs 10714 6728 8919 116 3937

Net Corporate Interest Expense 14166 17622 17326 5753 5145

Stock Option Expense 914 861 1191 1220

Amortization of Customer-Relationship

Intangible Assets 5994 6025 6025 1124

Other Expenses Gains 4059 788 8824 27

Goodwill and Intangible Asset Impairment Charges 140945

Income Taxes 2618 11564 5396 9060 7059

Net Loss Income attributable to

CrawfordCompany 115683 32259 16116 15011 12881

Earnings Loss Per Share

Basic 2.23 0.63 0.32 0.30 0.26

Diluted 2.23 0.62 0.32 0.30 0.26

Current Assets 325715 348357 382752 382143 339218

Total Assets 742905 895248 902782 892988 574071

Current Liabilities 258998 288996 309484 282833 209020

Long-Term Debt Less Current Installments 173061 181206 183449 199044 45810

Total Debt 181282 196856 215313 229460 81139

Shareholders Investment Attributable to

Crawford Company Shareholders 56682 175551 254215 211151 179031

Total Capital 237964 372407 469528 440611 260170

Current Ratio 1.31 1.21 1.21 1.41 1.61

Total Debt-to-Total Capital 76.2% 52.9% 45.9% 52.1% 31.2%

Return on Average Shareholders Investment -99.6% 15.0% 6.9% 7.7% 6.9%

Cash Provided by Operating Activities 51664 71585 23428 52717 40761

Cash Used ri Investing Activities 31169 28036 19087 174606 12614

Cash Used in Provided by Financing Activities 26555 12830 17333 135786 19450

Shareholders Equity Per Share 1.09 3.43 5.02 4.19 3.65

Cash Dividends Per Share

Class and Class Common Stock 0.18 0.24

Weighted-Average Shares and Share-Equivalents

Basic 51830 50958 50523 49483 48930

Diluted 51830 52342 50659 49636 49347

This is segment financial measure representing earnings loss before net corporate interest expense stock option expense amortization

of customer-relationship intangible assets other gains and expense and income taxes

On October 312006 the Company acquired Broadspire Management Services Inc
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Community Involvement and Environmental Responsibility

For almost seven decades Crawford Company has taken an active role in supporting the

communities in which we operate either directly or through our many global clients At the corporate

level the local level and in Crawfords offices around the world we give back to these communities

through corporate gifts by encouraging our employees to give what they can and by volunteerism

Crawford Cares

Every individual in our Company is more than aware of the

difficult times facing the world today some experiencing

tough times directly or through family members friends

and co-workers It is more important to us than ever before

to stop and appreciate all that we have and while we take

stock of our good fortune we know that we have great

responsibility to give back to the communities in which we

live and work

In 2009 we decided to develop broader coordinated

expression of philanthropy uniting our individual efforts to

make an even bigger difference in the world On October

more than 1200 employees volunteered in our inaugural

Global Day of Service Some planned activities in their

communities while numerous others volunteered on their

own that day

As the photographs on the next page demonstrate our

service events were varied in scope number of employees

and beneficiaries One thing is certain from Houston to

Ho Chi Minh City the Global Day of Service by all accounts

was tremendous success and plans are already underway

for the next one on October 2010

Throughout the year our employees participate in local

causes such as blood and toy drives food bank donations

childrens and church-related activities walks for heart

health diabetes and cancer Crawford employees are

generous with their hands and hearts and truly make

difference in their communities and beyond

You can look no further than our Canadian offices as

examples of generosity Crawford Canada was able to

present more than C$80000 to its charitable cause Women

in Insurance Cancer Crusade WICC This years donation

increased by 50 percent over the previous years Since

January 2004 Crawford Canada has raised more than

C$330000 for WICC

Environmentally Responsible

At Crawford Company we believe it is our responsibility

to be an environmentally-friendly company and to support

and partner with organizations that benefit society and

contribute to environmental sustainability projects Our

Company seeks solutions to environmental problems by

adopting sound principles and best practices for sustainable

development From selecting vendors that offer ecologically-

friendly solutions to using fuel-efficient lower emission fleet

cars to implementing audio and video conferencing and

programs to reduce our power consumption in our data

centers We believe every effort makes difference Even our

photocopying process was scrutinized to mandate double-

sided printing while print audit software was installed in

some offices to control and avoid waste

In 2010 our Broadspire office in Plantation Florida office will

be relocating to Leadership in Energy and Environmental

Design LEED certified building in Sunrise Florida From

the 6000 square foot solar panel system that will be used

to power computers and copy machines to the massive

rainwater collection center used to collect water for the

low flow toilets and other non-potable needs this building

is showcase for green initiatives We will continue to seek

out similar LEED certified buildings when feasible for other

office consolidations and relocations

In addition to our internal efforts we have worked with

major insurance company clients to help them measure

their carbon footprints In one case we were asked to

measure the carbon footprint of an insurance policy

The sense of giving back to our community as well as doing

our part to protect our planet is very much part of the

Crawford culture
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Directors and Global Executive Management Team

Directors

CHARLES OGBURN

Chairman of the Board

Crawford Company

JEFFREY BOWMAN
President and Chief

Executive Officer

Crawford Company

JESSE CRAWFORD

President and Chief Executive

Officer Crawford Media Services

GEORGE BENSON

President College of

Charleston

JAMES EDWARDS

Retired Partner of

Arthur Andersen LLP

RUSSEL HONORE

Retired Lieutenant General

Army

HICKS LANIER

Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer

Oxford Industries Inc

CLARENCE RIDLEY

Chairman of the Board

Haverty Furniture Companies Inc

JENNER WOOD III

Chairman President and

Chief Executive Officer

SunTrust Bank Central Group

Global Executive

JEFFREY BOWMAN
President and Chief

Executive Officer

BRUCE SWAIN JR

Executive Vice President

Chief Financial Officer

ALLEN NELSON

Executive Vice President

General Counsel Corporate

Secretary Chief

Administrative Officer

Management Team

KEVIN FRAWLEY

Executive Vice President

Chief Executive Officer

Property Casualty Americas

DAVID ISAAC

Executive Vice President

Chief Executive Officer

The Garden City Group Inc

KENNETH MARTINO
Executive Vice President

Chief Executive Officer

Broadspire

IAN MURESS
Executive Vice President

Chief Executive Officer

Property Casualty

EMEA Asia-Pacific

GLENN GIBSON

Executive Vice President

Chief Strategy Officer

MICHAEL REEVES

Executive Vice President

Global Markets

BRIAN FLYNN

Senior Vice President

Global Chief Information Officer

Based in Atlanta Georgia Crawford Company www.crawfordandcompany.com is the worlds largest

independent provider of claims management solutions to the risk management and insurance industry as well as

self-insured entities with global network of more than 700 locations in 63 countries The Crawford System of

Claims SolutionssM offers comprehensive integrated claims services business process outsourcing and consulting

services for major product lines including property and casualty claims management workers compensation

claims and medical management and legal settlement administration The Companys shares are traded on

the NYSE under the symbols CRDA and CRDB
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